
FINANCE, PERSONNEL, & RULES COMMITTEE 

August 13, 2024 

9:00AM 

Meeting will be at the conference room at the Mason County Airport Terminal 

A. Roll Call 

B. Approval of the Agenda 

C. Approval of the Minutes 

D. Reading of Correspondence 

E. Limited Public Comments 

F. Committee Work 

1. Consideration of a request to hire a Web Site Consultant with funds from the Equipment 
Replacement Fund 

2. Consideration of an Email Retention Policy 

3. Consideration of a Network Hardware and Software Policy 

4. Consideration of a Network Password Policy 

5. Consideration of 2025 Senior Services budgets 

6. Consideration of Finance, Personnel, & Rules Committee Transfers 

7. Consideration of 2023 Audit 

8. Consideration of CHILL Grant Agreement 

G. Limited Public Comments 

H. Any other business 

I. Adjournment 



Finance, PersonneJ, & Ru.Jes C<O:ti~lttce Meetlng 
July 30,-2024 .. 

Mason County Airport 

Commissioner Andersen called the Finance, Personnel, & Rules Committee Meeti.ng (FPI~i),to order•at 9:00;a.m.,in-:fue 
conference room of the Mason County Airport. Members present: Commi$sioners: Andersen, Bac::on,.and:Hull..A\,sent.:None. 
Others: prese.nt: Deputy Administrator Szczypka, Administrator Kni2:a~ky,, q.~d <;;Ierl( I<elly~ Puplic: Several m~m~·ets 9(-the 
public were pl'esent. 

Motion by Bacon and seconded by Hull to approve the agenda. Motion carried. 

Motion by Hull and seconded by Bacon to approve the,minutes of the July 16'. 2024, meeting with the noted .changes:-ih1senio'f 
services requests. Motion carried. · 

Correspondence: Chair Andersen read an email received from Annette Quillan regarding her request for anew seniorcitizen?s 
building. 
' 
Limited Public Comment: Ruth Storvik wished to clarify-her request.regarding.the heecl'.'fot fundingstatirigJhatth~ f\lnciJng.is 
to be used for seniors who are caregivers to younger people. ·· · 

Committee Work: 

Consideration oh request to purchase rndnr from the Eguipn1ent.ReplnccmenfFund: Reoommendation·comiqg:irom­
PubUc·Safety and Courts Committee to purchase three Stalker Radar Systems at a cost of'!8,72L00;.fundsto come.from 
Eq1Jipmeht Replacement. Motion by Bacon and seconded b)' Hull :to send the copsi~eratio1rof·i1, reques_tto:,pµrchase-ntdar 
equipme!}tfrom the EquipmentReplacement Fund to the fuH Board at a ~ost'of$8,12l.00~Motioh carried .. 

Consideration ofn request to purchase airport cnmeras.outofthc Equipment Replacement Fund: Recommendation 
coming from-the Building, Planning, Drains and Airport Committee to approvethe:Br.oQks',Security' qµotefor$8,650.00- for 
cameras at-the Mason County Airport. Motion by Hull and seconded by Bacon to send the consideration of:airequestto 
purchase airpo11 camenis out of the Equipment Replacement Fund to the full l3oard~ Motio.n carried. 

Considcrntion of 2025 Senior Services budgets: Discussion ensued regarding the requests forfuncling for the 2025 Senior 
Services. · Additional information is still required from the following entities: 

Scottville Senior Center- complete reporting to include fund balance 
Free Soil Center- need to hire an accountant and pl'ovide documentation 
Tallman Center-quotes for the requested carpet 
Lakeshore Food Club- needs more detail for the senior populati.on. Noted was.the Veteran's,services,program offers assistance 

to Vets. County needs legal opinion forthis facility. 
Snug Harbor-need to get with Area Agency on Aging and investigate additional funding requests already available. County 

needs legal-opinion for this facility. C 

BJue Hat Ministries~further information needed, including the County.n~eding a legat.op,iniQ_nJor tl;H~ fa.ciU~. 

Considcrntion of 2024 budget- nmcndmcnts: Standard mid-year budget amendments that are.necessary. Motion by Alld¢r$¢p 
and seconded by Bacon to send the Consideration of the 2024 budgetamendments to -the fun Board~ Motlon,.carried. 

Limited-Public Comment: Andrea Morrell, Ludington Senior Center's· new director, ln.q~ired as to whom·to:come to regarding 
questions, concerns, and policies related to the County and was. informed to speak.directly with .Administrator Knizao~y; 

Any other business: None. 

Meeting adjourned at 9:59 am. 

9/1tttf 14-t~ --
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Revize Michigan Clients!  
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Adrian, Ml 

Antrim County, Ml 

Benzie County, Ml 

Birmingham, Ml 

Delta Township, Ml 

East Bay Township, Ml 

East Jordan, Ml 

Frankfort, Ml 

Gladwin, Ml 

Gogebic County, Ml 

Grandville, Ml 

Kalkaska County, Ml 

Leelanau County, Ml 

Petoskey, MI 

South Lyon, MI 

Troy, Ml 

And Over 200 More! 

-rev1ze. 
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www.adriancity .com 

www.antrimcounty .org 

www.benzieco.net 

www.bhamgov.org 

www.deltami.gov 

www.eastbaytwp.org 

www.eastjordancity .org 

www.frankfortmich.com 

www.g ladwin.org 

www.gogebiccounty mi.gov 

www.cityofg randville.com 

www.kalkaskacounty .net 

Coming Summer 2024 

www. petoskey.us 

www.southl yonmi.org 

www.troymi.gov 
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Revize Clients! 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

  

  

Colleen Roberts, New Bern, NC – Public Information Officer 

“Revize is a beehive of creative thinkers who are interested in putting 

your organization's communication objectives front and center. 

They're extremely easy to work with and they're engaged every step 

of the way. Before, during and after Revize did our site build, they 

were super responsive any time we had questions or concerns. & 

they're always open to new ideas too. We couldn't be happier!” 

 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Arcadia, CA www.arcadiaca.gov 

Clark County, NV www .cla rkcou ntynv .gov 

Des Moines, IA www.dsm.city 

Eagle County, CO www.eag lecounty .us 

Glencoe, IL www.villageofq lencoe.org 

Largo, FL www.larqo.com 

Myrtle Beach, SC www.cityofmy rtlebeach.com 

New Bern, NC www.newbern-nc.org 

Olympia, WA www.ol ym p iawa.gov 

St. Petersburg, FL www.stpete.org 

Troy, Ml www.troymi.gov 

And Many More! 
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Dear Mason County Website Selection Committee 

 

Thank you for considering Revize as your web development partner. For nearly two 

decades, Revize has been a leader in providing high-quality, government-compliant 

web solutions. A myriad of industry awards and hundreds of satisfied clients stand as 

a testament to the quality and value of our work. 

 

Visitors are drawn to websites that are appealing yet functional, user-friendly with a 

plethora of services, and accessible on a wide range of devices. A Revize website will 

allow your residents and businesses to easily fill out and submit documents, review 

and pay bills and taxes, perform searches to answer frequently asked questions and 

perform a suite of other tasks that would otherwise require staff assistance.  What’s 

more, a Revize website will enable you to increase staff productivity and decrease 

costs by reducing off-line departmental operations.  

 

• City of Largo, FL   www.largo.com    

• New Bern, NC   www.newbern-nc.org  

• City of Des Moines, IA  www.dsm.city   

• And Many More! 

 

We will work closely with you to design and develop a dynamic, functional and easy 

to navigate website that will perfectly fit your community. Then we empower you to 

control your digital presence with the industry’s best administrative management 

applications. Revize training ensures that your team has the skills needed to expertly 

update and manage website content and delivery.  

Please contact me if you have any questions at all.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Thomas J. Jean - Project Manager 

248-269-9263 x8035 - Thomas.Jean@revize.com 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Some of our great clients in include: 

-rev1ze. 
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Corporate Information 
 

Thank you for considering Revize Software Systems for your new website project. 

We understand the importance of this undertaking and know how motivated your 

government/community is to selecting the right vendor; one who will work with you 

through all the steps required to build the perfect website featuring a plethora of 

high quality online services that your constituents will want to use regularly. 

In more than two decades of working with government leaders, as well as through 

nationwide surveys, we have learned that the key to choosing a website vendor is 

finding the right balance between the total cost of the solution and the quality of the 

design, online apps and user functionality. In simpler terms, you need a solution that 

works for you and serves your constituents. 

 

With approximately 3,000 government websites launched nationwide, Revize 

Software Systems is one of the industry’s leading providers. We credit our rapid 

growth to our 20-year track record of building award-winning government websites 

and content management systems. When you work with Revize, you’re not just a 

client, you become part of the Revize family and will receive the service and support 

you need and expect!  We are among the most highly respected government website 

experts in the United States and we proudly stand by our work.  

 

Revize has been a pioneer in implementing the latest trends in design by using 

Responsive Web Design (RWD). This technology ensures that site visitors have an 

optimal viewing experience — easy reading and navigation with a minimum of 

resizing, panning, and scrolling — across a wide range of devices, from desktop 

monitors to mobile phones.  RWD provides flexible and fluid website layouts that 

adapt to almost any screen. When you implement a dynamic new website powered 

by Revize, you will not only get an outstanding look, layout and navigation, but you 

also receive 24/7 access to our Government Communication Center for residents, 

business and visitors.  

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

About Us 

Our Innovative Responsive Web Design (RWD) and Web Apps 
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• Public Service Request App 

• Calendar of Events 

• E-Notification Modules 

• On-Line Payment Portal 

• Facilities Reservations 

• News Center with Facebook/Twitter 

Integration 

• Emergency Alerts 

• Online Forms / Survey Tools 

• E-Newsletter Applications 

• Job Posting and Tracking Module 

• Public Records Request Tracker

 

Revize is renowned as a leader in providing practical, high-value, easy to use content 

management software Government CMS. This simple-to-use yet powerful solution 

enables clients to manage their online presence with high functionality and style. 

With applications such as an online document center, public service request app, 

public records request tracker, agendas and minutes, frequently asked questions and 

more, Revize ensures that our clients have the tools they need to make information 

and services available for website users at the click of a mouse. 

 

Revize addresses time concerns by completing websites in considerably less time 

than our competitors. And because our software is so easy to use, we are also able to 

effectively train our clients in less than half the time it takes our competitors. Our 

training program is customized based on each client’s needs, and we provide hands 

on training the way you want it - either onsite or off site through web conferencing 

tools. We pride ourselves on the skills of our support staff, who are responsive, 

knowledgeable and helpful. Our online support portal is available 

24X7X365 for issue tracking and management. We also provide 

phone and email support during regular business hours. 

 

 

Did you know? 

Our technical support staff are trained 

developers. When you call for tech support, 

you’ll be speaking to staff with direct 

knowledge of development! 

 
 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Here you will find the communication tools you need such as: 

Our Award-Winning Government CMS 

Quick Deployment, Personalized Training and Support 
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Company Profile 
 
FOUNDED  

1995 

 

HEADQUARTERS 

150 Kirts Blvd. 

Troy, MI 48084 

PHONE  

248-269-9263 

 

WEB SITE 

www.revize.com

Revize Software Systems was founded in June, 1995 as a "new media" development 

company specializing in the creation of interactive web design, multimedia content 

delivered on CD-ROM, and video production. Since then, Revize has made an 

unsurpassed name for itself in the web/internet industry as THE master of 

government website design, which remains our specialty. We now boast more than 

3,000 websites launched in North America and have created acclaimed website 

designs for hundreds of municipalities and counties, as well as government 

departments and agencies. In September, 1996 as the Internet was becoming a 

world-wide reality, Revize began developing a Web Content Management System 

(CMS) for the government market to enable non-technical contributors to quickly 

and easily update content on their websites. The result was the creation of our state-

of-the-art Revize Government CMS. Our mission has always been to enhance the 

communications of government organizations nationwide with their varied and 

valued audiences. This is based on our vision statement, which reads:  

 

Focused exclusively on creative web design, government web apps and content 

management technologies, Revize continues to invest in its technology, continually 

adding new capabilities and features that manifest our vision. While many 

municipalities choose Revize to develop and cost-effectively manage their 

website content, clients also use Revize as an information-

sharing platform. Our suite of Revize Government web-

based solutions has proven valuable as a powerful 

technology that empowers clients to build and maintain 

sophisticated web sites, all while using the Internet and 

internal Intranets/Extranets to acquire, analyze, process, 

summarize and share information – ensuring that the right people 

always have the right information at the right time. 

 

 

Did you know? 

Revize has won national awards for our 

websites! 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 
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Revize Project Team 
 
Revize understands the importance of having a talented and experienced staff. We 

are proud of our well-respected team of top notch experts in the field of government 

website design, development, analysis, content management, training and support. 

From the first creative concepts through to the design phases, and from site launch 

to training of personnel and continued support of your website project, we have the 

right group of seasoned professionals to work with you through the website process 

and beyond.  We are pleased to introduce them: 

 

• Thomas Jean: Program Manager  

• Alison Bieber:  Project Manager  

• Alex Parent:  Creative Arts Director/Web Designer 

• Samir Alley:  Project Delivery Manager 

• Denise Brazier: Revize CMS Trainer 

• Jamie Phy:  Revize CMS Integrator/Backend Developer  

• Richard Opiniano:  HTML Developer  

• Joseph Nagrant:  VP Sales/Marketing  

• Derek Ortiz:  Chief Technology Officer 

• Akshaya Ray: Chief Cloud Architect 

• Many More! 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 
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As a project manager, Thomas has managed many award-winning website projects 

for our clients, including Des Moines, IA – Arcadia, CA – Largo, FL - Oswego County, 

NY – Dupage County, IL - Eagle County, CO - Kentwood, MI! Thomas has brought to 

Revize a very special skill set. Not only does he manage some of our highest priority 

projects, he is also a genuine subject matter expert when it comes to the inner 

workings of government. As a former Township Trustee in a Michigan Township, he 

knows the advantages that come with modernizing the way government does 

business. With his unique background and education from one of the nation’s top 

universities, Thomas is uniquely experienced to give an honest and accurate 

assessment of your community’s website needs. 

Alison possesses an innate passion for innovation. Following a decade immersed in 

the Opera world, she shifted her focus towards entrepreneurship and technology. 

Playing a pivotal role in establishing the foundations of various initiatives within the 

non-profit and small business sectors, Alison brings a diverse and proven track 

record to the table.

Samir has more than a decade of experience in managing web site design projects. 

He has deployed hundreds of municipal websites and has a solid background in web 

design and the latest web technologies. Formerly with Google, Samir is a leader 

equipped to handle any kind of sophisticated web project. He is an exceptional 

communicator with an innate listening skill that gives him the ability to understand 

and deploy a client’s unspoken needs. Samir’s blend of creativity, proficiency, and 

technical knowledge is unsurpassed in the industry.   

Denise is an educator by nature. Her 20 years of experience in the public school 

system has made her a master of engaging participants during training. She 

effortlessly builds effective relationships with all clients. Denise has served as 

Advisory Counselor, Coordinator, Publicity Director, and Project Manager for several 

organizations in the education, non-profit and public sectors. She has been 

appointed to the state’s quality committee evaluating organizational policies and 

procedures for recognition. 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Thomas Jean - Program Manager 

Alison Bieber - Project Manager 

Samir Alley - Project Delivery Manager/Creative 

Denise Brazier - Lead Trainer 
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References 

Craig Kelly, Public Information Officer 

Office: (972) 516-6016 

Email: craig.kelly@wylietexas.gov  

Website: www.ci.wylie.tx.us  

 

Joshua Linn, Website Administrator 

Office: (360) 570-3782 

Email: JLinn@ci.olympia.wa.us  

Website: www.olympiawa.gov  

 

Angela Salyer, Deputy Clerk 

Office: (217) 479-3542 

Email: asalyer@jacksonvilleil.gov  

Website: www.jacksonvilleil.gov  

Sarah Bek, Assistant to the City Manager 

Office: (231) 347-2500 

Email: sbek@petoskey.us   

Website: www.petoskey.us   

 

  

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Client: City of Wylie, TX 

Client: City of Olympia, WA 

Client: City of Jacksonville, IL 

Client: City of Petoskey, Ml 
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Proposed Approach 
 

 

Revize:  

• Revize will conduct an in-person or virtual kickoff meeting with the client. (Sample schedule to 

be provided by Revize.) .  

• Sample sitemap provided by Revize and site mapping process overview 

• After meeting, Revize will provide a detailed project plan that assesses key findings and details.  

• Revize will facilitate a follow-up meeting to review project plan and custom functionality needs 

via web/phone conference 

 

 

Revize:  

• Within (5) five weeks of the kick-off meeting Revize will provide (1) one custom homepage 

mockup and up to (3) three basic interior page mockups.  

• Revize will provide a unique department microsite mockups.  

• As deemed appropriate by Revize, additional wireframes may be delivered to provide a view of 

custom functionality or other areas of the site that are of particular importance. (Intended to 

focus development efforts later in the project.)   

• Revize will provide revisions to each mockup based on the feedback received from the client.  

• There will be no limit to the amount of revisions Revize will provide to each mockup. 

• Web/phone meetings may be necessary between each round of mockups/wireframes

 

Revize:   

 

• Mockups will be developed into HTML pages making them clickable and resizable.  

• Following HTML Development, Revize will add in the Revize Content Management System which 

makes the website easily editable.  

• Integration of any 3rd party software will begin during this phase 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Project Phase Deliverables: 

Phase 1: Kickoff Meeting and Discovery (project planning/analysis) 

Phase 2: Design Mockups/Wireframes 

Phase 3 and 4: Revize Template Development & CMS Integration 

-rev1ze. 
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Revize:  

 

• Revize will review all developed assets for functionality. The development team will review 

functionality, style sheet, and formatting checking for errors and verifying that site matches 

approved design mockups.  

• Any custom needs identified earlier in the project will be executed during this phase and tested 

for quality assurance.  

• ADA programming and beta site review with the client 

 

Revize:  

 

• Revize will deliver a suggested sitemap, in Excel format, for the website prior to this phase 

(Unless the client has chosen to create their sitemap). Client and Revize will review and provide 

updated versions for approval. Pages will be built out one-by-one according to this previously 

approved sitemap architecture. Pages that are not linked in the sitemap will be created as blank 

pages.

• Migration includes up to all webpages, documents, and new content up to the relevant amount 

on the current website.

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Project Phase Deliverables: 

Phase 5: Quality Assurance, Accessibility, & Custom Development 

Phase 6: Site Map Development and Content Migration 

-rev1ze. 
The Government Website Experts 

13 of 25 



  

 
  

 

Revize:  

 

• Revize will conduct a review of the beta site followed by a core team training (smaller group). 

• After the beta site review, the client may request tweaks to the functionality of the website.  

• Revize will conduct a separate full staff training for all CMS editors virtually.  

• The training schedule will include editor training, and administrator training with a question and 

answer period. 

• Results of the user experience testing will be provided to the client for review.   

• Any change requests will be reviewed by Revize for feasibility and scope conformance before 

they are completed.  

• Revize will conduct meeting with client IT department before go live to discuss the process and 

establish pre-go-live checklist (e.g. SSL certificates, redirects, subdomains, etc.) 

• Retraining is available anytime after Go Live. 

 

 

Did you know? 

Revize will provide a project portal that allows you to check in on the status of your 

project at any time! 

 
 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Project Phase Deliverables: 

Phase 7 & 8: Core Content Editing Training, Beta Site Review, Full Staff 

Training, Usability Analysis, and Go Live 
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Timeline 
Phase Duration 

 
 

Did you know? 

The project planning process is designed 

to fit your needs. We will adapt our 

timeline if your schedule requires.  

 

 

 

 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 

Phase 1: Kickoff Meeting and Discovery/Project Planning 

Phase 2: Design Mockups/Wireframes 

Phase 3: HTML Template Development 

Phase 4: CMS Integration & Module Setup 

Phase 5: Custom Development & Quality Assurance Testing 

(Ongoing) 

Phase 6: Sitemap Development/ Content Migration 

Phase 7: Content Editor and Web Administrator Training 

on your new website, final content changes and Go Live 

preparation 

Phase 8: Go Live 

Go-Live (Average) 

-rev1z 
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1 Week 

6 Weeks 

2-4 Weeks 

5-6 Weeks 

3 Weeks 

(Overlaps with Remaining Phases) 

5-6 Weeks 

1-3 Weeks 

1 Week 

21-27 Weeks 
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Training Your Staff (in-person or web based training) 

Once your website is ready for you to begin editing, you will be able to easily revise 

your content as often as needed. Revize will train you on how to operate the 

Administrative and Content Editor functions so you can manage your website. We 

typically provide this training on-site; however, we can also provide on-line training 

for your staff if you prefer. For your convenience, training materials can be 

downloaded from the Revize website. After training, our friendly and responsive 

support staff is always here to answer questions and provide training refreshers as 

needed.  

 

Standard Training Agendas 

Basic Administrator Training (How to) 

• Sign-in 

• Create users  

• Assign roles 

• Set page level permissions 

• Set section level permissions 

• Configure and set up workflow approval process 

 

Content Editor Training (How to) 

• Sign-in  

• Edit page content 

• Copy/paste content or add new 

• Create a file link 

• Create a link to another web page or external web site 

• Create a new page and link to it 

• Insert/update a picture 

• Insert/update a table 

• Spell check 

• Save and Save as Draft 

• History of the page content (content archive) 

• Create a survey form or any other type of online web form 

• Create navigation pages (top/left menus) 

• Create new calendar and create/edit calendar events 

• Edit metadata 

 

Advanced Administrator Training (How to) 

• Run back-end reports 

• Run Google Analytics reports 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 
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Training on use of specific Modules included, such as 

• Emergency Notification Center 

• Public Service Request App 

• Web Calendar 

• E-Notify 

• Quick Links 

• Document Center 

• Form Center 

• News Center 

• Frequently Asked Questions 

• Request Center 

• Bid Posting Center 

• Job Posting Application 

• RSS 

• And more…. 

Revize Maintenance Covers 

• 4 CMS upgrades per year 

• Software and modules upgrades (Automatic Install) 

• Server Hardware & OS upgrades 

• Immediate bug fixes/patches 

• Round the clock server monitoring 

• Data Center network upgrades 

• Security and antivirus software upgrades 

• Firewall and router upgrades 

• Bandwidth and network 

infrastructure upgrades 

• Remote backup of all 

website assets 

• Tape backup of all 

website assets 

• Quarterly newsletters 

on major feature 

updates 

• Regular Webinars on 

CMS features and 

usage 

 

 

Did you know? 

Revize has launched hundreds of municipal and county websites large and small! 

 
 

Revize Government Websites Proposal 
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Revize Cloud Hosting, Disaster Recovery, & Security 

 

Resilient Hosting: 

 
Revize uses Amazon Web Services (AWS) Hosting Infrastructure that is offered in 

multiple Regions in the United States and around the World. Each Region is a 

separate geographic area completely isolated one from another. AWS Regions are 

connected to multiple Internet Service Providers (ISPs) and to a private global 

network backbone to offer lower cost and more consistent cross-region network 

latency when compared with the public internet 

 

A region has multiple, isolated locations known as Availability Zones (AZ). 

Availability Zones are inter-connected through low-latency links. A Virtual Private 

Center (VPC) spans across multiple availability zones. 

 
Revize Web Sites are hosted on a Virtual Machine running Windows Server operating 

system with Internet Information Service (IIS) as a Web Server. Virtual Machine is an 

EC2 instance in AWS terms is hosted inside a VPC in an availability zone of a pre-
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selected region. A number of EC2 are provisioned in multiple locations across the 

United States inside a Virtual Private Center isolated from the Internet and the rest of 

Amazon Web Services infrastructure to offer faster access to the end-users and to 

minimize the impact of an outage, whether of a specific EC2 instance, an availability 

zone or an entire AWS region.  

 

Disaster Recovery: 

 
Windows Web Server virtual disk or EC2 Elastic Block Storage (EBS) is backed up on 

evry night at 10 PM EST. Additionally, the snapshots or virtual disk backups are 

subsequently automatically copied between regions to enable cross-region recovery 

capabilities. 

 

Should a Web Site hosted by Revize and monitored in automated fashion become 

unavailable, another EC2 instance can be restarted. When that proves insufficient 

EC2 instance will be reprovisioned in the same availability zone, a different 

availability zone, or, in a different region using the latest snapshot in the matter of a 

couple of minutes. 

 

The incoming request, from the Internet traffic, is bound to a static IP address or 

Elastic IP in AWS terms that leverages NAT to forward traffic to a running EC2 

instance private IP address. In the case of an EC2 instance re-provisioned in the same 

region, whether in the same or a different availability zone, Elastic IP is re-assigned to 

the new EC2 instance. 

 

Elastic IP is represented to the public internet using CName or A-Host domain name 

services entry. In case of an EC2 instance or an availability zone failure, no 

adjustment to domain name service is required. In the case of a regional, wide-spread 

AWS outage, an EC2 instance is reprovisioned in a different region, re-using the 

latest snapshot preserving the content as of the last automated backup. However, an 

Elastic IP is specific to the region and, therefore a change to CName or A-Host 

configuration is required to point to the disaster recovery regional Elastic IP. 
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Security 
 

Revize takes website security very seriously and we provide our clients with the very 

best website protection protocols. Our data centers are located on secure premises 

equipped with card-reader access, security cameras and guards on duty 24/7 to 

ensure the physical protection from unauthorized entry.  

 

Revize/AWS complies with SOC 1/ISAE 3402, SOC 2, SOC 3, FISMA, DIACAP, and 

FedRAMP, PCI DSS Level 1, ISO 9001, ISO 27001, ISO 27017, ISO 27018 and other 

programs. Revize is responsible for securing the content, access to the content on 

the web server, to snapshots, configurations and infrastructure as a whole. 

 

Our web and network administrators monitor network activity 

24-hours-a-day to ensure system integrity and protection 

against threats such as Denial of Service (DoS) attacks that 

could corrupt your website or block user access. Maintaining 

the secure configuration of our web servers is managed 

through application of appropriate patches and upgrades, 

security testing, vulnerability scans, monitoring of logs, and 

backups of data and OS. 
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Security Controls, SSL, and Active Directory (LDAP) 

• Anti-malware software such as antivirus software, anti-spyware software, and 

rootkit detectors 

• Shield Plus Security Bundle to prevent DDoS attacks 

• Intrusion detection and prevention software (such as file integrity checking 

software) 

• Host-based firewalls to protect CMS servers from unauthorized access 

• Patch management software  

• Security and Authentication Gateways 

• Content filters, which can monitor traffic to and from the web server for 

potentially sensitive or inappropriate data and take action as necessary  

• HTTPS (Hypertext Transfer Protocol over SSL), which provides encryption and 

decryption for user page requests that require more secure online transactions  

• SSL (Secure Socket Layer) provides an encrypted end-to-end data path 

between a client and a server regardless of platform or OS  

• If you have an existing SSL Certificate we can transfer it to the new website. 

Otherwise, if included, we will install a new SSL Certificate upon go live.  

• Active Directory (LDAP) is compatable with the Revize CMS. It can be set up 

in a variety of configurations. As part of the process we will work with you to 

determine which configuration will best meet your needs.  

 

Application Security Authentication 

• Role-Based Security: Role-based authentication to add individual user 

accounts and assign them system roles like Editor, Developer, Administrator, 

Workflow Approvers, etc., or department roles and empower the department 

to assign specific roles to users.  

• Permission-Based Security: Ability to set up Content Owners/Editors and 

restrict which site pages they are authorized to update 

▪ Global & Department Workflow Management: 

Create workflow management and approval 

processes where authorized department 

personnel become approvers 

 

  

Did you know? 

Revize will host your website and CMS in 

at least two completely separate 

geographic locations!  
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Revize Support 
Revize provides tech support through direct calls to our office in Troy, MI. We also 

have an online support portal which allows our clients to submit tickets with goal 

response times ranging from 15 minutes to 24 hours depending 

on the priority level set by our clients. Our office is staffed 

sufficiently to provide tech support to all of our clients 

nationwide.  

• 8 AM – 8PM EST Phone Support (Monday thru Friday) 

• 24X7X365 Portal and Email Support 

• Staff provides assistance and answers all questions  

• Dedicated support staff 

• New/existing user training 

• Free Training Refreshers 

• Video tutorials and online training manual 

• Automatic integration of enhancements 

• E-Newsletter Module support  

• Automatic upgrade of CMS modules, such as 

Calendar, Document Center, etc. 

• Four major CMS upgrades per year 

• Software and modules upgrades (automatic install) 

• Server hardware and OS upgrades 

• Immediate bug fixes/patches 

• Round the clock server monitoring 

• Data Center Network upgrades 

• Security and antivirus software upgrades 

• Firewall and router upgrades 

• Bandwidth and network infrastructure upgrades 

• Remote backup of all website assets 

• Tape backup of all website assets 

• Quarterly Newsletters on major feature updates 

• Regular webinars on CMS features and usage 

 

Did you know? 

Revize updates your Content Management System an average of 4 times per year! 
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Revize Quote 
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Included Features 

 
The Following Applications & Features will be integrated into Your Website:  

Citizen’s Communication Center Apps 

• Notification Center with 

Text/Email Alerts 

• Bid Posting 

• Document Center 

• Email Notify 

• FAQs 

• Job Posting 

• Multi-use Business Directory 

• News Center with 

Facebook/Twitter Integration 

• Online Forms 

• Photo Gallery 

• Quick Link Buttons 

• Revize Web Calendar 

• “Share This” Social Media Flyout 

App  

• Sliding Feature Bar 

• Language Translator 

 

Citizen’s Engagement Center Apps 

• Citizen Request Center with 

Captcha 

• Citizen Connect (Community 

Blog) 

• Curated “Smart Search”  

• Online Interactive Forms with 

Bookables (Public Records 

Request App) 

• Online Bill Pay  

• Public Service Request System 

• RSS Feed 

 

Staff Productivity Apps 

• Agenda Posting Center 

• Job Posting App 

• Image Manager 

• iCal Integration 

• Intranet 

• Link Checker 

• Menu Manager 

• Online Form Builder 

• Staff Directory 

• Website Content Archiving 

• Website Content Scheduling 

 

Site Administration and Security 

Features 

• Audit Trail 

• Auto Site Map Generator 

• History Log 

• URL Redirect Setup 

• Roles and Permission-based 

Security Mode 

• Secure Site Gateway 

• Unique Login/Password for each 

Content Editor 

• Web Statistics and Analytics 

• Workflows by Department 
 

 

Mobile Device and Accessibility 

Features 

• Font Size Adjustment 

• Alt-Tags 

• Responsive Website Design 

(RWD)  
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Thank you 
For Considering Revize 

 
 
 

Prepared by Thomas J. Jean  

150 Kirts Blvd. Troy, MI 48084 

Ph: 248-269-9263 x8035 Fax: 866-346-8880  

www.revize.com  
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Overview 

County of Mason 
Email Retention Policy 

Email is a tool that is used to exchange messages and documents using telecommunications 
equipment and computers. Email messages are public records if they document a public 
employee's official duties. 

Purpose 

Email records are used to support a variety of official communications and processes. There is not 
a single retention period for email. Each message must be evaluated for its content and purpose 
to determine the length of time it must be retained in accordance with the appropriate Record 
Retention and Disposal Schedule. Just like paper records, email messages may be evidence of 
decisions and activities. Both senders and recipients of email messages must determine if a 
particular message should be retained to document their role in agency activities. 

Scope 

The County of Mason Email Retention Policy applies to all county employees who utilize county 
owned email for the purpose of conducting business on behalf of the county. 

Policy 

Michigan law requires that all public records, regardless of format, be listed on an approved 
Record Retention and Disposal Schedule. Each department must abide by their departmental 
Record Retention and Disposal Schedule as provided by the State of Michigan. 

https://www.michigan.gov/dtmb/services/recordsmanagement/schedules/gslocal 

Approved by MCCNAB - 07/29/2024 

Approved by Board of Commissioners xx/xx/xxxx 



County of Mason 
Network Hardware and Software Policy 

Overview 

Asset management is the process of receiving, documenting and eventually disposing of equipment. 

It is critically important to maintain up to date inventory and asset controls to ensure computer 

equipment locations and dispositions are well known. Lost or stolen equipment often contains 

sensitive data. Proper asset management procedures and protocols provide documentation that aid 

in recovery, replacement, investigative and insurance activities. 

Purpose 

The purpose of the County of Mason Asset Management Policy is to establish the rules for the control 

of hardware, software application and information used by the County of Mason. 

Scope 

The County of Mason Asset Management Policy applies to individuals who are responsible for the 

use, purchase, implementation and/or maintenance of County of Mason Information Resources. 

Policy 

Hardware, Software, Applications and Data 

All network hardware, software and applications must be approved by MCCNAB. 

Software used by County of Mason employees, contractors and/or other approved third 

parties working on behalf of the County of Mason, must be properly licensed. 

Any question about if your software/application is network related, please contact the Mason 

County Director of Information Technology. 

The use of cloud computing applications must be done in compliance with all laws and 

regulations concerning the information involved, e.g. personally identifiable information {PII), 

protected health information (PHI), financial data, etc. 

Hardware, network wide software inventories must be maintained continually and reconciled 

no less than annually by the Director of Information Technology. Individual departmental program 

application inventories shall be maintained continually by each elected official/department head. 

All County of Mason technology assets must be formally classified with ownership assigned. 

Maintenance and repair of organizational assets must be performed and logged in a timely 

manner and managed by County of Mason Director of Information Technology. 

Upon termination of employment, contract or agreement, all County of Mason technology 

assets must be returned to County of Mason Director of Information Technology. 

Confidential data should only be stored on devices that are encrypted. 

All decommissioned technology assets must be stored in a secure area prior to destruction. 

All decommissioned technology assets must be tracked and documented by the Director of 



County of Mason 
Network Hardware and Software Policy 

Information Technology. 

Personnel found to have violated this policy may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 

termination of employment and related civil or criminal penalties. 

Any vendor, consultant or contractor found to have violated this policy may be subject to sanctions up 

to and including removal of access rights, termination of contract(s) and related civil or criminal 

penalties. 

Approved by MCCNAB-07 /29/2024 

Approved by Board of Commissioners xx/xx/xxxx 



County of Mason 
Network Password Policy 

Overview 
Passwords are an important aspect of computer security. They are the front line of protection for 
user accounts. A poorly chosen password may result in the compromise of the County of Mason's 
entire computer network. 

As such, all County of Mason employees (including contractors and vendors with access 
to County of Mason computer systems) are responsible for taking the appropriate steps, 
as outlined below, to select and secure their passwords. 

Purpose 
The purpose of the network password policy is to establish a standard for the creation 
of strong passwords, the protection of those passwords, and the frequency of change. 

Policy 
Passwords for County of Mason network access must be implemented according to the 
following guidelines: 

• Passwords must be changed every 60 days. 
• Passwords must adhere to a minimum length of 14 characters. 
• Passwords must contain a upper case, lower case, numbers and special characters. 
• Passwords must not be easily tied back to the account owner such as: 

Username, social security number, nickname, relative's names, birth date, etc. 
• Passwords cannot be reused for 1 year. 
• The same password must not be used for multiple accounts. 
• Passwords must not be shared with anyone. All passwords are to be treated as 

sensitive, confidential County of Mason information. 
• Stored passwords must be encrypted. 
• Passwords must not be inserted in e-mail messages or other forms of electronic 

communication. 
• Passwords must not be revealed over the phone to anyone. 
• Passwords must not be revealed on questionnaires or security forms. 
• Users must not hint at the format of a password (for example, "my family name"). 
• County of Mason passwords must not be shared with anyone, including co-workers, 

managers, or family members. 
• Passwords must not be written down and stored anywhere in any office. Passwords 

must not be stored in a file on a computer system or mobile device (phone, tablet) 
without encryption. 

• Passwords shall not be stored on cell phones or other mobile devices without 
encryption. 

• If the security of an account is in question, the password must be changed 
immediately. In the event passwords are found or discovered, the following steps 
must be taken: 

o Take control of the passwords and protect them 
o Report the discovery to the Director of Information Technology 



County of Mason 
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• Users cannot circumvent password entry with an auto logon, application 
remembering, embedded scripts, or hard coded passwords in client software. 

• PCs must not be left unattended without enabling a password-protected 
screensaver or logging off or locking the device. 

• Security tokens (i.e. smartcards, RSA hardware tokens, etc.) must be returned upon 
demand or upon termination of the relationship with County of Mason. 

Approved by MCCNAB - 07/29/2024 
Approved by Board of Commissioners xx/xx/xx.xx 



Janet S. Andersen 
Chair 

Steven Hull 
Vice Chair 

Cheryl Kelly 
County Clerk 

Fabian L. Knizacky 
Administrator 

Nick Krieger 
District 1 

Les Johnson 
District 2 

Jody Hartley 
District 3 

Lewis G. Squires, D.C. 
District 4 

Steven Hull 
District 5 

Janet S. Andersen 
District 6 

Ron Bacon 
District 7 

Mason County 
Board of Commissioners 

5300 W. US10, Ludington, Michigan 49431 
(P) (231) 843-7999 • (F) (231) 843-1972 

www.masoncounty.net 

APPROVAL OF FINANCE, PERSONNEL, 
& RULES COMMITTEE TRANSFERS 

WHEREAS, the Finance, Personnel, & Rules Committee has reviewed the 
transfers for September 10, 2024. 

THEREFORE, we, your Finance, Personnel, & Rules Committee, request your 
approval of the following transfers: 

Road Patrol 
Junk Ordinance Administration 
Indigent Defense 
Jail Operations 

Moved for your approval. 

$213,512.50 
$ 8,000.00 
$ 38,375.00 
$168,250.00 

In accordance with Federal law and US Department of Agriculture policy, this institution is prohibited from discriminating on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, religion, sex and familial status. (Nol all 
prohibited bases apply to all programs.) To file a complaint of discrimination, write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250.9410 or call (800) 795-3272 (voice) 

or (202) 720-6382 (TDD). USDA is an Equal Opportunity Provider and Employer. 



Date: August 7, 2024 

To: Mason County 

RE: Announcement of Funding Award, Required Documentation and IGX Instructions 

Dear Grantee: 

Congratulations! The Michigan State Housing Development Authority (MSHDA) 
Neighborhood Development Division (NOD) has approved your request for Community 
Development Block Grant Funds Housing Improving Local Livability (CHILL). The purpose of 
this letter is to inform you of the documentation needed to initiate this grant, and how to 
manage it on the IGX system. 

The CHILL Grant Agreement pdf. must be signed and returned to your CDBG Specialist no 
later than two weeks from the date of this letter. 

Executing the Grant Agreement and Exhibits 

Your agency's highest elected official for local units of government must sign the Grant 
Agreement. 

The Authorized Official must electronically sign the CHILL Grant Agreement. 

Authorized Signature Designation Form 
Grantee's must submit an Authorized Signature Designation Form if they did not do so during 
the application process. This formally identifies and designates the person or persons 
authorized to sign and/or submit grant related reports, forms, and documents on behalf of the 
governing board. Each signatory must sign in the appropriate spaces on the form next to his or 
her printed or typed name. 

Utilizing the Resources 
IGX Help Desk: Should you experience technical difficulties with IGX, you should contact the 
Help Desk at 1-800-820-1890 or via email at helpdesk@agatesoftware.com. 

Your CDBG Specialist: You should always feel free to contact your CDBG Specialist, 
Lenore Costa via email at COSTAL 1@michigan.gov, or phone at 517-335-7521. 

Assigning Staff to Administer This Grant 
Grant Administrator and Authorized Signers can give other agency members or other 
people outside of the agency, access to the grant. To be given access to a grant, that person must 
already exist on IGX and be active within the system. Please refer to Section 5 of the IGX 
Grant User Guide titled "Add/Edit People to the Grant" to complete this process. If you have 
any technical difficulties with the system, please contact Jodi Mackie at 517-335-0099. 



Financial Status Report (FSR) / Payment Request 
Payment Requests will be submitted online through the IGX system. Grant Administrator and 
Authorized Signer(s) are permitted to create an FSR however, only an Authorized Signer is 
permitted to submit an FSR. 

Payment Requests must be submitted at least quarterly, but not more frequently than monthly. 
The request should cover expenses for the previous quarter or month and should be submitted 
by the 15th of the month following the report period. 

Keep in mind that any deviations from the terms or conditions of the CHILL Grant 
Agreement, must be requested, and approved by the Neighborhood Development Division 
staff. I congratulate you on receiving this award. 

Sincerely, 

~k1.n c:1~ 
Christopher Lussier, CDBG & MICH Program Manager 
Neighborhood Development Division 
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COBG Grant#: MSF-2023-760-C0B 
UEI #: KSVFCSMSF803 
Grant Amount: $500,000 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) 

GRANT AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE MICHIGAN STATE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
AND 

MASON COUNTY 

I. GRANT OFFER 

The Michigan State Housin'g Development Authority, a public body corporate and politic of the 
State of Michigan, whose address is 735 East Michigan Avenue, Lansing, Michigan 48912 (the 
"Authority"), acting pursuant to the federal Community Development Act Of 197 4, as amended 
(the "Act"), hereby offers to Mason County whose address is 304 E. Ludington Avenue, Ludington, 
Ml 49431 (hereinafter the "Grantee"), grant assistance subject to the availability of federal 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds, terms, conditions, and limitations as set 
forth in this grant agreement (the "Grant Agreement"). 

The maximum amount of grant assistance hereby offered is $500,000. 

The term of work performance by the Grantee under this grant agreement is June 1, 2024 to 
November 30, 2025. The Authority will provide CDBG funds for the Grantee's eligible expenses 
in accordance with the attached Conditions. 

Dated this __ day of ________ _ 

Amy Hovey 
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director 

The foregoing Grant Offer is hereby accepted, and it is agreed that the funds provided will be 
used only as set forth in the Grant Agreement. 

Dated this __ day of ________ _ 

WITNESSED BY: 

Witness Signature 

Mason County 

Authorized Official Signature 
Fabian L. Knizacky 
Mason County Administrator 
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II. GRANT TERMS 

The Authority and the Grantee agree as follows: 

1. The Grantee shall implement or continue the activities within the projected budget and time 
frame (the "Grant Term") and in accordance with any special terms and conditions for 
funding more specifically described and stated in "Exhibit A", which is attached and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

2. The Grantee shall: 

3. 

4. 

a. Expend all CDBG program funds in accordance with the requirements of 24 CFR 570 
pertaining to eligible project costs for the CDBG program. 

b. Comply with all the requirements now or hereafter in effect for Title II of the 
Community Development Act of 197 4, the CDBG program, and the regulations 
appearing at Section 24, Part 570 of the Code of Federal Regulations (24 CFR 570 
et~. including, but not limited to, the assurances and certifications contained in 
Section 29 of this Agreement 

c. Comply with the Federal grant requirements of Title 2, Subtitle A, Chapter II, Part 200 
of the Code of Federal Regulations (the "Uniform Guidance") as applicable. In all 
instances, the Grantee should review the Uniform Guidance requirements applicable 
to its use of CDBG funds, and CDBG-funded projects, including the Uniform 
Guidance, as described in the 2022 0MB Compliance Supplement Part 3. 
Compliance Requirements (issued May 11. 2022). 

d. Comply with such further statutory, regulatory, and contractual requirement(s) now or 
hereafter in effect as may be applicable to the receipt and expenditure of CDBG 
Funds, as administered by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
and the Authority. 

e. Utilize grant funds for the approved activities (excluding administration) at the 
following minimum expenditure rate: 

June 1, 2024 to November 30, 2024, complete first draw; and 
December 1, 2024 to May 31, 2025, 50% expended; and 
June 1, 2025 to November 30, 2025, all grant funded activities substantially 
complete. 

All grant funds must be expended and project activities completed by November 30, 
2025 and all project closeout activities completed by January 31, 2026. 

Effective Date. The effective date of this Agreement is June 1, 2024. Unless otherwise 
extended, suspended, or terminated by the Authority, this Agreement shall remain in effect 
until such time as the Grantee has (1) expended or returned to the Authority the funds 
authorized hereunder; and (2) met all terms and conditions for the receipt of funds pursuant 
to this Agreement. 

Disbursement of Funds. The Grantee agrees that disbursement(s) under this Agreement 
shall be made in accordance with Authority established schedules and procedures. The 
Grantee further agrees that in the event no funds are disbursed within six (6) months of the 

2 
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UEI #: KSVFCSMSF803 
Grant Amount: $500,000 

effective starting date as stated in Paragraph 3 above, the funds authorized pursuant to 
this Agreement shall be subject to recapture by the Authority. Further, in no event will a 
disbursement or further disbursements be made after a notice by the Authority of a violation 
of this Agreement, Which violation has not been corrected to the satisfaction of the 
Authority. 

I 

5. Administration Costs. The Grantee acknowledges that a maximum of eighteen percent 

6. 

7. 

8. 

(18%) of the Total Grant Amount may be utilized for administrative costs. The administrative 
costs must be allowaQle, reasonable, and allocable as outlined in 2 CFR 200.403-200.405 
and must be in accordance with the CDBG Policy Manual and any written administrative 
costs policies issued by the Authority. The Grantee may use administrative costs for direct 
costs as defined in 2 GFR 200.413 and indirect costs as defined in 2 CFR 200.414. If the 
Grantee uses both direct and indirect costs, the indirect costs must exclude any direct 
administrative expen~es. 

The Grantee agrees ,o provide the Authority with a CDBG Program Administration Report, 
in the form of a quarterly Financial Status Report (the "FSR"), that documents and itemizes 
all direct and indirect administrative costs. If the Grantee elects to opt out of utilizing any of 
the Total Grant AmQunt towards administrative costs, the Grantee acknowledges that it 
cannot amend the Project Budget post-grant award to add it in as a funding component. 
CDBG Program funds are not to be used for research and development as defined in 2 
CFR 200.1. 

I 

The Grantee is permitted to draw down administrative costs at a rate commensurate with 
the rate of project co~t expenditures. While the Grantee may incur additional administrative 
expenses, the drawdown of these costs must maintain an equal ratio to the drawdown of 
project expenditures. This ensures that the allocation of funds remains proportionate 
throughout the duration of the project. Any deviation from this equal ratio drawdown policy 
will require prior written approval from the Authority. 

Advancement of FLnds. The Grantee is permitted to request an advance payment of 
funds, up to twenty-five percent (25%) of their budgeted project costs. The budgeted project 
costs are defined a$ the total grant award minus the allocated administrative costs. This 
advance payment is specifically intended for construction costs that the Grantee has 
contractually committed to with a contractor or developer and may not be used to pay for 
administrative costs1 The intention of this advance payment is to provide the Grantee with 
the necessary funds to initiate construction. Any request for such an advance payment must 
be submitted in writihg and approved by the Granter prior to disbursement of funds. 

If an advance of fun~s is made pursuant to this Agreement for a specific purpose and is not 
used by the Grantee for that purpose or another purpose permitted under this Agreement 
and approved by the Authority within 180 calendar days, or if the Grantee decides not to 
use the money, upon such disbursal or upon such decision, the Grantee shall immediately 
return to the Authorjty the funds advanced. 

Availability of Funds. The State of Michigan CDBG Housing Program awards funds 
based upon year-tOjdate federal appropriations from the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD). Further, all Authority CDBG funding is subject to the availability 
of funds since the I Housing Program is dependent upon federal appropriations and/or 
rescissions. Therefore, it is possible grants could be reduced accordingly on a unilateral 
basis. 

Increase of Funds. The Grantee agrees that the Authority may, at its own discretion and 
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9. with the written concurrence of the Grantee, increase the amount of funds available to the 
Grantee under this Agreement by amending the program description, program budget, and 
special conditions contained in Exhibit A. The Grantee further agrees that any such 
increases shall be governed by the terms of this Agreement and such other statutory, 
regulatory, or contractual requirements now or hereafter in effect for the receipt and 
expenditure the funds as administered by HUD or the Authority. 

10. Monitoring. The Grantee agrees that the Authority may, at the Authority's discretion, audit 
the Grantee for compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The Grantee 
further agrees to provide any books, records, or other documentation in such form and at 
such place as the Authority may request. 

11. Records Retention Period. The Grantee shall retain all financial records, supporting 
documents, statistical records, and all other pertinent records for a period of four (4) years. 
The retention period shall commence from the date that the Grantee's final audit and report 
are approved by the Authority. 

12. Reporting Schedule. The Grantee shall prepare and submit reports and documents 
relating to and supportive of the activities described in Exhibit A as the Authority may 
require, including, but to limited to: 

TYPE OF REPORT DUE DATE 

A. Accounting Certification Prior to disbursement of funds. 

B. Financial Status Reports (FSR) 
commonly referred to as 
11payment requests". 

The 15th of the month following the 
report period. Payment requests 
should be submitted at least 
quarterly but not more than monthly. 

C. Interim and Final Single Audit 
reports prepared by a certified 
public accountant. 

Nine months after the Grantee's 
fiscal year end in which the funds 
governed by this Agreement have 
been expended. Please refer to the 
Neighborhood Development 
Division's (NDD) Supplemental 
Audit Guide for additional audit 
instructions. 

13. All reports, correspondence, and documents required under this Agreement shall be 
submitted to: 

CDBG Address: 

Grantee Address: 

Michigan State Housing Development Authority 
NDD-CDBG 
735 East Michigan Avenue, PO Box 30044 
Lansing, Ml 48909 

Fabian L. Knizacky 
Mason County 
304 E. Ludington Avenue 
Ludington, Ml 49431 
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14. 

15. 

16. 

17. 

18. 

19. 

Procurement. The 'Grantee shall ensure that all procurement transactions shall be con­
ducted in a manner that provides for maximum open and free competition. 

Reasonable Costs. The Grantee hereby agrees that payment for services. supplies or 
materials shall not ,exceed the amount ordinarily paid for such services, supplies or 
materials in the area where the services are rendered, or the supplies or materials are 
furnished. 

Cost Overruns. All cost overruns shall be the responsibility of the Grantee. 

General Compliance. All aspects of the Grantee's plan for the use of funds authorized 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all 
supporting documents, site plans. design plans and specifications, shall be subject to 
review and approval by Authority staff to ensure compliance with Authority, state and 
federal guidelines, standards and criteria and shall not be altered without prior written 
approval from the Authority. 

Records Review. The Grantee hereby agrees that all aspects of the activities described 
in Exhibit A and all documents relating to and supportive of said activities. including, but 
not limited to, specifications and reports of funds expended, shall be freely available to the 
Authority or its authorized representatives for review by the Authority to ensure conformity 
with the terms of this Agreement. 

Contractors and Subcontractors. 

a. The Grantee, all contractors and subcontractors shall ensure that any construction, 
rehabilitation, or conversion implemented pursuant to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement will be sufficient to effect decent, safe, and sanitary conditions and meet 
all applicable local building codes. 

b. The Grantee, all contractors and subcontractors shall ensure that all precautions are 
exercised at all times for the protection of persons and property and shall observe the 
safety provisidns of all applicable laws and building and construction codes. 

c. The Grantee, all contractors and subcontractors shall secure all necessary certificates 
and permits from municipal or other public authorities as may be required in connection 
with the performance of this Agreement. 

d. The Grantee, all contractors and subcontractors shall maintain during the term of this 
Agreement public liability, property damage, and worker's compensation insurance 
insuring the interests of all parties to this Agreement against any and all claims which 
may arise out of the Grantee's or contractor's or subcontractor's operations under this 
Agreement. 

20. Discrimination. The Grantee agrees that all activities assisted pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement must be open to all regardless of age, height, weight, marital 
status, sex (including sexual orientation and gender identity or expression), race, color, 
religion, or natiorJal origin (including limited English proficiency), partisan considerations. 
or a disability or genetic information, and that all contractors, subcontractors, subgrantees, 
and sub-recipients involved must take affirmative action to assure an equal opportunity for 
employment, without discrimination as to age, height, weight. marital status, sex (including 
sexual orientation and gender identity or expression), race, color, religion, or national 
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origin, partisan considerations, or a disability or genetic information that is unrelated to the 
person's ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position, in accordance with the 
following authorities: Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VI) Public Law 88-352, 
42 U.S.C. 2000d-1 et seq., and the Department's implementing regulations, 31 CFR part 
22; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), Public Law 93-112, as 
amended by Public Law 93-516, 29 U.S.C. 794; Title IX of the Education Amendments of 
1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq., and the Department's implementing regulations, 
31 CFR part 28; Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Public Law 94-135, 42 U.S.C. 6101 et 
seq., and the Department implementing regulations at 31 CFR part 23. 

21. Conflict of Interest. If any member of the Grantee's Board of Directors or staff has an 
identity of interest with (a) any of the staff persons hired, (b) any of the persons or 
households to be assisted directly or indirectly with the funds, or (c) the persons and/or 
businesses retained to perform technical services hereunder or with persons or 
businesses providing supplies or services for which funds are being advanced under this 
Agreement in the form of 10% or more voting stock in such business, or interest as a 
director or officer of such business, or financial interest directly or indirectly in an amount 
of 10% or more, or in the form of common immediate family membership, the Grantee 
shall make written disclosure of the nature and extent of the relationship to the Authority 
prior to contracting with such persons and/or businesses. The Grantee further agrees not 
to enter into any contractual relation with any of the persons or entities listed above unless 
it has received written approval from the Authority. The Grantee and its Board of Directors, 
staff, agent, consultant, officer, or elected or appointed official must also comply with all 
applicable Authority and HUD requirements and regulations regarding conflicts of interest, 
including but not limited to 2 CFR 200.112 and 2 CFR 200.318. 

22. Liability. The Authority, the State of Michigan, their officers, agents, and employees shall 
not. in any manner, be liable for any loss or damage connected to or resulting from 
activities implemented under this Agreement; nor, or for any injury or damages to any 
person whether an employee of the Grantee or otherwise, or for damage to any materials, 
equipment, or other property that may be used or employed in connection herewith. 

23. Hold Harmless. 

a. All liability to third parties, loss or damage as a result of claims, demands, costs, or 
judgments arising out of activities, such as direct service delivery, to be carried out by 
the Grantee in the performance of this agreement shall be the responsibility of the 
Grantee, and not the responsibility of the Authority, if the liability, loss, or damage is 
caused by, or arises out of, the actions or failure to act on the part of the Grantee, any 
subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Grantee, provided that 
nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of any governmental immunity that has 
been provided to the Grantee or its employees by statute or court decisions. 

b. All liability to third parties, loss or damage as a result of claims, demands, costs, or 
judgments arising out of activities, such as direct service delivery, to be carried out by 
the Authority in the performance of this agreement shall be the responsibility of 
the Authority, and not the responsibility of the Grantee, if the liability, loss, or damage 
is caused by, or arises out of, the actions or failure to act on the part of the Authority, 
any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Authority, provided 
that nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of any governmental immunity that 
has been provided to the Authority or its employees by statute or court decisions. 
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24. 

25. 

26. 

27. 

28. 

29. 

c. In the event that liability to third parties, loss or damage arises as a result of activities 
conducted jointly by the Grantee and the Authority in fulfillment of their responsibilities 
under this agreement, such liability, loss, or damage shall be borne by the Grantee 
and the Authority in relation to each party's responsibilities under these joint activities, 
provided that nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of any governmental 
immunity by the Grantee, the State, its agencies ( or the Authority) or their employees, 
respectively by statute or court decisions. 

Violations of Grant Agreement. The Authority reserves the right to pursue all remedies 
available to it to cute any violation of this Agreement. In the event the Grantee violates 
any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Authority shall notify the Grantee and give a 
30-day period for the Grantee to correct the violation. In the event the violation is not 
corrected to the satisfaction of the Authority, within the time prescribed herein, this 
Agreement may be1terminated forthwith by the Authority. 

Suspension of Grant. If the Grantee has failed to comply with this Agreement, or in the 
event that funds are no longer available to the Authority, on reasonable notice to the 
Grantee, the Authority may suspend the grant and prevent further electronic funds transfer 
or prohibit the Grantee from incurring additional obligations of grant funds, pending 
corrective action by the Grantee, resumption of funding to MSHDA for the CDBG program, 
or a decision to terminate in accordance with this Agreement. The Authority shall 
reimburse the Grantee for all necessary and proper costs which the Grantee could not 
reasonably avoid during the period of suspension. 

Termination for Cause. The Authority may terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, 
at any time before the date of completion, if the Authority determines that the Grantee has 
failed to comply with the conditions of this Agreement or in the event that funds are no 
longer available to the Authority. The Authority shall promptly notify the Grantee in writing 
of the determination and the reasons for the termination, together with the effective date. 
Payments made to recipients or recapture of funds by the Authority shall be in accordance 
with the legal rights and liabilities of the parties. 

Termination for Convenience. The Authority or the Grantee may terminate this 
Agreement in whole, or in part, when both parties agree that the continuation of the project 
would not produce beneficial results commensurate with the further expenditure of funds. 
The two parties shall agree upon the termination conditions, including the effective date 
and, in the case of partial terminations, the portion to be terminated. The Grantee shall 
not incur new ob~igations for the terminated portion after the effective date, and shall 
cancel as many outstanding obligations as possible. The Authority shall pay from available 
Grant funds; the Grantee's share of the non-cancelable obligations, properly incurred by 
the Grantee prior to termination. 

Remedies. The Grantee hereby agrees that the election of the Authority to pursue any of 
the remedies set forth herein shall not be construed to preclude or be a waiver of the right 
to pursue any of the other remedies. 

I 

Federal System for Award Management {SAM). The Grantee must register with the 
SAM before any CDBG funds will be disbursed and must maintain an active registration 
throughout the period of performance. The SAM website is: https:/www.sam.gov/SAM. In 
accordance with federal Uniform Guidance, any CDBG funds received must be included 
on the eligible applicant's Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) and 
included within the scope of the eligible applicant's Single Audit. 
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30. Specific Compliance Requirements. The Grantee hereby assures and certifies 
compliance with the statutes, rules, regulations, and guidelines associated with the 
acceptance and use of funds under the CDBG program as implemented pursuant to 
regulations contained in 24 CFR Part 570 and as administered by the Authority on behalf 
of the State of Michigan. Such assurances and certifications include, but are not limited 
to, the following: 

30. 

a. The execution of this Agreement is authorized under State and local statutes, and the 
Grantee possesses the legal authority to implement the CDBG program described 
herein and in accordance with regulations contained in 24 CFR Part 570 et. seq. 

b. The Grantee shall implement its CDBG program in conformance with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.426, and HUD CPD Notice 04-11 to assure that any 
repayment, interest, and other program income shall be returned to the Authority. 

c. The Grantee shall implement its CDBG program in conformance with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.904 pertaining to equal opportunity and fair housing. 

d. The Grantee shall implement its CDBG program in conformance with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.606 pertaining to displacement, relocation, acquisition, 
and replacement housing. 

e. The Grantee shall implement its CDBG program in conformance with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.608 and 24 CFR Part 35 pertaining to the testing for and 
abatement of lead-based paint in HUD-associated housing. 

f. The Grantee shall implement its CDBG program in conformance with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.611 pertaining to conflict of interest. 

g. The Grantee shall implement its CDBG program in conformance with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.605 pertaining to flood insurance. 

h. The Grantee shall implement its CDBG program in conformance with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.489(c) to assure that no funds available under this 
agreement are requested until funds are needed for payment of eligible costs. 
Further, the amount requested must be limited to the amount needed. 

i. 

j. 

The Grantee shall comply with all other requirements of the CDBG program which 
may be now or hereafter applicable to a CDBG Grantee as determined by the 
Authority pursuant to the requirements of 24 CFR 570 et. seq. 

The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that whenever CDBG funds are used for 
rehabilitation, the work must be performed according to the Grantee's written 
rehabilitation standards and must, at a minimum, meet the housing quality standards 
contained in 24 CFR 882.109 for the duration of this Agreement. 

Severability. The parties hereby agree that the invalidity of any clause, part, or provision 
of this Agreement shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
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Grant#: MSF-2023-760-CDB 
Page 1 

Grant Term June 1, 2024 to November 30, 2025 

Budget: 

ComponenUActivity 
Funds Leverage Total 

... 
Awarded Funds -. :; 

HIP $410,000 $0 $410,000 

Admin 90,000 0 90,000 

Mason County 0 50,000 50,000 

TOTAL $500,000 $50,000 $550,000 



CDBG Grant#: MSF-2023-760-CDB 
UEI #: KSVFCSMSF8D3 
Grant Amount: $500,000 

Project Description: 

13 units being assisted with home improvements. 

Grant#: MSF-2023-760-CDB 
Page2 

The Project will meet HUD'.s National Objective of Low Mod Housing (LMH) for participants who 
are at or below 80% AM I. 

Pre-Disbursement Conditions: 

Environmental Release of Funds letter 
Program Guidelines 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Commissioners
Mason County, Michigan
Ludington, Michigan

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the County of Mason, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in 
the table of contents.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other auditor, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, 
the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the County of Mason, as of December 31, 2023, and the respective 
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of the Mason County Road Commission which represents 92% of 
the assets, 96% of net position, and 95% of the revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component 
units.  Those financial statements were audited by another auditor whose report has been furnished to us, 
and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Mason County Road Commission, is 
based solely on the report of the other auditor.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the County of Mason, and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the County of Mason’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

t 1 CLARK SCHAEFER HACKETT 
• • BUSINESS ADVISORS 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the County of Mason’s internal control. Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the County of Mason’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, required pension and OPEB schedules, and budgetary comparison information, 
as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, 
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the County of Mason’s basic financial statements.  The combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code 
of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us and other 
auditor.  In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 28, 2024, 
on our consideration of the County of Mason’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the County of Mason’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the County of Mason’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

  Clark, Schaefer, Hackett & Co.
East Lansing, Michigan
June 28, 2024
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As management of the County of Mason, we offer this narrative overview and analysis of the financial 
activities of the County, including limited information pertaining to the separately audited Road 
Commission for the year ended December 31, 2023. For more detailed information, the Road 
Commission’s separately issued financial statements may be obtained from their administrative office.  
We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional 
information that we have furnished in the accompanying basic financial statements. 

Financial Highlights

* The assets and deferred outflows of the County primary government exceeded its liabilities and 
deferred inflows at the close of fiscal year by $88,411,939.43 (Net Position).  Of this amount 
$45,422,423.6 (unrestricted Net Position of the government funds) may be used to meet the 
government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

* The County’s total Net Position increased by $7,358,851.44 compared to 2022.  

* As of the close of the current fiscal year, the County’s governmental funds (this includes the 
general fund, special revenue funds, debt service and capital projects funds) reported combined 
ending fund balances of $41,253,732.10 an increase of $4,047,323.93 in comparison with the 
prior year. Of the fund balance amount, $20,551,884.64 is available for spending at the 
government’s discretion (unassigned and assigned fund balance.)

* The general fund had a decrease in fund balance of $3,224,274.00 for 2023.  At the end of the 
year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $5,429,371.85 or approximately 26.1% of 
total general fund expenditures and net operating transfers out. Total fund balance for the general 
fund was $12,740,923.09.

Using this Annual Report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements.  The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of the County as a whole (government-
wide financial statements) and present a longer-term view of the County’s finances.  Fund financial 
statements tell how these services were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for future 
spending.  Fund financial statements also report the County’s operations in more detail than the 
government-wide statements providing information about the County’s most significant funds.

The remaining statements provide financial information about activities for which the County acts solely 
as a trustee or agent for the benefit of those outside of the government.  The notes to the financial 
statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Reporting the County as a Whole

One of the most important questions asked about the County’s finances is, “Is the County as a whole 
better off or worse off as a result of this year’s activities?”  The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities report information about the County as a whole and about its activities in a way 
that helps answer this question.  These statements include all assets, liabilities, and deferred 
outflows/inflows using the accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the accounting used by most 
private-sector companies.  All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.

These two statements report the County’s Net Position and changes in them.  One can think of the 
County’s Net Position – the difference between assets, liabilities, and deferred outflows/inflows – as one 
way to measure the County’s financial health or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in 
the County’s Net Position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. 

During 2023, the Net Position of the County increased by $7,358,851.44 compared to 2022. The 
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities present information about the following:
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Governmental activities. All of the County’s basic services are considered to be governmental activities, 
including legislative, judicial, general government administration, public safety, public works, health and 
welfare, recreation and cultural, and other activities.  Property taxes, intergovernmental revenue, and charges 
for services finance most of these activities.

Business-type activities.  Other functions of the County that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of 
their costs through user fees and charges are considered to be business-type activities.  These include 
delinquent tax collections, airport, the sewer system, the Medical Care Facility, and park operations.

Component units.  The County includes four legally separate entities in its financial statements:  the Mason 
County District Library, the Mason County Drain Commission, Lake Improvement Districts, and the Mason 
County Road Commission.  Although legally separate, these “component units” are important because the 
County is financially accountable for them.

Financial Statements for these component units are reported separately from the financial information 
presented for the primary government itself.  The Mason County Department of Public Works and the Mason 
County Building Authority, although legally separate, function for all practical purposes as departments of the 
County, and therefore have been included as an integral part of the primary government.

The government-wide statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities can be found on pages 11-14 of 
this report.

Reporting the County’s Most Significant Funds

Fund Financial Statements.  The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most 
significant funds – not the County as a whole.  Some funds are required to be established by State law and by 
bond covenants.  However, the County establishes many other funds to help control and manage money for 
particular purposes or to show it is meeting legal responsibilities for using certain taxes, grants, and other 
money.  The County’s two primary kinds of funds – governmental and proprietary – use different accounting 
approaches.

Governmental funds.  Most of the County’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on 
how money flows in to and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for spending.  
These funds are reported using an accounting method called the modified accrual basis of accounting, which 
measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash.  The governmental fund 
statements provide a detailed short-term view of the County’s general governmental operations and the basic 
services it provides.

Governmental fund information helps one determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that 
can be spent in the near future to finance the County’s programs.  Because the focus of the governmental 
funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information 
presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements.  By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the 
government’s near-term financing decisions.

Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds
and governmental activities.

The County maintains 31 individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statements of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the general fund, jail operations, road patrol, community development block grant, 
and public improvement, each of which are considered to be major funds.  Data for the other 26 governmental 
funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in the report.

Proprietary funds.  The County maintains two different types of proprietary funds.  Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government–wide financial statements.  
The County uses enterprise funds to account for delinquent tax operations, airport, public works, medical care 
facility, and park operations.  Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate 
costs internally among the County’s various functions.  The County uses internal service funds to account for 
payroll fringe benefits, insurance costs, computer, and equipment costs.  Because these services 
predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within the



Mason County, Michigan
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

December 31, 2023

6

governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  At the end of the current fiscal year, 
the County is able to report positive balances in all three categories net investment in capital assets, 
restricted and unrestricted) of net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate 
governmental and business-type activities.

Mason County’s Changes in Net Position

Governmental
Activities

Governmental
Activities

Business-type 
Activities

Business-type 
Activities Total Total

Revenues 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Program Revenues:

Charges for services $3,384,467.88 $ 1,813,404.49 $13,720,109.23 $11,221,902.33 $17,104,577.11 $13,035,306.82
Operating grants 
and contributions 3,248,091.99   8,600,948.63 329,728.51      45,177.80    3,577,820.50    8,646,126.43

Capital grants and 
contributions            3,838.00

                 
29,288.94 16,369.90

       
15,590.38 20,207.90 44,879.32

General revenues:

Property taxes and 
special assessments 15,898,604.83 15,229,069.32

  
  2,339,782.38

  
  2,230,820.73   18,238,387.21 17,459,890.05

Investment earnings    3,076,292.89 (455,578.25) 885,634.54 (457,563.60)   3,961,927.43     (913,141.85)
Gain (Loss) on sale 

of capital assets   23,763.74          9,575.00 0.00 0.00 23,763.74            9,575.00
Other revenues 794,570.38 487,285.09     440,949.13     427,238.56 1,235,519.51       914,523.65
Transfers ( 449,000.00)    ( 226,778.00) 449,000.00       226,778.00                  0.00                  0.00

Total revenues   25,980,629.71   25,487,215.22 18,181,573.69 13,709,944.20 44,162,203.40 39,197,159.42

Expenses

Legislative 482,455.11 498,112.24                0.00                0.00 482,455.11       498,112.24
Judicial 3,312,147.30 3,272,420.76                0.00                0.00 3,312,147.30    3,272,420.76

General government 
administration 6,133,427.10 4,554,637.73 0.00 0.00 6,133,427.10    4,554,637.73

Public safety 8,250,419.33 7,962,452.64                0.00                0.00 8,250,419.33    7,962,452.64
Public works 54,023.56 65,318.31                0.00                0.00 54,023.56 65,318.31

Health and social 
services 2,269,636.50 2,167,189.44

               
0.00

             
  0.00 2,269,636.50    2,167,189.44

Parks, recreation, 
and cultural 135,133.52 160,884.04                0.00                0.00 135,133.52       160,884.04

Miscellaneous 233,272.76 163,058.92                0.00                0.00 233,272.76       163,058.92
Delinquent tax 

collections and other 
Business-type 

activities                  0.00                  0.00 15,930,836.78 14,807,136.75 15,930,836.78 14,807,136.75
Total Expenses 20,870,515.18 18,844,074.08 15,930,836.78 14,807,136.75 36,801,351.96 33,651,210.83

Increase (decrease) 
in net position

  
5,110,114.53 6,643,141.14

  
   2,250,736.91 (1,097,192.55) 7,360,851.44   5,545,948.59

Net Position, 
beginning of year 56,707,334.41 50,075,351.19 24,345,753.58 25,442,946.13 81,053,087.99 75,518,297.32

Prior Period 
adjustment (    2,000.00)   (    11,157.92)                   0.00                  0.00 (    2,000.00)   (    11,157.92)

Total Net Position, 
end of year $61,815,448.94 $56,707,334.41 $26,596,490.49 $24,345,753.58 $88,411,939.43 $81,053,087.99
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Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only 
in more detail.  The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the public work, 
park operations, delinquent tax, the medical care facility, and airport operations.  Conversely, all internal 
service funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial 
statements.  Individual fund data for the internal service funds is provided in the form of combining 
statements elsewhere in this report. 

Reporting the County’s Fiduciary Responsibilities

The County is the trustee, or fiduciary, for certain amounts on behalf of others.  Fiduciary funds are used 
to account for the resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government.  Fiduciary funds are 
not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of these funds are not
available to support the County’s own programs.  Amounts held by the County’s fiduciary funds are 
reported in a separate Combining Balance Sheet of Fiduciary Funds.  The accounting used in fiduciary 
funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.  The County is responsible for ensuring that the assets 
reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes.

Additional Information

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental, enterprise and 
internal service funds are presented as listed in the table of contents.

Mason County’s Net Position

Governmental
Activities

Governmental
Activities

Business-type 
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Current and 
other assets $66,557,969.35 $59,885,556.13 $27,543,059.33 $25,645,008.94 $94,101,028.68 $85,530,565.07
Noncurrent
assets   13,479,641.89   13,434,047.21   6,638,196.20   6,690,347.24   20,117,838.09   20,124,394.45
      Total 
Assets 80,037,611.24   73,319,603.34   34,181,255.53   32,335,356.18 114,218,866.77 105,654,959.52
Deferred 
outflows
   of resources    5,566,440.00    8,406,108.00     2,407,521.00     3,979,207.00     7,973,961.00   12,385,315.00
Current and 
other liabilities   1,578,315.99   1,237,719.88    1,100,112.86        850,193.48     2,678,428.85     2,087,913.36
Noncurrent 
liabilities   16,201,359.81   17,954,280.99     5,402,281.58     6,935,335.49 21,603,641.39   24,889,616.48
      Total 
liabilities   17,779,675.80   19,192,000.87     6,502,394.44     7,785,528.97 24,282,070.24   26,977,529.84
Deferred 
inflows
   of resources    6,008,926.50    5,826,376.06     3,489,891.60     4,183,280.63   9,498,818.10 10,009,656.69
Net Position:
Net investment 
in capital 
assets

  
    9,561,502.76   10,046,129.08     6,737,956.20     6,786,607.24   16,299,458.96   16,832,736.32

Restricted    6,831,522.22   4,472,119.15                   0.00                  0.00     6,831,522.22   4,472,119.15
Unrestricted   45,422,423.96   42,189,086.18   19,858,534.29   17,559,146.34   65,280,958.25   59,748,232.52
Total Net 
Position $61,815,448.94 $56,707,334.41 $26,596,490.49 $24,345,753.58 $88,411,939.43 $81,053,087.99
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A portion of the County’s net position, $16,299,458.96 (18.4 percent), is its investment in capital assets 
(i.e. land, buildings, vehicles, equipment, and infrastructure).  The County uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  Although 
the County’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the County’s assets, $6,831,522.22 (7.8 percent), represents resources that are 
subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net 
position, $65,280,958.25 (73.8 percent), may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to 
citizens and creditors.  The County’s net position increased by $7,358,851.44 during the current fiscal 
year, $5,108,114.53 increase for governmental activities and a $2,250,736.91 increase for business-type 
activities.

Governmental activities.  Governmental activities increased the County’s net position by $5,108,114.53.  
Key elements of this increase are as follows:

 The self-funded internal service funds had operating losses that were less than the amounts 
appropriated to those funds.

 The amount of the unfunded retiree health insurance liability decreased due to the full funding of 
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) requirements in 2023 and excellent experience results.

 The amount of the unfunded pension liability decreased due to good investment results.  This was 
supplemented by the county providing funding in excess of the Annual Required Contribution 
(ARC) requirements in 2023.

 The governmental revenues were greater than budgeted due to additional grants from the state 
and federal government, excellent investment results due to an increase in interest rates, and 
expenditures that were significantly below budgeted amounts.

Business-type activities. Net position of the County’s business-type activities increased by $2,250,736.91.  
This increase in net position reflects improved financial results by the Oakview Medical Care Facility and 
increase excellent investment results due to an increase in interest rates

As noted earlier, Mason County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the 
County’s financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure 
of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the year.

As of the year ended December 31, 2023, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $41,253,732.10 an increase of $4,047,323.93 in comparison with the prior year.  Of the 
fund balance amount, $20,551,884.64 constitutes unassigned and assigned fund balance, which is 
available for spending at the government’s discretion.

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the County.  At the end of the year, unassigned fund 
balance of the general fund was $5,429,371.85, while total fund balance was $12,740,923.09.

As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total 
fund expenditures.  Unassigned fund balance represents 42.6 percent of the total general fund 
expenditures and transfers.

The fund balance of the County’s general fund decreased by $3,224,274.00 during the current fiscal year.  
This is primarily attributable to departments keeping their expenditures under budgeted amounts, state 
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reimbursements of lost personal property taxes being higher than expected, an increase in investment 
income for the year, and the County transferring $5,250,000.00 to the Community Development Block 
Grant.

The Public Improvement Fund increased by $1,308,213.72 as the County continued to follow its practice 
of earmarking funds to fund its five year capital improvement plan.

Proprietary funds.  The County’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information as in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net position of the delinquent tax foreclosure, delinquent tax revolving, airport, public works, 
medical care facility, land bank, and park operations funds at the end of the year amounted to 
$1,132,237.84, $6,479,503.66, $1,705,916.13, $1,710,326.92, $8,112,885.35, $100,000.00 and 
$617,664.39, respectively.  Factors concerning the finances of the delinquent tax fund have already been 
addressed in the discussion of the County’s business-type activities.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Revenues in the general fund (including transfers in) increased by $2,146,027.80 from the original budget
to actual.  Property taxes, investment income, and federal grants were higher than anticipated.

The original budget was amended to decrease expenditures due to several cost savings experienced. 
The total change from original budget to final amended was $414,800. Expenditures were under budget 
in total by $375,898.20.

Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2023, the County’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities 
amounted to $9,561,502.76 (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets includes 
land, buildings, improvements, vehicles, equipment, and infrastructure.  The total decrease in the 
County’s investment in governmental capital assets for the current fiscal year was 4.82 percent. The 
County’s business-type activities’ net capital assets decreased by $48,651.04. See note 9 for additional 
detail.

Mason County’s Capital Assets

Governmental Activities
2023 2022

Land and Improvements $  1,021,673.59 $  1,021,673.59
Buildings and Improvements   18,380,789.28   18,380,789.28
Equipment and Vehicles     4,018,585.69     3,651,867.30

Subtotal   23,421,048.56   23,054,330.17
  Less:  Accumulated                                   

Depreciation (13,859,545.80) (13,008,201.09)
Total

$  9,561,502.76 $10,046,129.08

Business-type Activities
2023 2022

Land and Improvements $  3,383,598.54 $  3,344,109.74
Buildings and Improvements     9,902,703.20     9,757,078.37
Sewer systems     1,533,220.06     1,533,220.06
Equipment and Vehicles     2,795,045.75     2,642,501.18

Subtotal   17,614,567.55   17,276,909.35
  Less:  Accumulated                                   

Depreciation (10,876,611.35) (10,490,302.11)
Total

$  6,737,956.20 $  6,786,607.24
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Economic Factors and next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The following factors were considered in preparing the County’s budget for 2024:

● Employee recruiting costs will increase due to the tight labor market.

● Strong interest investment earnings will have a positive impact on revenue and the financial 
stability of retirement plans.

● Rising inflation and employee benefits costs will put pressure on expenditures.

Contacting the County Administrator

This management discussion and analysis is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s 
finances for all those with an interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to Mason
County Administrator, 5300 W. US-10, Ludington, MI  49431.



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - OVERVIEW

The Basic Financial Statements provide information of the governmental activities, business-type 

activities, aggregate totals of discretely presented component units, major funds, and the 

aggregate remaining funds, which collectively comprise the activities of the County of Mason, 

Michigan.  



GOVERNMENTAL BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTALS UNITS

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,979,475.80 7,309,870.02 18,289,345.82 2,594,481.95
Investments 50,841,879.88 15,626,146.35 66,468,026.23 524,702.52
Receivables

Property taxes 2,762,777.76 3,218,638.77 5,981,416.53 1,147,085.10
Accounts (net of allowance

for doubtful accounts) 26,291.93 141,570.25 167,862.18 1,543,685.49
Special assessments 0.00 0.00 0.00 264,600.39
Other 472,248.34 82,704.54 554,952.88 2,531.99

Due from other governmental units
   Federal/State 568,395.48 970,043.77 1,538,439.25 0.00
   Local 56,690.83 56,516.69 113,207.52 5,397.20
Inventories 0.00 23,053.23 23,053.23 1,179,913.00
Lease receivable 0.00 99,760.00 99,760.00 0.00
Internal balances - current (2,000.00) 0.00 (2,000.00) 0.00
Deposits 573,954.99 0.00 573,954.99 0.00
Prepaid items 278,254.34 14,755.71 293,010.05 66,212.93

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 66,557,969.35 27,543,059.33 94,101,028.68 7,328,610.57

Noncurrent assets
Lease receivable 0.00 1,575,786.13 1,575,786.13 0.00
Internal balance - Noncurrent 1,675,546.13 (1,675,546.13) 0.00 0.00
Land contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Net OPEB asset 2,242,593.00 0.00 2,242,593.00 217,589.00
Capital assets not being depreciated 223,802.00 662,703.65 886,505.65 22,596,415.00
Capital assets (net of 

accumulated depreciation) 9,337,700.76 6,075,252.55 15,412,953.31 39,464,904.00

TOTAL NONCURRENT

ASSETS 13,479,641.89 6,638,196.20 20,117,838.09 62,278,908.00

TOTAL ASSETS 80,037,611.24 34,181,255.53 114,218,866.77 69,607,518.57

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows (Pension and OPEB) 5,566,440.00 2,407,521.00 7,973,961.00 1,258,932.00

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GOVERNMENTAL BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTALS UNITS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 924,310.64 351,221.88 1,275,532.52 226,191.17
Accrued liabilities 363,942.38 590,222.97 954,165.35 130,032.36
Due to individuals/agencies 69,491.96 156,033.09 225,525.05 0.00
Due to other governmental units
    State 146,220.36 0.00 146,220.36 0.00

Local 74,350.65 2,634.92 76,985.57 0.00
Advances from State 0.00 0.00 0.00 301,973.00
Bonds and notes payable 0.00 0.00 0.00 510,280.00

TOTAL CURRENT

LIABILITIES 1,578,315.99 1,100,112.86 2,678,428.85 1,168,476.53

Noncurrent liabilities
General obligation bonds and

notes payable 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,142,470.00
Accrued post closure 285,154.60 0.00 285,154.60 0.00
Net Pension Liability 14,736,736.00 5,092,384.00 19,829,120.00 3,415,154.00
Unearned revenue 523,677.79 0.00 523,677.79 0.00
Compensated absences 655,791.42 309,897.58 965,689.00 0.00

TOTAL NONCURRENT

LIABILITIES 16,201,359.81 5,402,281.58 21,603,641.39 4,557,624.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES  17,779,675.80 6,502,394.44 24,282,070.24 5,726,100.53

DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES

   Deferred inflows (Pension and OPEB) 3,270,716.00 1,227,943.00 4,498,659.00 273,639.00
Taxes levied for next fiscal year 2,738,210.50 2,261,948.60 5,000,159.10 1,411,685.49

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 6,008,926.50 3,489,891.60 9,498,818.10 1,685,324.49

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 9,561,502.76 6,737,956.20 16,299,458.96 60,562,917.00
Restricted for County Roads 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,239,094.00
Restricted for special purposes 4,588,929.22 0.00 4,588,929.22 154,080.00
Restricted for OPEB 2,242,593.00 0.00 2,242,593.00 0.00
Unrestricted 45,422,423.96 19,858,534.29 65,280,958.25 498,934.55

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 61,815,448.94 26,596,490.49 88,411,939.43 63,455,025.55

December 31, 2023

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
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OPERATING
CHARGES GRANTS

FOR AND
EXPENSES SERVICES CONTRIBUTIONS

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Governmental activities
Legislative $ 482,455.11 0.00 0.00
Judicial 3,312,147.30 296,292.77 1,344,551.77
General government administration 6,133,427.10 2,496,603.87 762,412.13
Public safety 8,250,419.33 502,741.18 516,961.92
Public works 54,023.56 0.00 0.00
Health and social services 2,269,636.50 74,362.91 624,166.17
Parks, recreation, and cultural 135,133.52 0.00 0.00
Miscellaneous 233,272.76 14,467.15 0.00

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 20,870,515.18 3,384,467.88 3,248,091.99
Business-type activities

Parks operations 162,986.82 159,936.00 33,786.69
Public works operations and maintenance 386,925.85 215,233.12 0.00
Airport operations 582,418.50 289,643.41 4,500.00
Delinquent tax collections 9,924.34 245,859.01 0.00
Medical care facility 14,694,572.13 12,469,001.10 291,441.82
Delinquent tax foreclosure 94,009.14 340,436.59 0.00

TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 15,930,836.78 13,720,109.23 329,728.51

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT $ 36,801,351.96 17,104,577.11 3,577,820.50

COMPONENT UNITS
Drainage Districts $ 19,694.17 12,279.48 0.00
Lake Improvement District 222,222.72 298,501.26 0.00
District Library 1,419,707.10 99,744.72 28,492.14
Road Commission 9,194,768.00 3,565,665.00 7,346,223.00

TOTAL COMPONENT UNITS $ 10,856,391.99 3,976,190.46 7,374,715.14

General Revenues and Transfers
Taxes

Property taxes
Unrestricted investment earnings
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets
Other revenues
Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers
Change in Net Position

Net Position - January 1
Prior Period Adjustment

Net Position - December 31

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

PROGRAM REVENUES

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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PROGRAM
REVENUES

CAPITAL
GRANTS BUSINESS-

AND GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT
CONTRIBUTIONS ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTALS UNITS

0.00 (482,455.11) 0.00 (482,455.11) 0.00
0.00 (1,671,302.76) 0.00 (1,671,302.76) 0.00
0.00 (2,874,411.10) 0.00 (2,874,411.10) 0.00

3,838.00 (7,226,878.23) 0.00 (7,226,878.23) 0.00
0.00 (54,023.56) 0.00 (54,023.56) 0.00
0.00 (1,571,107.42) 0.00 (1,571,107.42) 0.00
0.00 (135,133.52) 0.00 (135,133.52) 0.00
0.00 (218,805.61) 0.00 (218,805.61) 0.00

3,838.00 (14,234,117.31) 0.00 (14,234,117.31) 0.00

16,369.90 0.00 47,105.77 47,105.77 0.00
0.00 0.00 (171,692.73) (171,692.73) 0.00
0.00 0.00 (288,275.09) (288,275.09) 0.00
0.00 0.00 235,934.67 235,934.67 0.00
0.00 0.00 (1,934,129.21) (1,934,129.21) 0.00
0.00 0.00 246,427.45 246,427.45 0.00

16,369.90 0.00 (1,864,629.14) (1,864,629.14) 0.00

20,207.90 (14,234,117.31) (1,864,629.14) (16,098,746.45) 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (8,369.89)
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 64,432.62
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,325,393.69)

2,862,548.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,099,797.00

2,862,548.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,830,466.04

15,898,604.83 2,339,782.38 18,238,387.21 1,071,997.63
2,222,364.18 574,442.24 2,796,806.42 147,045.01

853,928.71 311,192.30 1,165,121.01 8,068.80
23,763.74 0.00 23,763.74 574,194.00

794,570.38 440,949.13 1,235,519.51 129,651.89
(449,000.00) 449,000.00 0.00 0.00

19,344,231.84 4,115,366.05 23,459,597.89 1,930,957.33
5,110,114.53 2,250,736.91 7,360,851.44 4,761,423.37

56,707,334.41 24,345,753.58 81,053,087.99 58,693,602.18
(2,000.00) 0.00 (2,000.00) 0.00

$ 61,815,448.94 26,596,490.49 88,411,939.43 63,455,025.55

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

NET (EXPENSE) REVENUE AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
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JAIL
GENERAL OPERATIONS

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 399,408.15 74,361.51
Investments (Net of premiums/discounts) 10,930,298.40 1,621,094.33
Receivables

Property taxes 0.00 1,344,874.40
Accounts (net of allowance for 

doubtful accounts) 11,504.81 6,377.41
Other 73,073.99 5,809.04

Due from state and
federal government 297,301.73 1,214.50

Due from other units 38,938.97 0.00
Due from other funds 0.00 0.00
Advances to other funds 1,675,546.13 0.00
Prepaid items 89,218.09 33,242.10

TOTAL ASSETS $ 13,515,290.27 3,086,973.29

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, 

AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 516,756.57 78,349.28
Accrued liabilities 76,280.00 30,837.27
Due to other funds 2,000.00 0.00
Due to state and federal government 136,446.35 0.00
Due to other governmental units 0.00 0.00
Due to individuals 18,794.26 50,535.65
Unearned revenue 24,090.00 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 774,367.18 159,722.20

Deferred inflows of resources
Taxes levied for next fiscal year 0.00 1,344,874.40

Fund balances
Nonspendable 1,764,764.22 33,242.10
Restricted 0.00 1,549,134.59
Committed 4,812,971.75 0.00
Assigned 733,815.27 0.00
Unassigned 5,429,371.85 0.00

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 12,740,923.09 1,582,376.69

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED
INFLOWS, AND FUND BALANCE $ 13,515,290.27 3,086,973.29

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mason County, Michigan

Balance Sheet- Governmental Funds

December 31, 2023
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COMMUNITY TOTAL
DEVELOPMENT GOVERN- GOVERN-

ROAD BLOCK PUBLIC MENTAL MENTAL
PATROL GRANT IMPROVEMENT OTHER FUNDS

9,488.65 3,998,057.01 1,185,361.14 4,469,849.03 10,136,525.49
720,881.82 1,313,604.41 8,579,667.48 7,157,233.19 30,322,779.63

695,624.60 0.00 0.00 722,278.76 2,762,777.76

0.00 0.00 0.00 8,409.71 26,291.93
918.56 3,099.91 58,321.13 37,815.16 179,037.79

69,564.36 0.00 0.00 200,314.89 568,395.48
9,168.52 0.00 0.00 8,583.34 56,690.83

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,675,546.13

31,107.90 0.00 0.00 9,406.17 162,974.26

1,536,754.41 5,314,761.33 9,823,349.75 12,613,890.25 45,891,019.30

43,929.06 0.00 0.00 283,924.10 922,959.01
42,267.36 0.00 0.00 10,992.30 160,376.93

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 9,774.01 146,220.36
0.00 0.00 0.00 74,350.65 74,350.65
0.00 0.00 0.00 162.05 69,491.96
0.00 0.00 0.00 499,587.79 523,677.79

86,196.42 0.00 0.00 878,790.90 1,899,076.70

695,624.60 0.00 0.00 697,711.50 2,738,210.50

31,107.90 0.00 0.00 9,406.17 1,838,520.39
723,825.49 0.00 0.00 2,315,969.14 4,588,929.22

0.00 5,314,761.33 0.00 4,146,664.77 14,274,397.85
0.00 0.00 9,823,349.75 4,565,347.77 15,122,512.79
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,429,371.85

754,933.39 5,314,761.33 9,823,349.75 11,037,387.85 41,253,732.10

1,536,754.41 5,314,761.33 9,823,349.75 12,613,890.25 45,891,019.30
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Total fund balances for governmental funds $ 41,253,732.10
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement 

of Net Position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources

and therefore are not reported in the funds.
Land and land improvements $ 1,021,673.59
Buildings and improvements 18,380,789.28
Vehicles and equipment 4,018,585.69
Accumulated depreciation (13,859,545.80) 9,561,502.76

Internal service funds are used by management to charge
costs of certain activities, such as insurance, to individual
funds.  The assets and liabilities of the internal service
 funds are included in governmental activities in 
the Statement of Net Position. $ 22,148,329.10
Less: net capital assets included above (8,750.00)         22,139,579.10

Accrued vacation and sick time earned by eligible employees is not payable
in the current period and therefore is not reported in the funds.  However, 
these amounts are included in the Statement of Net Position.  (655,791.42)

Net deferred inflows/outflows are not earned expended in the current period
 and therefore are not reported in the funds.  However, 
these amounts are included in the Statement of Net Position.  2,295,724.00

Pensions earned by eligible employees is not payable in the current
 period and therefore is not reported in the funds.  However, 
these amounts are included in the Statement of Net Position.  (14,736,736.00)

Net OPEB assets are not current financial resources and therefore are reported in
the funds. However, these amounts are included in the Statement of Net Position.  2,242,593.00

Accrued post closure care for landfills is not payable in the current period
and therefore is not reported in the funds.  However, these amounts
 are included in the Statement of Net Position. (285,154.60)

Net position of governmental activities $ 61,815,448.94

Mason County, Michigan
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

To The Statement of Net Position
December 31,  2023
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JAIL
GENERAL OPERATIONS

REVENUES
General property taxes $ 13,044,994.41 1,317,814.66
Permits and regulatory licenses 85,585.00 0.00
Intergovernmental

Federal/State 2,308,824.52 0.00
Charges for services 747,384.46 145,973.88
Fines and forfeitures 2,275.00 0.00
Interest and rents 658,185.58 57,150.41
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 344,545.20 7,820.70          
Miscellaneous 426,933.63 5,315.37

TOTAL REVENUES 17,618,727.80 1,534,075.02

EXPENDITURES
Current

Legislative 475,789.04 0.00
Judicial 2,012,269.93 0.00
General government administration 3,713,351.57 0.00
Public safety 928,977.89 3,379,917.34
Public works 32,097.46 0.00
Health and social services 708,369.49 0.00
Recreation and cultural 9,493.62 0.00
Miscellaneous 45,546.80 0.00

Capital outlay 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 7,925,895.80 3,379,917.34

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 9,692,832.00 (1,845,842.32)  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 0.00 2,019,000.00
Transfers out (12,915,106.00) (151,250.00)

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) (12,915,106.00) 1,867,750.00

Change in Fund Balance (3,222,274.00) 21,907.68

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 15,965,197.09 1,560,469.01

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT (2,000.00) 0.00

FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 $ 12,740,923.09 1,582,376.69

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mason County, Michigan

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

And Changes in Fund Balance
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COMMUNITY OTHER TOTAL

DEVELOPMENT GOVERN- GOVERN-
ROAD BLOCK PUBLIC MENTAL MENTAL

PATROL GRANT IMPROVEMENT FUNDS FUNDS

681,612.46 0.00 0.00 854,183.30 15,898,604.83
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 85,585.00

0.00
108,390.95 0.00 0.00 834,714.52 3,251,929.99
247,426.30 0.00 0.00 709,023.23 1,849,807.87

0.00 0.00 0.00 18,042.15 20,317.15
38,229.33 6,542.77 213,866.15 303,659.50 1,277,633.74
12,598.10 (40,367.24) 191,391.57 151,575.13 667,563.46
23,503.78 79,222.60 0.00 235,112.00 770,087.38

1,111,760.92 45,398.13 405,257.72 3,106,309.83 23,821,529.42

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 475,789.04
0.00 0.00 0.00 1,247,228.17 3,259,498.10
0.00 68,023.69 0.00 996,747.58 4,778,122.84

3,140,135.82 0.00 0.00 30,044.98 7,479,076.03
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 32,097.46
0.00 0.00 0.00 1,457,197.32 2,165,566.81
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,493.62
0.00 0.00 0.00 91,610.67 137,157.47
0.00 0.00 0.00 604,004.12 604,004.12

3,140,135.82 68,023.69 0.00 4,426,832.84 18,940,805.49

(2,028,374.90) (22,625.56) 405,257.72 (1,320,523.01) 4,880,723.93

2,265,075.00 5,250,000.00 902,956.00 2,135,525.00 12,572,556.00
(337,600.00) 0.00 0.00 0.00 (13,403,956.00)

1,927,475.00 5,250,000.00 902,956.00 2,135,525.00 (831,400.00)

(100,899.90) 5,227,374.44 1,308,213.72 815,001.99 4,049,323.93

855,833.29 87,386.89 8,515,136.03 10,222,385.86 37,206,408.17

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (2,000.00)

754,933.39 5,314,761.33 9,823,349.75 11,037,387.85 41,253,732.10
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Net change in fund balance - total governmental funds $ 4,049,323.93
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities

are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures.  However, in the 

Statement of Activities, the costs of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. 

Vehicles and equipment $ 510,282.91
Depreciation expense (985,737.97) (475,455.06)

Governmental funds report deposits into a trust fund as expense.

However, in the Statement of Activities, the deposit and related 

income is recorded as a decrease in the Pension liability. (521,624.98)

Governmental funds do not record gains and losses from the disposal of capital assets (9,171.26)

Governmental funds report deposits into a trust fund as expense.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the deposit and related 
income is recorded as a decrease in the Retiree Health Insurance liability. 307,430.00

Internal service funds are used by management to charge
costs of certain activities, such as insurance, to individual
 funds.  The net revenue (expense) of the internal service
funds is reported with governmental activities in the
Statement of Activities. $ 1,707,767.54
Add: depreciation expense included above 4,299.98 1,712,067.52

Estimates for accrued vacation and sick time,  and accrued post closure
increase the governmental activities expenses on the Statement of Activities. 47,544.38

Changes in net position of governmental activities $ 5,110,114.53

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Mason County, Michigan
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

In Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
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MEDICAL
PUBLIC CARE
WORKS FACILITY

ASSETS 
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 468,091.15 3,366,510.12
Investments (net of premiums and discounts) 1,162,812.01 8,815,010.86
Receivables

Property Taxes and Special Assessment Receivable 0.00 2,252,664.60
Accounts (net of allowance for doubtful accounts) 35,929.63 101,553.99
Leases receivable 99,760.00 0.00
Other 4,589.03 42,357.78
Deposit 0.00 0.00

Due from other governmental units 39,450.20 970,043.77
Inventory 0.00 0.00
Prepaid items 985.95 0.00

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,811,617.97 15,548,141.12

Noncurrent assets
Leases receivable 1,575,786.13 0.00
Land 0.00 562,601.00
Sewer & water systems 1,415,828.06 0.00
Land improvements 0.00 239,213.26
Buildings 0.00 8,041,678.47
Equipment 7,045.02 2,010,575.12
Accumulated depreciation (865,163.17) (6,711,358.15)

NET NONCURRENT ASSETS 2,133,496.04 4,142,709.70

TOTAL ASSETS 3,945,114.01 19,690,850.82

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES - PENSION AND OPEB 0.00 2,407,521.00

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED

 OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 3,945,114.01 22,098,371.82

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Mason County, Michigan
Balance Sheet - Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2023
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GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES

DELINQUENT OTHER TOTAL INTERNAL
TAX ENTERPRISE PROPRIETARY SERVICE

REVOLVING FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS

1,293,123.00 2,182,145.75 7,309,870.02 842,950.31
4,176,039.41 1,472,284.07 15,626,146.35 20,519,100.25

965,974.17 0.00 3,218,638.77 0.00
3,630.00 456.63 141,570.25 0.00

0.00 0.00 99,760.00 0.00
27,778.25 7,979.48 82,704.54 293,210.55

0.00 0.00 0.00 573,954.99
17,066.49 (0.00)               1,026,560.46 0.00

0.00 23,053.23       23,053.23 0.00
2,956.92 10,812.84 14,755.71 115,280.08

6,486,568.24 3,696,732.00 27,543,059.33 22,344,496.18

0.00 0.00 1,575,786.13 0.00
0.00 100,102.65 662,703.65 0.00
0.00 117,392.00 1,533,220.06 0.00
0.00 2,481,681.63 2,720,894.89 0.00
0.00 1,861,024.73 9,902,703.20 0.00
0.00 777,425.61 2,795,045.75 82,274.81
0.00 (3,300,090.03) (10,876,611.35) (73,524.81)

0.00 2,037,536.59 8,313,742.33 8,750.00

6,486,568.24 5,734,268.59 35,856,801.66 22,353,246.18

0.00 0.00 2,407,521.00 0.00

6,486,568.24 5,734,268.59 38,264,322.66 22,353,246.18

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS

22



MEDICAL
PUBLIC CARE
WORKS FACILITY

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, 

AND NET POSITION
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 1,531.05 336,326.88
Accrued liabilities 0.00 588,825.57
Due to individuals 0.00 36,841.50
Advances from other funds 1,675,546.13 0.00
Due to other units 0.00 0.00

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,677,077.18 961,993.95

Noncurrent liabilities
    Compensated absences 0.00 307,791.22
    Net pension liability 0.00 5,092,384.00

TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 0.00 5,400,175.22

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,677,077.18 6,362,169.17

Deferred inflows of resources
   Pension deferred inflows 0.00 1,227,943.00

Taxes levied for next fiscal year 0.00 2,252,664.60

          TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 0.00 3,480,607.60

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 557,709.91 4,142,709.70
Restricted 0.00 0.00
Unrestricted 1,710,326.92 8,112,885.35

          TOTAL NET POSITION 2,268,036.83 12,255,595.05

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED
INFLOWS, AND NET POSITION $ 3,945,114.01 22,098,371.82

Mason County, Michigan
Balance Sheet - Proprietary Funds 

December 31, 2023

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES

DELINQUENT OTHER TOTAL INTERNAL
TAX ENTERPRISE PROPRIETARY SERVICE

REVOLVING FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS

0.00 13,363.95 351,221.88 1,351.63
0.00 1,397.40 590,222.97 203,565.45

4,429.66 114,761.93 156,033.09 0.00
0.00 0.00 1,675,546.13 0.00

2,634.92 0.00 2,634.92 0.00

7,064.58 129,523.28 2,775,658.99 204,917.08

0.00 2,106.36 309,897.58 0.00
0.00 0.00 5,092,384.00 0.00

0.00 2,106.36 5,402,281.58 0.00

7,064.58 131,629.64 8,177,940.57 204,917.08

0.00 0.00 1,227,943.00 0.00
0.00 9,284.00 2,261,948.60 0.00

0.00 9,284.00 3,489,891.60 0.00

0.00 2,037,536.59 6,737,956.20 8,750.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 21,616,681.28

6,479,503.66 3,555,818.36 19,858,534.29 522,897.82

6,479,503.66 5,593,354.95 26,596,490.49 22,148,329.10

6,486,568.24 5,734,268.59 38,264,322.66 22,353,246.18

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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MEDICAL
PUBLIC CARE
WORKS FACILITY

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 215,233.12 12,469,001.10
Reimbursements 222,983.08 0.00
Rentals 0.00 0.00
Other

Administrative fees and penalties 0.00 0.00
Miscellaneous 0.00 59,566.13

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 438,216.20 12,528,567.23

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal services and fringe benefits 0.00 10,321,551.81
Utilities and telephone 14,497.44 346,327.44
Contractual services 92,949.26 797,030.71
Repairs and maintenance 1,023.75 97,139.09
Depreciation 40,616.51 262,622.36
Other 179,613.81 2,869,900.72

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 328,700.77 14,694,572.13

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 109,515.43 (2,166,004.90)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Property taxes 0.00 2,339,782.38
State and federal grants 0.00 291,441.82
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 14,549.30 168,634.40
Interest and fees (58,225.08) 0.00
Interest on investments 52,844.82 278,301.81

TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 9,169.04 3,078,160.41

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS 118,684.47 912,155.51

TRANSFERS IN (OUT)
Transfers in 0.00 0.00

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 118,684.47 912,155.51

NET POSITION, JANUARY 1 2,149,352.36 11,343,439.54

NET POSITION, DECEMBER 31 $ 2,268,036.83 12,255,595.05

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES

DELINQUENT OTHER TOTAL INTERNAL
TAX ENTERPRISE PROPRIETARY SERVICE

REVOLVING FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS

245,859.01 790,016.00 13,720,109.23 1,428,757.86
516.76 909.11 224,408.95 0.00

0.00 41,249.51 41,249.51 12,612.69

112,498.98 0.00 112,498.98 0.00
0.00 53,382.15 112,948.28 57,418.00

358,874.75 885,556.77 14,211,214.95 1,498,788.55

0.00 224,706.38 10,546,258.19 1,118,397.51
0.00 50,158.14 410,983.02 88.07

5,798.50 93,701.13 989,479.60 111,330.53
0.00 69,586.83 167,749.67 31,581.02
0.00 113,115.50 416,354.37 4,299.98

4,125.84 288,146.48 3,341,786.85 26,206.90

9,924.34 839,414.46 15,872,611.70 1,291,904.01

348,950.41 46,142.31 (1,661,396.75) 206,884.54

0.00 0.00 2,339,782.38 0.00
0.00 4,500.00 295,941.82 0.00

97,696.46 30,312.14 311,192.30 186,365.25
0.00 0.00 (58,225.08) 0.00

144,958.07 98,337.54 574,442.24 932,117.75

242,654.53 133,149.68 3,463,133.66 1,118,483.00

591,604.94 179,291.99 1,801,736.91 1,325,367.54

0.00 449,000.00 449,000.00 382,400.00

591,604.94 628,291.99 2,250,736.91 1,707,767.54

5,887,898.72 4,965,062.96 24,345,753.58 20,440,561.56

6,479,503.66 5,593,354.95 26,596,490.49 22,148,329.10

ENTERPRISE FUNDS
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
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MEDICAL
PUBLIC CARE
WORKS FACILITY

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Delinquent tax collections $ 0.00 0.00
Delinquent tax disbursements 0.00 0.00
Payments to benefit providers 0.00 (3,208,993.12)
Payments from customers 447,617.78 11,246,860.07
Payments to suppliers (404,798.47) (3,883,589.50)
Payments to employees 0.00 (7,034,185.70)
Other receipts (payments) 55,406.45 139,152.89

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 98,225.76 (2,740,755.36)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital acquisitions 0.00 (353,203.33)
Interest paid (58,225.08) 0.00
Lease receivable 96,260.00 0.00

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) CAPITAL
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 38,034.92 (353,203.33)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Property taxes 0.00 2,339,782.38
Operating grants 0.00 291,441.82
Advances (to) from other funds (96,260.00) 0.00
Transfers in (out) 0.00 0.00

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (96,260.00) 2,631,224.20

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase / maturity of investments (340,415.22) (680,799.52)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 14,549.30 168,634.40
Interest received 52,844.82 278,301.81

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (273,021.10) (233,863.31)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (233,020.42) (696,597.80)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, JANUARY 1 701,111.57 4,063,107.92

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, DECEMBER 31 $ 468,091.15 3,366,510.12

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES

DELINQUENT OTHER TOTAL INTERNAL
TAX ENTERPRISE PROPRIETARY SERVICE

REVOLVING FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS

2,951,354.10 444,918.45 3,396,272.55 0.00
(2,561,450.15) (101,627.99) (2,663,078.14) 0.00

0.00 (64,670.56) (3,273,663.68) (1,297,323.03)
0.00 489,929.31 12,184,407.16 1,531,103.06

(9,730.43) (475,384.79) (4,773,503.19) (146,942.37)
0.00 (158,411.70) (7,192,597.40) (15,368.37)

(13,678.93) 89,584.00 270,464.41 1,248,549.14

366,494.59 224,336.72 (2,051,698.29) 1,320,018.43

0.00 (14,500.00) (367,703.33) 0.00
0.00 0.00 (58,225.08) 0.00
0.00 0.00 96,260.00 0.00

0.00 (14,500.00) (329,668.41) 0.00

0.00 0.00 2,339,782.38 0.00
0.00 4,500.00 295,941.82 0.00
0.00 0.00 (96,260.00) 0.00
0.00 449,000.00 449,000.00 382,400.00

0.00 453,500.00 2,988,464.20 382,400.00

294,642.25 (257,700.54) (984,273.03) (3,356,633.76)
97,696.46 30,312.14 311,192.30 186,365.25

144,958.07 98,337.54 574,442.24 932,117.75

537,296.78 (129,050.86) (98,638.49) (2,238,150.76)

903,791.37 534,285.86 508,459.01 (535,732.33)

389,331.63 1,647,859.89 6,801,411.01 1,378,682.64

1,293,123.00 2,182,145.75 7,309,870.02 842,950.31

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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MEDICAL
PUBLIC CARE
WORKS FACILITY

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities

Operating income (loss) $ 109,515.43 (2,166,004.90)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation 40,616.51 262,622.36

Change in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (Increase) in taxes receivable 0.00 (154,453.26)
Decrease (Increase) in accounts receivable 4,518.62 (9,873.43)
Decrease (Increase) in other receivables (2,819.13) (24,313.97)
Decrease (Increase) in due from other units 4,883.46 (244,553.51)
Decrease (Increase) due from other funds 0.00 0.00
Decrease (increase) in deposits 0.00 0.00
Decrease (Increase) in prepaid items 733.95 0.00
Decrease (Increase) in deferred outflows 0.00 1,571,686.00
Decrease (Increase) in inventories 0.00 0.00
Increase (decrease) due to other funds 0.00 0.00
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable (59,223.08) 199,114.26
Increase (Decrease) in other liabilities 0.00 (2,174,978.91)

Total adjustments (11,289.67) (574,750.46)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 98,225.76 (2,740,755.36)

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Mason County, Michigan

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES

DELINQUENT OTHER TOTAL INTERNAL
TAX ENTERPRISE PROPRIETARY SERVICE

REVOLVING FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS

348,950.41 46,142.31 (1,661,396.75) 206,884.54

0.00 113,115.50 416,354.37 4,299.98

28,774.12 0.00 (125,679.14) 0.00
(3,630.00) 6.72 (8,978.09) 0.00

(14,287.50) (4,818.67) (46,239.27) (262,076.64)
1,354.00 16,399.58 (221,916.47) 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 17,499.53
0.00 0.00 0.00 1,537,665.63

177.91 (31.67) 880.19 (103,230.90)
0.00 0.00 1,571,686.00 0.00
0.00 839.99 839.99 0.00
0.00 (725.56) (725.56) (16,773.97)
0.00 (3,894.35) 135,996.83 (23,403.87)

5,155.65 57,302.87 (2,112,520.39) (40,845.87)

17,544.18 178,194.41 (390,301.54) 1,113,133.89

366,494.59 224,336.72 (2,051,698.29) 1,320,018.43

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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Custodial Funds

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,700,494.63     
Investments 10,838,773.50   
Accounts receivable 421,058.58        
Due from other funds 2,000.00            
Interest receivable 52,767.99          

   Prepaid items 2,492.08

TOTAL ASSETS 13,017,586.78

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 6,817.44
Bonds payable 35,399.21
Restitution payable 20,796.16
Undistributed taxes 1,251,906.06
Due to other units 1,585.95
Other current liabilities 21,011.73
Due to State of Michigan 125,785.01

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,463,301.56

NET POSITION
Restricted $ 11,554,285.22

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

December 31, 2023
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Custodial Funds

ADDITIONS
Collections for other governments $ 23,366,168.51  
Interest and dividends 599,763.01       

TOTAL ADDITIONS 23,965,931.52

DEDUCTIONS
Disbursements to other governments 24,552,329.13

NET CHANGE IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION (586,397.61)

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 12,140,682.83

NET POSITION, END OF THE YEAR $ 11,554,285.22

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mason County, Michigan 

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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DISTRICT
LIBRARY DRAIN

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,865.31 104,549.34
Investments 428,894.55 0.00
Receivables
   Accounts receivable 346.49 0.00

Taxes and special assessments 1,147,085.10 10,184.32
Interest receivable 692.52 94.22

Prepaid items 18,579.93 0.00
Due from other units 5,397.20 0.00
Due from other component units 0.00 0.00
Inventories 0.00 0.00
Net OPEB asset 0.00 0.00
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 1,877,620.33 293,877.67

TOTAL ASSETS 3,489,481.43 408,705.55

Deferred outflows of resources
Pension Investment Experience and Contributions 280,478.00 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED 
OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 3,769,959.43 408,705.55

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,

AND NET POSITION
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 42,087.17 0.00
Accrued liabilities 24,977.36 0.00
Advances from State 0.00 0.00
Due to other component units 0.00 36,432.36
Bond and installment lease payable - current 0.00 0.00

67,064.53 36,432.36
Noncurrent liabilities

Bond and installment lease payable - long-term 0.00 0.00
Net Pension liability 948,632.00 0.00

948,632.00 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,015,696.53 36,432.36
Deferred inflows of resources
   Deferred inflows 182,908.00 0.00

Unavailable tax revenue 1,147,085.10 10,184.32

    TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,329,993.10 10,184.32

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 1,877,620.33 293,877.67
Restricted for
   OPEB 0.00 0.00

Primary/Local Roads 0.00 0.00
Unrestricted (453,350.53) 68,211.20

TOTAL NET POSITION 1,424,269.80 362,088.87

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND NET POSITION $ 3,769,959.43 408,705.55

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mason County, Michigan
Balance Sheet

Discretely Presented Component Units
December 31, 2023
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DRAIN ROAD LAKE
REVOLVING COMMISSION IMPROVEMENT TOTAL

130,280.07 1,725,679.00 623,108.23 2,594,481.95
15,861.99 0.00 79,945.98 524,702.52

0.00 1,543,339.00 0.00 1,543,685.49
0.00 0.00 254,416.07 1,411,685.49

60.54 0.00 1,684.71 2,531.99
0.00 47,633.00 0.00 66,212.93
0.00 0.00 0.00 5,397.20

36,432.36 0.00 0.00 36,432.36
0.00 1,179,913.00 0.00 1,179,913.00
0.00 217,589.00 0.00 217,589.00
0.00 59,889,821.00 0.00 62,061,319.00

182,634.96 64,603,974.00 959,154.99 69,643,950.93

0.00 978,454.00 0.00 1,258,932.00

182,634.96 65,582,428.00 959,154.99 70,902,882.93

0.00 180,804.00 3,300.00 226,191.17
0.00 105,055.00 0.00 130,032.36
0.00 301,973.00 0.00 301,973.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 36,432.36
0.00 510,280.00 0.00 510,280.00

0.00 1,098,112.00 3,300.00 1,204,908.89

0.00 1,142,470.00 0.00 1,142,470.00
0.00 2,466,522.00 0.00 3,415,154.00

0.00 3,608,992.00 0.00 4,557,624.00

0.00 4,707,104.00 3,300.00 5,762,532.89

0.00 90,731.00 0.00 273,639.00
0.00 0.00 254,416.07 1,411,685.49

0.00 90,731.00 254,416.07 1,685,324.49

0.00 58,391,419.00 0.00 60,562,917.00

0.00 154,080.00 0.00 154,080.00
0.00 2,239,094.00 0.00 2,239,094.00

182,634.96 0.00 701,438.92 498,934.55

182,634.96 60,784,593.00 701,438.92 63,455,025.55

182,634.96 65,582,428.00 959,154.99 70,902,882.93
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PROGRAM
REVENUES

CHARGES

FOR

EXPENSES SERVICES

REVENUES
Drainage districts $ 18,850.86 10,480.97
Lake Improvement district 253,855.39 318,288.01
District Library 1,461,295.54 102,253.91
Road Commission 9,380,188.00 3,324,330.00

TOTAL REVENUES $ 11,114,189.79 3,755,352.89

General revenues
Property taxes
Gain on sale of capital assets
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments
Miscellaneous
Unrestricted investment earnings

Total general revenues

Change in net position

Net position - January 1

Net position - December 31

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Activities

Discretely Present Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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LAKE

OPERATING CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT

GRANTS AND GRANTS AND & DRAINAGE ROAD DISTRICT

CONTRIBUTIONS CONTRIBUTIONS DISTRICTS COMMISSION LIBRARY TOTAL

0.00 0.00 (8,369.89) 0.00 0.00 (8,369.89)
0.00 0.00 64,432.62 0.00 0.00 64,432.62

33,647.94 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,325,393.69) (1,325,393.69)
8,093,607.00 2,062,048.00 0.00 4,099,797.00 0.00 4,099,797.00

8,127,254.94 2,062,048.00 56,062.73 4,099,797.00 (1,325,393.69) 2,830,466.04

0.00 0.00 1,071,997.63 1,071,997.63
0.00 574,194.00 0.00 574,194.00

2,059.48 0.00 6,009.32 8,068.80
0.00 30,762.00 98,889.89 129,651.89

36,416.33 84,147.00 26,481.68 147,045.01

38,475.81 689,103.00 1,203,378.52 1,930,957.33

94,538.54 4,788,900.00 (122,015.17) 4,761,423.37

1,151,624.21 55,995,693.00 1,546,284.97 58,693,602.18

$ 1,246,162.75 60,784,593.00 1,424,269.80 63,455,025.55

NET (EXPENSE) REVENUE
REVENUES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROGRAM
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1.  DESCRIPTION OF COUNTY AND FUND TYPES:

The County of Mason, Michigan, having over 25 miles of Lake Michigan shoreline, covers an area of 
approximately 540 square miles with its county seat located in the City of Ludington.  The County 
operates under a seven member elected Board of Commissioners and provides services to its more than 
29,000 residents in areas including law enforcement, administration of justice, community enrichment and 
development, and human services.

A. Reporting Entity

All funds under direct control of the County of Mason are included in this report.

The funds that have been included in this report are those that meet the criteria established by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  Those criteria include the appointment of a 
voting majority of the governing body, legal entity, and fiscal independence or dependence.

Blended Component Units

In conformity with U.S. GAAP, the financial statements of component units have been included in 
the financial reporting entity as blended component units.

For financial reporting purposes, the following component is reported as if it were part of the 
County’s operations:

Building Authority Construction - Jail.

Discretely Presented Component Units

County Drain Funds - Each of the drainage or revolving drainage districts are separate legal 
entities, with the power to contract, to sue, to hold, manage and dispose of real and personal 
property, etc.  The full faith and credit of the County may be given for the debt of the drainage 
districts.

County Road Commission Fund - The Road Commission is governed by three appointees of the 
County’s Board who are not County Board members.  The Road Commission is responsible for the 
construction and maintenance of the County’s system of roads and bridges and is principally 
funded by State-collected vehicle fuel and registration taxes under Public Act 51.  The County has 
budgetary control and appropriation authority over its activities; however, such has not been
exercised.

District Library Fund – The District Library is a separate legal entity as created by Act 24, of Public 
Acts of 1989, as amended, and must operate as such pursuant to state law and in accordance with 
the agreement establishing the District Library.  The County has a contractual arrangement with the 
District Library and thus may include it as a discretely presented component unit.

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation

Under Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements 
– and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments, the annual 
financial report includes two separate sets of statements, the government-wide financial statements 
and the fund financial statements.  The measurement focus, basis of accounting and basis of 
presentation differs between the government-wide financial statements and the fund financial 
statements.  These differences, along with an explanation of the differing purposes and information 
provided by these separate financial statements, are described in the sections below.
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Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and statement of 
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its 
component units using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting.  The economic resources measurement focus results in the reporting of all inflows, 
outflows, and balances affecting or reflecting the County’s net position.  Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue 
as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements.  Exceptions to this rule are charges between the County’s various functions 
where elimination would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various 
functions concerned.

Both the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities).  The structure of these two statements is further described in the 
following two paragraphs.

Statement of Net Position – This statement is designed to display the financial position of the 
County.  The County reports all capital assets, including infrastructure, and all long-term liabilities, 
such as long-term debt on the Statement of Net Position.  The net position of the County is broken 
down into three categories, 1) net investment in capital assets; 2) restricted; and 3) unrestricted.  
Restrictions shown are those imposed by parties outside the County, such as creditors, grantors, 
contributors, laws, and regulations of other governments.  When both restricted and unrestricted 
resources are available for use, it is the government’s policy to use restricted resources first, and 
then unrestricted resources as they are needed.  Internal service funds have been consolidated into 
the government or business-type activities that they primarily benefit.

Statement of Activities – This statement demonstrates the degree to which the direct and indirect 
expenses of a given function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are 
those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function.  Program revenues include: 1) charges to 
customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 
function.  Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported as 
general revenues.  Just as the Statement of Net Position includes all capital assets, the Statement 
of Activities includes all depreciation expenses.  In the Statement of Activities, the operational 
internal service funds have been consolidated into the government or business-type activities that 
they primarily benefit.

Fund Financial Statements

The accounts of the County are organized on the basis of funds.  A fund is an independent fiscal 
and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.  Fund accounting segregates funds 
according to their intended purpose and is used to aid management in demonstrating compliance 
with finance-related legal and contractual provisions.  The minimum number of funds is maintained 
consistent with legal and managerial requirements.  Separate financial statements are provided for 
governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from 
the government-wide financial statements.  All individual funds considered major are reported as 
separate columns in the fund financial statements.
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As in the government-wide financial statements, as a general rule the effect of interfund activity has 
been eliminated from the fund financial statements.  Exceptions to this general rule are charges 
between the County’s various functions where elimination would distort the direct costs and 
program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

The various funds are grouped in the financial statements in this report into three broad fund 
categories:

Governmental Funds

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The current financial resources 
measurement focus results in the reporting of only near-term (current) inflows, outflows, and 
balances of expendable (spendable) financial resources.  Under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when they are susceptible to accrual (i.e., when they are 
“measurable and available”).  “Measurable” means the amount of the transaction can be 
determined, and “available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
pay liabilities of the current period.  Revenues are considered to be available if they are expected to 
be received within 60 days after year-end.  Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability 
is incurred, except for debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated 
absences, and claims and judgments, which are recorded when payment is due.

In applying the susceptible to accrual concept under the modified accrual basis, the following 
revenue sources are deemed both measurable and available:  property taxes, investment earnings, 
and charges for services.  Changes in the fair value of investments are recognized in interest 
revenues at the end of each year.  Fines, forfeitures, and licenses and permit revenues are 
recorded when the County receives cash because they are not generally measurable until actually 
received.  Shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if susceptible to accrual 
criteria, in which case, they are recorded when those criteria are met.  Expenditure-driven grants 
are recognized as revenue when qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other grant 
requirements have been met.

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the County.  It is used to account 
for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Jail Operations - Special Revenue Fund use to account for the financial resources of the operations 
of the County jail.

Road Patrol - Special Revenue Fund use to account for the financial resources of the sheriff’s 
department road patrol.

Public Improvement - Capital Projects Fund that is used to account for financial resources to be 
used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by 
Proprietary Funds and Fiduciary Funds).

Proprietary Funds

All proprietary funds are accounted for using economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting.  The economic resources measurement focus results in the reporting 
of all inflows, outflows, and balances affecting or reflecting the fund net position.  Under the accrual 
basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the cash flows.  Proprietary funds distinguish 
operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
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Public Works - Enterprise Fund that is used to account for operations of the Mason County 
Department of Public Works. The Public works is responsible for the care and maintenance of the 
Mason County Sewage Disposal System as well as the post closure care of the Mason County 
Landfill and the Pere Marquette Landfill.

Medical Care Facility - An enterprise fund that is used for the operations of Oakview Medical Care 
Facility. Oakview is a medical care facility that offers a broad range of high quality, long-term health 
care services.

Delinquent Tax Revolving - An enterprise fund that is used to attempt to collect delinquent taxes 
within the County. Local units within the County are reimbursed funds they are owed for property 
taxes and the County then uses their power to collect those taxes.

Fiduciary Funds

Custodial Funds - Custodial Funds are used to account for assets held by the County in a trustee 
capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments, and/or other 
funds.  These include only Custodial Funds.  

C. General Capital Assets and Long-Term Liabilities

Capital Assets, which include land, buildings, land improvements, equipment, vehicles and 
infrastructure assets are reported in the applicable governmental, business-type activity or 
component unit columns in the government-wide financial statements.  The capitalization 
thresholds are $5,000 for buildings, land improvements, equipment, and vehicles.  Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost.  Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of 
donation.  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend assets lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets of governmental activities are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Depreciable Life

Buildings and improvements 5-40 years
Equipment and vehicles 3-20 years
Drains and land improvements 8-20 years
Sewer systems     40 years

In the government-wide financial statements and Proprietary Fund financial statements, long-term 
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable statement of net 
position.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets used by Proprietary Funds is charged as an expense 
against their operations.  Accumulated depreciation is reported on the Proprietary Fund balance 
sheet.  The straight-line depreciation method is applied over the estimated useful lives of capital
assets held by Proprietary Funds.  Estimated useful lives are:

Asset Depreciable Life

Buildings and improvements 5-40 years
Equipment and vehicles 3-20 years
Drains and land improvements 8-20 years
Sewer systems     40 years
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Depreciation is computed on the sum-of-the-years-digits method for road equipment and the 
straight-line method for all other capital assets. The Uniform Accounting Procedures Manual for 
Michigan County Road Commissions provides for recording depreciation in the Road Commission 
Fund as a charge to various expense accounts and a credit to a depreciation credits account. 
Accordingly, the annual depreciation expense does not affect the available operating equities of the 
Road Commission Fund.

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

A. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The County follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements:

1. At the April board meeting, the County Finance Committee submits to the Board of 
Commissioners a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year beginning the following 
January 1.  The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing 
them.

2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
3. The budget is formally adopted by resolution at the October Board of Commissioners’ 

meeting.
4. Any revision to the budget must be approved by the Board of Commissioners.
5. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device for the General 

Fund, Special Revenue Funds and Debt Service Funds. 

Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or amended by the Board of Commissioners during 
the year.  Individual amendments were not material in relation to the original appropriations which 
were amended.  Budget appropriations lapse at year-end.  

B. Investments

Investments are stated at fair value (See Note 31)

C. Advances to other Funds

Noncurrent portions of long-term interfund loans receivable (reported in “Advance to” asset 
accounts) are equally offset by nonspendable fund balance reserve account which indicates that 
they do not constitute “available spendable resources” since they are not a component of net 
current assets.

D. Restricted Assets

Certain resources of the County’s Post Closure Care Trust Fund are set aside for the payment of 
post-closure cost of the Mason County Landfill - Scottville site and are classified as restricted 
assets on the balance sheet because their use is limited by applicable Michigan Department of 
Environmental Quality rules.

E. Prepaid Items

Certain insurance premiums and other expenditures representing costs applicable to future periods 
are recorded as prepaid assets and charged as used.  These prepaid assets recorded in the 
governmental funds do not reflect current appropriable resources and, therefore, an equivalent 
portion of fund balance is nonspendable.
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F. Accounting Period

All financial presentations are for December 31, 2023, or the year then ended.

G. Inventories 

Road Commission inventories are priced at cost as determined on the average unit cost method.  
Inventory items are charged to road construction and maintenance, equipment repairs and 
operations as used.

H. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the County considers all highly liquid debt 
instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents.

3.  ACCUMULATED UNPAID VACATION, SICK PAY, AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AMOUNTS:

Accumulated vacation and sick pay represents a contingent liability to the County which is not expected 
to be liquidated during the current year. Payments to employees for vacation and sick pay will be 
recorded as expenditures when the vacation and sick time is used, and payments are actually made to 
the employees.  Payments of accumulated vacation and sick pay benefits are also made to employees 
upon termination of employment.  The County has accumulated sufficient funds in the Vacation and Sick 
Pay Trust Fund to provide payments of accumulated benefits to employees who terminate their 
employment.  At December 31, 2023, the total accumulated vacation and sick pay liability was 
$655,791.42 for governmental activities and $309,897.58 for business-type activities.

County Road employees earn vacation leave in varying amounts depending on the number of years of 
service. Unpaid vacation leave at December 31, 2023, amounted to $154,348.  Sick leave is accumulated 
at the rate of one day for each month of service with accumulation not to exceed 656 hours or 82 days. 
Unpaid sick leave at December 31, 2023, amounted to $0.00.  Upon termination of employment, vacation 
is payable at 100 percent of the accumulated balance.  Sick leave is payable at 50 percent only upon 
death or retirement.  For future periods, sick pay will no longer accumulate.

4.  EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS IN INDIVIDUAL FUNDS:

P.A. 621 of 1978 provides that counties and other local units of government shall not incur expenditures 
in excess of the amounts appropriated in the formal budget document adopted by the County Board of 
Commissioners.  For the year ended December 31, 2023, Mason County had formally adopted a budget 
for the General Fund, the Special Revenue Fund Types and the Debt Service Fund Types.  The following 
General Fund departments’ expenditures exceeded the amounts appropriated in the formal budget 
document as adopted by the County Board of Commissioners:

VARIANCE
BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

Mason – Oceana 911
Remonumentation

$   158,750.00
       42,700.00

    158,762.00
      43,062.73

  (       12.00)
  (     362.73)

Veterans’ Affairs Grant        57,000.00       57,910.76   (     910.76)
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The following Special Revenue Funds had expenditures and transfers that exceeded the budgets approved 
by the County Board of Commissioners:

VARIANCE
BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

Emergency Management Grants $       6,450.00
       

       9,010.00
     

  (2,560.00)

The Road Commission follows the procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements in accordance with the Uniform Budgeting and Accounting Act (Act No. 621, Public Act of 1978) 
as prescribed by the State of Michigan.  Public Act 621 of 1978, section 18 (1), as amended, provides that 
a County Road Commission shall not incur expenditures in excess of amounts appropriated.  As presented 
in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, the County Road Commission incurred 
expenditures which were in excess of the amounts appropriated as follows:

Total Amount of Budget
Expenditure Line Item Budget Expenditures Variance

Primary Road Preservation/structural 
Primary Road Maintenance
Local Road Preservation/structural Imp.
State Trunkline Maintenance
State Trunkline Non-Maintenance
Other Governmental Agencies
Capital Outlay (net)

$ 3,786,819.00
1,100,400.00
1,719,036.00

937,342.00
138,682.00
478,194.00

$ (106,155.00)

4,073,835.00
1,139,310.00
1,799,802.00

955,553.00
140,858.00
480,846.00

1,076.00

( 287,016.00)
(   38,910.00)
(   80,766.00)
(   18,211.00)
(     2,176.00)
(     2,652.00)
( 107,231.00)

5.  PROPERTY TAXES:

The 2023 property tax revenue includes property taxes levied principally on July 1, 2023, and substantially 
collected in 2023.  The ‘‘2023 property taxes’’ became a lien on July 1, 2023, and were collected by 
December 1, 2023, except for those taxes that were returned delinquent.  Due to the migration of the 
County property taxes from a December levy to a July levy, the County did not record any property tax 
receivable or deferred inflow for general operating purposes at December 31, 2023 in the General Fund.

The total 2023 levy for the County was $17,129,620.12, which was based upon the taxable value as of 
March 1, 2023, of $2,318,748,991.00 at a millage rate of 7.3891.  The component unit District Library 
received $1,146,935.41 based on the same taxable value at a millage rate of 0.4947 mills.

By agreement with various taxing authorities in the County, the County purchased, at face value, the real 
property taxes receivable which became delinquent on March 1, 2023.  These taxes, which are recorded in 
an Enterprise Fund at December 31, 2023, are pledged for repayment of advances, the proceeds of which 
were used to purchase such amounts due to the General Fund and other local units of government.  
Subsequent collections by the County, plus interest, fees and investment earnings, are used to repay the 
loans.  
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The County Board of Commissioners levied the following millage rates in 2023:

General Operating   5.0967
Road Patrol   0.3000
Oakview Medical Care Facility   0.9715
Mason County Jail Operating   0.5800
Senior Citizen   0.2979
Mason/Oceana 911 Operating   0.1400
Soldier and Sailor Relief   0.0030

Total   7.3891

Component unit Mason County District Library Board levied 0.4947 mills in 2023. 

6.  LITIGATION:

There is no pending litigation against the County as of December 31, 2023.

7.  RENTALS UNDER OPERATING LEASE:

The County entered into an agreement with the State of Michigan to provide office space for the 
Department of Human Services.  The original lease was for a fifteen-year period beginning on December 
23, 1996.  The Department of Human Services exercised their option to renew the lease for ten additional 
years in 2021. The annual rental payments due from the State of Michigan for this lease renewal is 
$40,231.68 payable in monthly installments of $3,352.64.  

8.  LONG-TERM ADVANCES:

The following are the interfund advances at December 31, 2023:

ADVANCES TO ADVANCES FROM
FUND OTHER FUNDS FUND OTHER FUNDS

General $ 1,675,546.13                Public works $ 1,675,546.13

9.  CAPITAL ASSETS:

The following schedule summarizes the changes in capital assets for the year ending December 31, 2023:
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Balance Balance
January 1, 

2023
Additions Deductions December 31, 

2023

Governmental Activities
Internal Service Funds

Equipment and vehicles $ 82,274.81             0.00                              0.00           82,274.81

Less:  accumulated depreciation (69,224.83)      (4,299.98)                 0.00           (73,524.81)

Subtotal 13,049.98      (4,299.98)                 0.00              8,750.00

Other governmental funds
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 223,802.00                0.00                              0.00                    223,802.00

Capital assets being depreciated

Buildings and improvements 18,380,789.28 0.00 0.00 18,380,789.28
Land improvements 797,871.59                0.00                            0.00          797,871.59
Equipment and vehicles 3,569,592.49     510,282.91    (143,564.52)       3,936,310.88

Total capital assets being 
depreciated

22,748,253.36 510,282.91   (143,564.52) 23,114,971.75

Less:  accumulated depreciation (12,938,976.26) (981,437.99)     134,393.26    (13,786,020.99)

Net capital assets being depreciated 9,809,277.10 (471,155.08)    (   9,171.26)     9,328,950.76

Total $10,046,129.08 (475,455.06)    (   9,171.26)      9,561,502.76

Business-Type Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land $     662,703.65               0.00              0.00                  662,703.65

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 9,757,078.37 145,624.83 0.00   9,902,703.20

     Land improvements 2,681,406.09     44,842.80     (5,354.00)              2,720,894.89
Sewer system 960,519.60       0.00 0.00 960,519.60
Rural Development sewer project 455,208.46       0.00 0.00 455,208.46
Parks Commission sewer project 72,742.00 0.00 0.00 72,742.00
Parks Commission water project 44,750.00 0.00 0.00 44,750.00
Equipment and vehicles 2,642,501.18    177,235.70 ( 24,691.13)      2,795,045.75

Total capital assets being 
depreciated

16,614,205.70 367,703.33 (30,045.13)              16,951,863.90

      Less:  Accumulated Depreciation (10,490,302.11) (416,354.37)   30,045.13      (10,876,611.35)

Net capital assets being depreciated 6,123,903.59 (  48,651.04)              0.00        6,075,252.55

Total $ 6,786,607.24 (  48,651.04)            0.00        6,737,956.20
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Balance Balance
January 1,

2023 Additions Deductions
December 31, 

2023

Component Unit – District Library:
Land– not being depreciated $ 16,800.00                0.00                 0.00 16,800.00

     Books 860,179.48     104,747.22                 0.00 964,926.70
     Equipment 0.00 19,608.00                 0.00 19,608.00

Building 2,254,796.92               0.00                 0.00      2,254,796.92

Subtotal 3,131,776.40 124,355.22 0.00 3,256,131.62

Less:  accumulated depreciation (1,224,353.64) ( 154,157.65)                 0.00    (1,378,511.29)

Subtotal 1,907,422.76 (   29,802.43)                 0.00      1,877,620.33

Component Unit – Drainage Districts:
Land – not being depreciated 9,800.00               0.00                 0.00             9,800.00
Infrastructure 2,409,319.44                0.00                 0.00      2,409,319.44

Subtotal 2,419,119.44     0.00 0.00 2,419,119.44

Less:  accumulated depreciation (2,106,914.41) (  18,327.36)                 0.00 (  2,125,241.77)

Subtotal 312,205.03 (  18,327.36)                 0.00         293,877.67

Component Unit – Road 
Commission:
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land and improvements 406,769.00     3,787.00                 0.00         410,556.00
Infrastructure land improvements 22,159,259.00               0.00                 0.00    22,159,259.00

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 22,566,028.00       3,787.00                 0.00    22,569,815.00

Capital assets being depreciated
Land and improvements 87,489.00    267,063.00                 0.00         354,552.00
Buildings 2,169,550.00 68,464.00 0.00 2,238,014.00
Equipment – Road 8,088,459.00 618,759.00 0.00 8,707,218.00
Equipment – Shop 95,259.00 2,199.00 0.00 97,458.00
Equipment – Office 110,220.00 1,788.00 0.00 112,008.00
Equipment – Engineering 118,910.00 2,500.00 0.00 121,410.00
Equipment – Yard and storage 144,989.00 0.00 0.00 144,989.00

     Infrastructure – Bridges 13,955,828.00 1,981,696.00 0.00 15,937,524.00
Infrastructure – Roads 40,096,277.00 3,821,826.00                 0.00    43,918,103.00

Total capital assets being 
depreciated

64,866,981.00 6,764,295.00 0.00 71,631,276.00

Less:  accumulated depreciation (31,248,623.00) (3,062,647.00)                 0.00 ( 34,311,270.00)

Net capital assets being depreciated 33,618,358.00
                                                             

3,701,648.00                 0.00    37,320,006.00

Net capital assets – Road 
Commission

56,184,386.00 3,705,435.00                 0.00    59,889.821.00

Total Net Component Units $58,404,013.79 3,657,305.21             0.00    62,061,319.00
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Depreciation expense for governmental activities was charged to the following function and activities of 
the primary government:

Internal Service Funds $ 4,299.98

Governmental Funds
Parks, recreation and cultural 124,253.02
Legislative 1,714.61
Judicial 18,656.49
General governmental administration 59,257.48
Public safety 686,668.90
Public works 10,111.18
Health and social services 80,776.31

981,437.99

Total $ 985,737.97

10.  CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS:

In accordance with Michigan Compiled Laws, the County is authorized to invest in the following 
investment vehicles:

1. Bonds, securities, and other obligations of the United States or an agency or instrumentality of 
the United States.

2. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts, or depository receipts of a state or 
nationally chartered bank or a state or federally chartered savings and loan association, savings 
bank, or credit union whose deposits are insured by an agency of the United States government 
and which maintains a principal office or branch office located in this State under the laws of the 
State or the United States, but only if the bank, savings and loan association, savings bank, or 
credit union is eligible to be a depository of surplus funds belonging to the State under Section 5 
or 6 of Act No. 105 of the Public Acts of 1855, as amended, being Section 21.145 and 21.146 of 
Michigan Compiled Laws.

3. Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the three (3) highest classifications 
established by not less than two (2) standard rating services and which matures no more than 
270 days after the date of purchase.

4. The United States government or federal agency obligations repurchase agreements.
5. Bankers acceptances of United States banks.
6. Mutual funds composed of investment vehicles which are legal for direct investment by local units 

of government in Michigan.

As of December 31, 2023, the carrying amount and bank balance for each type of deposit and investment 
is as follows:

Book Bank FDIC
Balance Balance Insured

Cash deposits $     22,581,327.40         22,955,242.55          1,179,574.01
Investments      77,831,502.25         78,607,607.10       10,067,165.38
Imprest cash                 2,995.00                        0.00                         0.00

$   100,415,824.65      101,562,849.65        11,246,739.39
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Financial Statement Presentation: 

Cash And
Cash

Equivalents Investments Total

Governmental activities $   10,979,475.80      50,841,879.88      61,821,355.68
Business-type activities         7,309,870.02      15,626,146.35      22,936,016.37
Fiduciary funds         1,700,494.63      10,838,773.50      12,539,268.13
Component units         2,594,481.95           524,702.52        3,119,184.47

$    22,584,322.40      77,831,502.25     100,415,824.65

Deposits

There is a custodial credit risk as it relates to deposits.  In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the 
event of a bank failure, the County’s deposits may not be returned to it.  As of December 31, 2023, the 
carrying amount of the County’s deposits were $22,581,327.40 and the bank balance was 
$22,955,242.55, of which $1,179,574.01 was covered by federal depository insurance.  The remaining 
balance of $21,775,668.54 was uninsured and uncollateralized.

Due to significantly higher cash flow at certain periods during the year, the amount the County held as 
cash and cash equivalents increased significantly.  As a result, the amount of uninsured and 
uncollateralized cash and cash equivalents were substantially higher at these peak periods than at year-
end.

Investments

As of December 31, 2023, the carrying amounts and market values for the investments were as follows:

Investment
Type

Carrying
Amount

Weighted
Average
Maturity Rating Percentage

Insured or registered for which the securities are held by the County’s agent in the County’s name:
   

Municipal
      Bonds
CDs

$    8,239,713.45
     28,198,846.43

4.0 Years AAA 40%

Other     41,392,942.37 4.0 Years AAA 60%

$   77,831,502.25

Credit Risk

State law limits investments in certain types of investments to a prime or better rating issued by nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSRO’s). As of December 31, 2023, the County’s
investments were rated by Moody’s as noted above.
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Interest Rate Risk

The County will minimize interest rate risk, which is the risk that the market value of securities in the 
portfolio will fall due to changes in market interest rates, by designating its investment portfolio with the 
objective of obtaining a rate of return through the economic cycles considering risk constraints and cash 
flow characteristics.

Custodial Credit Risk

The County will minimize custodial credit risk, which is the risk that in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty, the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments that are in possession of 
an outside party by diversifying its investments by institution to ensure that potential losses on individual 
securities do not exceed the income generated by the remainder of the portfolio.

11.  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS:

The following is a summary of long-term obligation transactions of the primary government and 
component unit for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Balance Additions Balance Due Within
January 1, 2023 (Deductions) December 31, 2023 One Year

Business Type Activities
Accrued vacation

and sick pay - Airport $     1,486.85     619.51          2,106.36
Accrued vacation

and sick pay - Oakview 337,035.64 (    29,244.42)      307,791.22

Total Business-Type
Activities $   338,522.49 (    28,624.91) 309,897.58       0.00

Less: amount payable
within one year (           0.00)

Long-Term Debt
Business-Type Activities $    309,897.58

Governmental Activities
Primary Government

Accrued post closure
landfill costs $   387,050.58 (  101,895.98)    285,154.60 0.00

Accrued vacation and
sick pay 601,439.82   54,351.60 655,791.42 0.00

Total Primary
Government $   988,490.40 (  47,544.38) 940,946.02       0.00

Less:  amount payable
within one year (       0.00)

Long-Term Debt
Primary Government $   940,946.02
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Balance Additions Balance Due Within
January 1, 2023 (Deductions) December 31, 2023 One Year

Component Units

Road Commission
Installment purchase    

agreements $  1,758,949.00 (   260,547.00) 1,498,402.00 355,932.00
Compensated absences      198,190.00 (    43,842.00)    154,348.00 154,348.00

Total $1,957,139.00 (  304,389.00) 1,652,750.00 510,280.00

The following is a summary of Road Commission outstanding debt at December 31, 2023:

Installment purchase agreement payable to West Shore 
Bank, secured by equipment, due in annual
installments of $35,000, including interest at 1.60%
through 2027.   $ 140,000.00

Installment purchase agreement payable to West Shore 
Bank, secured by equipment, due in annual
installments of $28,571, including interest at 2.20%
through 2027. 114,286.00

Capital Lease Payable to Caterpillar Financial Services, 
Corp., secured by equipment, due in monthly
installments of $3,240, including interest at 5.07%
through November 2024 and a $103,360 balloon payment. 124,502.00

Capital Lease Payable to Shelby State Bank, secured by 
equipment, due in annual installments of $24,156, 
including interest at 3.59% through 2027. 96,532.00

Capital Lease Payable to Caterpillar Financial Services, 
Corp., secured by equipment, due in monthly
installments of $3,406, including interest at 3.59%
through February 2025 and a $105,000 balloon payment 150,168.00

Installment purchase agreement payable to Shelby State
Bank, secured by equipment, due in annual installments 
of $19,174, including interest at 1.88% through 2027.   76,519.00

Installment purchase agreement payable to Shelby State 
Bank, secured by equipment, due in annual 
installments of $55,020, including interest at 1.45%
through January 2029. 329.728.00

Installment purchase agreement payable to West Shore 
Bank, secured by equipment, due in annual
installments of $33,333, including interest at 3.80%
through 2037. _______466,667.00

Subtotal            1,498,402.00
Compensated absences _______154,348.00

Total $____ 1,652,750.00



Mason County, Michigan
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2023

51

The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of December 31, 2023, including interest 
payments are as follows: 

Component Units
Principal Interest Total

Road Commission
2024 $        355,932.00            40,477.00   396,409.00
2025 309,250.00 25,684.00 334,934.00
2026 195,256.00 20,942.00 216,198.00
2027 194,989.00 16,855.00 211,844.00
2028 88,355.00 13,404.00 101,759.00

2029-2033 221,283.00 42,131.00 263,414.00
2034-2037         133,337.00            10,267.00          143,604.00

               Total $     1,498,402.00          169,760.00     1,668,162.00

12.  PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS:

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the following prior period adjustments have resulted in Fund 
Balance/Net Position restatements.

General Fund
Adjust for prior year revenues recorded but not earned                   $(2,000.00)

   
13.  TRANSFERS:

The following are the transfers for the year ended December 31, 2023:

FUND TRANSFER IN FUND TRANSFER OUT

Road Patrol $  2,265,075.00 General $    12,915,106.00
Friend of the Court        587,000.00
Landfill Post Closure
Junk Ordinance Administration
Indigent Defense

40,000.00
15,200.00

248,500.00
Jail Operations   2,019,000.00
Law Library   10,000.00
Community Develop. Block Grant 5,250,000.00
Social Welfare          15,000.00
Child Care      401,075.00
Equipment Replacement      335,300.00
Public Improvement      902,956.00
Mason County Land Bank        100,000.00
Airport      349,000.00
Self-Insurance Liability
Self-Insurance Workers Comp.

     45,000.00
10,000.00

Health, Life, & Pension Insurance   322,000.00                                   

    Subtotal 12,915,106.00   Subtotal        12,915,106.00
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Equipment Replacement          86,725.00 Jail Operations             151,250.00
Jail Construction        59,125.00
Self-Insurance. – Workers Comp.         5,400.00                                   

Subtotal        151,250.00   Subtotal             151,250.00

Equipment Replacement         337,600.00      Road Patrol         337,600.00

                             TOTAL $ 13,403,956.00 $   13,403,956.00

These transfers were made for cash flow purposes.

14.  INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES:

The following are the interfund receivables and payables at December 31, 2023:

Due From Due To
Fund Other Funds Fund Other Funds

Revolving Drain –
Component Unit

$ 36,432.36 Drain – Component Unit $ 36,432.36

Trust & Agency   2,000.00 General 2,000.00

Total $           38,432.36 $          38,432.36

The interfund receivables and payables were made for cash flow purposes.  The $36,432.36 of
governmental interfund receivable and payable was eliminated in the government wide statement.

15.  RISK FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

It is the policy of the County of Mason not to purchase commercial insurance for all of the risks of loss 
related to torts; thefts of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to 
employees; and natural disasters.  Instead, County management believes it is more economical to 
manage its risks internally and set aside assets for claim settlements in various internal service funds.  
The Worker’s Compensation Insurance Fund has an annual retention of $450,000.00 for each worker’s 
compensation claim for general employees and $600,000 for law enforcement employees.  The Self-
Insurance Liability and Property Fund provides coverage for a maximum aggregate annual retention of 
$100,000.00 for general liability.  The Medical Care Facility Fund is used to account for the worker’s 
compensation claims of the County Medical Care Facility.  The County, through its insurance service 
organization, Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority, has reinsurance with umbrella coverage for 
liability and property damage of $15,000,000.00.  The reinsurance for Worker’s Compensation is the 
statutory maximum.  Settled claims have not exceeded the retention amount in any of the past three fiscal 
years.

The County appropriates funds from the General Fund to pay to the Worker’s Compensation Insurance 
Fund and the Self-Insurance Liability Fund based on estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior and 
current year claims and to establish a reserve for catastrophic losses in the Worker’s Compensation 
Insurance Fund.  The reserve was $1,268,204.50 at December 31, 2023, and is reported as restricted of 
the Worker’s Compensation Insurance Fund net position.  The claims liability of $1,434.00 reported in the 
Worker’s Compensation Insurance Fund at December 31, 2023 is based on the requirements of 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 10, which requires that a liability for claims be 
reported if information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a 
liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be 
reasonably estimated.
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Changes in the Worker’s Compensation Insurance Fund claims liability amount in calendar year 2023
and 2022 were:

2023                             2022
Liability Balance January 1, $ 29,751.00     8,034.00

Claim payments ( 10,058.95) (20,007.25)

Changes in estimates ( 18,258.05) 41,724.25

Liability Balance December 31, $ 1,434.00 29,751.00

The claims liability of $170,734.00 reported in the Self-Insurance Liability Fund at December 31, 2023, 
is based on the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 10, which 
requires that a liability for claims be reported if information prior to the issuance of the financial 
statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial 
statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  Changes in the Self-Insurance 
Liability Fund’s claims liability amount in calendar year 2022 and 2023 were:

2023                             2022
Liability Balance January 1, $ 183,024.12          152,089.22

Claim payments (net of reimbursement) (   25,601.46) (27,210.42)

Changes in estimates   13,311.34   58,145.32

Liability Balance December 31, $ 170,734.00          183,024.12

Because actual claims liabilities depend on such complex factors as inflation, changes in legal doctrines 
and damage awards, the process used in computing claims liability does not necessarily result in an 
exact amount.  Claims liabilities are evaluated periodically to take into consideration recently settled 
claims, the frequency of claims, and other economic and social factors.

The County of Mason is required to maintain a membership retention fund with its insurance service 
organization, Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority. The County records this retention amount 
as a deposit on the balance sheet of the Self-Insurance Liability Fund. The balance at December 31, 
2023, is as follows:

Member Retention Deposit $ 573,954.99

Mason County Road Commission is a member of the Michigan County Road Commission Self-Insurance 
Pool established pursuant to the laws of the State of Michigan that authorize contracts between municipal 
corporations (inter-local agreements) to form group self-insurance pools, and to prescribe conditions to 
the performance of these contracts.  The Pool was established for the purpose of making a self-insurance 
pooling program available which includes, but is not limited to, general liability coverage, auto liability 
coverage, property insurance coverage, stop loss insurance protection, claims administration, and risk 
management and loss control services pursuant to Michigan Public Act 138 of 1982.

The Mason County Road Commission pays an annual premium to the Pool for property (buildings and 
contents) coverage, automobile and equipment liability, errors or omissions, liability and bodily injury, 
property damage and personal injury liability. The agreement for the information of the Pool provides that 
the Pool will be self-sustaining through member premiums and will purchase both specific and aggregate 
stop-loss insurance to the limits determined necessary by the Pool Board. Settled claims for the general 
liability coverages have not exceeded the amount of coverage in any of the past three years. The Road 
Commission is also self-insured for worker's compensation as a member of the County Road Association 
Self Insurance Fund.
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16.  LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST CLOSURE CARE COSTS:

The County of Mason has two landfills under its jurisdiction. The Mason County Landfill located in Pere
Marquette Charter Township has been closed since 1978. A 1994 settlement with the Environmental 
Protection Agency requires the County to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the 
site for thirty years.  The County records the liability for these post closure care costs as a long-term 
liability in governmental activities because these costs will be paid over a thirty-year period.  The liability 
for post closure care costs for the landfill in Pere Marquette Charter Township at December 31, 2023,
was $29,018.50.  These amounts are based on estimates of the cost to perform all post closure care in 
2023.  Actual cost may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations.

The Mason County Landfill, located in the City of Scottville, discontinued operations in 1998.  State and 
federal laws and regulations required the County to place a final cover on the Scottville landfill site in 
1998.  The County is also required to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 
thirty years following closure.  The County records the liability for these post closure care costs in the as a 
long-term liability in governmental activities because these costs will be paid over a thirty-year period.  
The liability for post closure care cost for the landfill in Scottville at December 31, 2023, was $256,136.10.  
These amounts are based on estimates of the cost to perform all the post closure care in 2023.  Actual 
costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations.

The County was required by state and federal laws and regulations to make quarterly contributions to a 
trust fund to finance post closure care.  At December 31, 2023, a balance of $104,365.21 was held for 
this purpose.  The County has assigned an additional $2,488,327.61 in the Post Closure Care Trust Fund 
to finance post closure care costs.  

The County expects that future inflation costs will be paid from interest earnings on these annual 
contributions.  However, if interest earnings are inadequate or additional post closure care requirements 
are determined (due to changes in technology or applicable laws or regulations, for example), these costs 
may need to be covered by General Fund appropriations.

17.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:

The County participates in a number of federal and state assisted programs.  These programs are subject 
to program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives.  The audits of these programs for 
or including the year ended December 31, 2023, have not yet been conducted.  Accordingly, the County’s 
compliance with the program requirements will be established at some future date.  The amount, if any, of 
expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time 
although the County expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

18:  SELF-INSURANCE – HEALTH:

The County has a self-insured medical reimbursement plan for eligible elected officials and employees.  
In general, the County is liable for benefits up to $50,000 per contract; a family unit is considered one 
contract.  Additionally, the County has stop-loss coverage if medical claims in the aggregate exceed 
$922,767 per contract year.  Benefit payments in excess of $50,000 per contract or $922,767 in 
aggregate are payable by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan (BCBSM).

The County utilizes Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan (BCBSM) to administer benefits payable under 
this plan.  Medical claim and prescription reimbursement payments to BCBSM including administrative 
fees and stop-loss insurance premiums totaled $1,278,761 for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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19.  JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATIONS:

District Health Department No. 10

The Health Department is a joint venture as created under Public Act 368 of 1978 between ten (10) 
counties as detailed in the formation agreement between the counties and was established to provide 
public health services to the ten (10) participating regions.  Each participating unit appoints two (2) of the 
twenty (20) members to the governing board.  All ten (10) counties provide annual appropriations and 
pass-through the statutory amount of cigarette tax funding to subsidize operations.  Some of the treasury 
functions of the Health Department rest with the County Treasurer but, for the most part, the relationship 
is fiduciary in nature.  As a result, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 61, the pooled cash and cash 
equivalents of the Health Department, that are a part of the County's pooled accounts at year-end, are 
reflected as a fiduciary fund in the financial statements.  The financial activities of the Health Department 
are accounted for and reported separately from the participating units.  For the year ended September 30, 
2023, the County contributed $186,519.00 to cover its share of operational costs.  Separate audited 
financial statements for their year ended September 30, 2023, are available at the Health Department's 
administrative offices.

Community Mental Health System

Mason County, Lake County, and Oceana County participate jointly in the operation of the West Michigan 
Community Mental Health System.  The funding formula approved by the counties is based pro rata on 
each unit’s population to the total population.  

Member percentages of the net operating budget for the year ended December 31, 2023, were:

Mason County 45.00 percent
Lake County 15.00 percent
Oceana County 40.00 percent

Mason County’s appropriation to West Michigan Community Mental Health System for the calendar year 
was $139,625.07

20.  FEDERAL GRANTS:

Road Commission

The Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) requires that all Road Commissions report all federal 
and state grants pertaining to their County.  During the year ended December 31, 2023, the federal aid 
received and expended by the Road Commission was $2,016,222 for MDOT contracted projects.  
Contracted projects are defined as projects performed by private contractors paid for and administrated 
by MDOT (they are included in MDOT's single audit). Local force account projects are projects where the 
Road Commission performs the work and would be subject to single requirements if they expend 
$750,000 or more. 

21.  DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS:

The County of Mason has two deferred compensation plans, created in accordance with the Internal 
Revenue Code, Section 457.  The plans, available to all employees, permit them to defer a portion of their 
current salary until the employee’s termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency.

The County of Mason adopted a new 457-plan document, which incorporates the recent changes to the 
law governing 457 deferred compensation plans.  The most notable change in the plan provides that the 
employer establishes a plan level trust in which all amounts deferred must be placed and held for the 
exclusive benefit of plan participants and their beneficiaries.  As a result of this change, the plan assets 
are no longer subject to claims of the County’s general creditors.
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All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan, all property and rights purchased with such 
amounts, and all income attributable to such amounts, property, or rights are for the exclusive benefit of 
the employee or their beneficiary.

It is the opinion of the County’s legal counsel that the County has no liability for losses under the plans, 
but it does have the duty of care that would be required of an ordinary prudent investor.  Therefore, the 
deferred compensation assets and liabilities have been removed from the County’s fiduciary fund, as it is 
no longer required to be shown in the statements.

Mason County Road Commission offers all administrative Road Commission employees a deferred 
compensation plan created in accordance with IRC Section 457.  Effective in 2001, the assets of the plan 
were held in a trust, custodial account, or annuity contract described in IRC Section 457(g) for the 
exclusive benefit of the participants (employees) and their beneficiaries.  The custodial account is held by 
the custodian thereof for the exclusive benefit of the participants and beneficiaries of the Section 457 
plans, and the assets may not be diverted to any other use.  

In 1999, the Deferred Compensation Fund was treated as an expendable trust fund.  During 1999, the 
assets of the Deferred Compensation Fund were placed in a trust and reported in an expendable trust 
fund.  In accordance with GASB Statement No. 32 requirements, these assets are no longer reported in 
the financial statements.

22.  POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS:

Plan Administration

The County offers single employer post-employment health insurance benefits to its employees through a 
defined benefit plan.  These benefits are provided by contractual agreement and are paid annually by the 
General Fund.  The amounts are recorded as an expenditure when the fund liability is incurred.  The 
benefit amounts incurred totaled $286,749.03 during the year ended December 31, 2023.  The total 
number of eligible retirees amounted to 32 on December 31, 2023.  The County pays 90.23% of these 
costs.  There are provisions for employee contributions.  The County has a liability of $3,570,181.00 for 
this benefit, based on an independent actuarial valuation.  The County of Mason has established a 
Retirement Health Funding Vehicle with the Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan.  The 
Funding Vehicle had a balance of $5,812,773.52 on December 31, 2023. The County of Mason met its 
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) requirements in 2023.

Contributions

Annually, the County contributes to the Retirement Health Funding Vehicle 100% of the Annual Required 
Contribution (ARC).  Employee contracts for Teamsters effective January 1, 2016, no longer provide for 
paid retiree health insurance for new employees upon retirement.  Effective October 9, 2012, the County 
no longer provides paid retiree health insurance for non-union employees hired after that date.  

Discount rate. A single discount rate of 6.0 percent was used to measure the total OPEB liability.  This 
single discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments of 6.0 percent.  
The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member 
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at 
rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate.  
Based on these assumptions, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total OPEB liability.

Sensitivity of the net OPEB asset to changes in the discount rate.  The following presents the net OPEB 
asset of the County, calculated using the single discount rate of 6.0 percent, as well as what the County’s 
net OPEB asset would be if it were calculated using a single discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower 
(5.0 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (7.0 percent) than the current rate:
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1% Decrease Current Single 1% Increase
(5.0%) Discount Rate (6.0%) (7.0%)

Net OPEB asset $ (1,979,296) (2,242,593) (2,481,223)

Sensitivity of the net OPEB asset to changes in the healthcare cost trend rate.  The following presents the 
net OPEB asset of the County, calculated using the assumed trend rate of 8.25 percent decreasing to 
3.50 percent, as well as what the County’s net OPEB asset would be if it were calculated using a 
healthcare cost trend rate that is 1 percentage point lower (8.0 percent decreasing to 2.75 percent) or 1 
percentage point higher (10.0 percent decreasing to 4.75 percent) than the current rate:

Current
Healthcare

1% Decrease Cost Trend Rate 1% Increase

Net OPEB asset $ (2,555,943)             (2,242,593) (1,883,242)

Funding Progress
For the year ended December 31, 2023, the County has estimated the cost of providing retiree healthcare 
benefits through an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019.  The valuation computes an annual 
required contribution, which represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to 
cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed 
30 years.

Changes in Net OPEB Asset Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB

Liability Net Position Asset
(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at 12/31/22 $ 3,600,935 5,217,047 (1,616,112)
Changes for the Year

Service cost 82,505 82,505
Interest on Total OPEB Liability 210,769 210,769

     Changes in benefits 0 0
      Changes in experience ( 65,299 ) ( 65,299)
      Changes of assumptions 0 0

Employer Contributions 258,729 ( 258,729)
Net investment income 606,626 ( 606,626)
Benefit payments, including employee refunds ( 258,729 ) ( 258,729) 0
Administrative expense ( 10,899) 10,899

Net changes (       30,754)     595,727   (     626,481)

Balances as of 12/31/23 $ 3,570,181 5,812,774 (2,242,593)

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB Plan

   Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Experience (Gains)/Losses          $   10,758 435,971
Changes in Assumptions          0      87,241
Investment Earnings (Gains)/Losses 598,102 241,468

Total $ 608,860 764,680
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ended December 31:
2024   $ (   14,142)
2025      6,762
2026      4,557
2027 (141,743)
2028 (  10,809)
2029 (       445)
Thereafter                        -

                      Total $         (155.820)

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 
understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of 
each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan 
members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed 
to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, 
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

The following simplifying assumptions were made:

The valuation used the following actuarial assumptions applied to all periods unless specified:

Price inflation 2.50%
Wage inflation 3.00%
Salary increase 3.00%- 9.70% (including wage inflation)
Investment rate of return 6.00% (Net of OPEB investment expense)

Health care trend rate 8.25% (in the first year gradually 
                decreasing to 3.50% in year 10)

Retirement age is based on an experience-based table of rates that are specific to the type of eligibility 
conditions.  The marital status of members at the calculation date was assumed to continue throughout 
retirement.  Life expectancies were based on the RP-2019 Mortality Combined Healthy Tables Projected 20 
years with U.S. Projection Scale BB.

The expected rate of increase in healthcare insurance premiums was based on a combination of employer 
history, national trend surveys, and professional judgment.

The payroll growth rate has been updated to be consistent with the assumptions used in the December 31, 
2019, MERS actuarial valuation.

Based on the historical and expected returns of the County’s short-term investment portfolio, a discount rate 
of 6.0 percent was used.  In addition, a simplified version of the entry age actuarial cost method was used. 
The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on a 
closed basis.  The remaining amortization period at December 31, 2023, was 12 years.

Investment Policy
The County has chosen to invest in the Short – Term Income Portfolio set up by MERS.  The plan is a fully 
diversified portfolio combining traditional stocks and bonds with alternative asset classes including real 
estate, private equity, and commodities.  The objective is to provide current income and capital appreciation 
while minimizing the volatility of the capital markets.  The County Commission has the authority to establish 
and amend investment policies as they choose.
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Concentrations

The Plan did not hold investment other than those explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government in any one 
organization that represent 5 percent or more of the total plan’s fiduciary net position.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the rate of return on plan investments, net of plan investment 
expenses was 11.64%.

Net OPEB Expense

The County’s Net OPEB expense based on GASB Statement No. 75 was $(48,701) for the year ended 
December 31, 2023.  

The following table provides a summary of the number of participants in the plan:
County  

Inactive Plan Members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 29
Inactive Plan Members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 0
Active Plan Members 54

Total 83

Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB)

Plan Description
The Road Commission provides postemployment health care to eligible employees and / or their spouses 
who retire from the Road Commission on or after attaining retirement age. This is a single employer 
defined benefit plan that is administered by the Road Commission.  Benefits provided by the plan consist 
of a fixed payment of $250 per month to the retiree from age 58 to age 65.  The benefits are provided 
under the collective bargaining agreement for union employees and by resolution of the Board of County 
Road Commissioners for nonunion employees.  The plan does not issue a publicly available report.

Funding Policy
The Mason County Road Commission Retiree Health Care Plan was established and is being funded 
under the authority of the Road Commission and under agreements with the unions representing various 
classes of employees.  The plan’s funding policy is that the Road Commission will contribute based on 
the required amounts determined by the actuarial valuation.  Currently, benefit payments are made from 
general operating funds.  Active participants do not make contributions to the plan.  There is no long-term 
contract for the contributions to the plan.  The plan has no legally required reserves.   The Road 
Commission has no obligation to make contributions in advance of when benefit payments are due (in 
other words, this may be financed on a “pay-as-you-go” basis).

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Liability
The Road Commission’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated 
based the actuarially determined contribution of the employer (ADC), an amount actuarially determined in 
accordance with the parameter of GASB Statement 75.  The ADC represents the level of funding that, if 
paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and to amortize any unfunded 
actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period of five years.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  Amounts determined 
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectation and new estimates are made 
about the future.
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Participants Covered by the Benefit Terms
At the measurement Date, the following participants were covered by the benefit terms:

Active members   39
Inactive members     0
Retirees and beneficiaries           ___ 2
     Total participants          __41

Contributions
Expenditures for postemployment healthcare benefits are recognized as the benefit payments became 
due. During the year, the Road Commission paid current retiree benefits of $5,500 and made and no 
advance funding contribution.  The postemployment healthcare benefits were paid from and recorded as 
expenditures in the General Operating / Road Fund.  

Net OPEB Liability (Asset)
The net OPEB Liability reported at year-end was determined using a measure of the total OPEB liability 
and OPEB net position as of December 31, 2023.   The December 31, 2023, total OPEB asset was 
determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of that date.  Changes in the Road Commission’s 
proportionate share of the net OPEB liability during the year were as follows:

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
   Liability   Net Position     Asset  

Balances at December 31, 2022   $   73,453     256,855 (183,402)
Service cost          9,709 -     9,709
Interest          5,629 -      5,629
Experience (gains)/losses      (12,681) -   (12,681)
Change in actuarial assumptions       ( 2,015) -   ( 2,015)
Contributions to OPEB trust               - -             -
Contributions/benefit paid from general
  operating funds               -            5,500                ( 5,500)
Net investment income              -          29,866   (29,866)
Benefit payments including refunds of employee
  Contributions        (  5,500)     (      5,500)              -
Administrative expense               -           (        537)                           537
Other changes                 -                   -              -

Net changes   (    4,858)        29,329 (   34,187)

Balances as December 31, 2023   $    68,595       286,184 (217,589)

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/ Inflows of Resources related to OPEB
During the year the Road Commission recognized a negative OPEB expense of ($19,769).  At year-end, the 
Road Commission reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the 
following sources:

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB Plan:

   Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Experience (Gains)/Losses $  18,820     39,774
Changes in Assumptions       1,404     50,957
Investment Earnings (Gains)/Losses     6,998              -

Total $  27,222     90,731
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ended December 31:
2024 $( 19,155)
2025 ( 11,311)
2026 ( 7,633)
2027 ( 18,207)
2028 ( 7,077)
Thereafter (   126)

$( 63,509)

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of December 31, 2023, and the following actuarial assumptions, applies to all periods included in the 
measurement:

Salary Increases 3.25%
Investment rate of return 7.00% including inflation
20 year Aa municipal bond rate 4.13%
Mortality RP–2014 adjusted to 2006 Total Data Set, with
MP–2021 mortality improvement scale.

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 7.00%. Although the plan 
is currently will funded and able to make benefit payments from the trust, benefit payments for 2023 were 
still paid from general operating funds. Based on this assumption, the retirement Plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be sufficient to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan 
members. There is no cross-over point or depletion date, therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
was used to discount the projected benefits. This discount rate is used to determine the Total OPEB 
Liability.

The long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was determined using a building block method 
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return (expected returns, net of retirement plan 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future rates of return by the 
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic rates of 
return for each major asset class included in the retirement plan’s target asset allocation as of December 
31, 2023, are summarized below.  The sum of each target allocation times its long-term expected real 
rate is 7.00%.

       Long-Term 
Expected Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return
Global equity 60% 4.50%
Global fixed income 20% 2.00%
Private assets 20% 7.00%

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the Road Commission’s net OPEB liability (asset), calculated using the discount 
rate of 7.00%, as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1% lower (6.00%) or 1% higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

        Discount
1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase

Net OPEB Liability (Asset)    $(214,838)    (217,589)     (220,190)
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Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate
The Road Commission’s net OPEB asset is not subject to changes in the healthcare cost trend rate due 
to the fixed monthly benefit amount.

23.  DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN:

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For purposes of measuring the Net Pension Liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expenses, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS) of Michigan and additions to/deductions from MERS’ 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by MERS.  For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value.

Plan Description

The employer’s defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability and death benefits to 
plan members and beneficiaries.  The employer participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement 
System (MERS) of Michigan.  MERS is an agent multi-employer, statewide public employee pension plan 
established by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine 
member Retirement Board.  MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information.  This report may be obtained by accessing the 
MERS website at www.mersofmich.com.

Benefits provided include plans with multipliers ranging from 1.50% to 2.75%.  Vesting periods range from 
6 to 10 years.  Normal retirement age is 60 with early retirement at 55 with 15 years of service.  Final 
average compensation is calculated based on 3 years.  Member contributions are 0.

Employees covered by benefit terms:  At the December 31, 2023, valuation date, the following employees 
were covered by the benefit terms:

County        Library
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 234    12
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits   32   2
Active employees 112    12

Total 378    26

Contributions

The employer is required to contribute amounts at least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as 
established by the MERS Retirement Board.  The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount 
necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount 
to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  The employer may establish contribution rates to be paid by its 
covered employees.

Employer contributions range from 6.27% to 38.83% based on annual payroll for open divisions.

Net Pension Liability

The employer’s Net Pension Liability was measured as of December 31, 2023, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an annual actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2023.
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Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2023, annual actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: Inflation 3.0%.  
Salary increases: 3.00% in the long-term.  Investment rate of return: 7.00%, net of investment expenses, 
including inflation.

Although no specific price inflation assumptions are needed for the valuation, the 3.00% long-term wage 
inflation assumption would be consistent with a price inflation for 2.5%. Mortality rates used were based 
on the RP-2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table of a 50% Male and a 50% Female blend.  For disabled 
retirees, the regular mortality table is used with a 10-year set forward in ages to reflect the higher 
expected mortality rates of disabled members.

The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial 
experience study of 2009-2013.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model 
method in which the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
investment and administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for 
each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Global Equity 60.0% 5.25%
Global Fixed Income 20.0% 1.25%
Private Investments 20.0% 7.25%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 7.00% in 2023 and thereafter.  The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes the employer and employee 
contributions will be made at the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates 
for employers.  Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to pay all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.

Therefore, the long-term, expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods 
of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Calculating Net Pension Liability for Mason County

Changes in Net Pension Liability Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at 12/31/22 $76,042,547 52,715,200 23,327,347
Changes for the Year

Service cost 1,041,358 - 1,041,358
Interest on Total Pension Liability 5,384,870 - 5,384,870

      Changes in experience                     414,356 - 414,356
      Employer Contributions - 4,528,941 ( 4,528,941)
      Employee Contributions - 37,877 (      37,877)

Net investment income -                 5,872,612 ( 5,872,612)
Benefit payments, including employee refunds ( 4,578,310) ( 4,578,310) -
Other Changes             (        23,847) - (      23,847)
Administrative expense - ( 124,466) 124,466

Net changes 2,238,427 5,736,654 (3,498,227)

Balances as of 12/31/23 $78,280,974 58,451,854 19,829,120
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the Net Pension Liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of 
7.25%, as well as what the employer’s Net Pension Liability would be using a discount rate that is 1 
percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1% higher (8.25%) than the current rate.

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate
1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase

6.25% Rate (7.25%) 8.25%

Net Pension Liability at 12/31/23 $28,848,481 19,829,120 12,268,538

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the employer recognized pension expense of $5,175,666.  

The employer reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources:

   Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Investment Earnings (Gains)/Losses $  6,114,291 (3,604,815)
Experience (Gains)/Losses       276,237   (     62,406)
Changes in Assumptions        907,815             -
Total $  7,298,343 (3,667,221)

The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction in the Net Pension Liability for the year ending 
December 31, 2023. There were none reported in the current year.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows:

Year ended
2024 $ 1,403,894
2025      1,064,053
2026      1,600,636
2027     (   437,461)

   $    3,631,122

Calculating Net Pension Liability for Mason County District Library
Changes in Net Pension Liability Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at 12/31/22 $ 3,047,059 2,052,533    994,526

Changes for the Year
Service cost 48,289 - 48,289
Interest on Total Pension Liability   215,166 -   215,166

     Changes in experience (       2,503) -                 (       2,503)
     Changes in assumptions 0 - 0

Employer Contributions -   100,813 (   100,813 )
Net investment income -   222,983 ( 222,983 )
Benefit payments, including employee refunds (   206,797 ) (   206,797 ) -
Other Changes                        12,205 -                        12,205
Administrative expense - ( 4,745 ) 4,745

Net changes 66,360      112,254 (      45,894)

Balances as of 12/31/23 $ 3,113,419   2,164,787    948,632
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the Net Pension Liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of 
7.25%, as well as what the employer’s Net Pension Liability would be using a discount rate that is 1 
percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1% higher (8.25%) than the current rate.

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
6.25% Rate (7.25%) 8.25%

Net Pension Liability at 12/31/23 $ 1,288,793     948,632      662,051

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the employer recognized pension expense of $201,899.  

The employer reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources:

   Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Investment Earnings (Gains)/Losses $ 244,803 138,085
Experience (Gains)/Losses            -       44,823
Changes in Assumptions   35,675            -

Total $ 280,478 182,908

The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction in the Net Pension Liability for the year ending 
December 31, 2023. There were none reported in the current year.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows:

Year ended
2024 $ 11,383
2025 37,858
2026          64,965
2027 (16,636)
2027 $ 97,570

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued financial 
report.  For the purpose of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, and 
deferred inflows or resources related to pension and pension expense, information about the plan’s 
fiduciary net position and addition to/deduction from fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
same basis as they are reported by the plan.  The plan uses the economic resources measurement focus 
and the full accrual basis of accounting.  Investments are stated at fair value.  Contribution revenue is 
recorded as contributions are due pursuant to legal requirements.  Benefit payment and refunds of 
employee contributions are recognized as expense when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms.
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Road Commission

Plan Description

The Mason County Road Commission participates in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan administered by the Municipal Employees' Retirement System (MERS) that covers all full-time 
employees of the Road Commission.  MERS was established as a State-wide public employee pension 
plan by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and is administered by a nine member 
Retirement Board. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements 
and required supplementary information.  This report may be obtained by accessing the MERS website at 
www.mersofmich.com or in writing to MERS at 1134 Municipal Way, Lansing, Michigan 48917.

Benefits Provided

The Plan provides certain retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  
PA 427 of 1984, as amended, established and amends the benefit provisions of the participants in MERS.

01 – Union: Open Division 
Retirement benefits are calculated at 2.00% of the employee’s 5-year average salary times the 
employee’s years of service (no maximum).  Normal retirement age is 60 with early retirement at 55 with 
30 years of service (unreduced), 50 with 25 years of service (reduced) or 55 with 15 years of service 
(reduced).  The vesting period is 10 years.  

10 – Staff: Open Division 
Retirement benefits are calculated at 2.00% of the employee’s 5-year average salary times the 
employee’s years of service (no maximum).  Normal retirement age is 60 with early retirement at 55 with 
25 years of service (unreduced), 50 with 25 years of service (reduced) or 55 with 15 years of service 
(reduced).  The vesting period is 10 years.  Benefit terms for current retires also provide for annual cost-of 
living adjustments to each employee’s retirement allowance subsequent to the employee’s retirement 
date of 2.5% (non-compound).

Employees covered by benefit terms:  At the December 31, 2023, valuation date, the following employees 
were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 39
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 6
Active employees 41

TOTAL 86

Funding Policy

The Road Commission is required to contribute the amounts necessary to fund the Michigan Municipal 
Employees Retirement System using the actuarial basis specified by statute.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2023, the Road Commission’s actuarially determined contribution was 22.51 % of covered 
payroll for employees in the Union Division and 27.82% of covered payroll for employees in the Staff 
Division.  Employees are not required to contribute to the plan, regardless of the group.  During the year, 
the Road Commission made additional voluntary monthly contributions of $26,000 for the Union Division 
($312,000 annually) and $14,000 for the Staff Division ($168,000 annually).
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Net Pension Liability

The Road Commission’s Net Pension Liability was measured as of December 31, 2023, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an annual actuarial 
valuation as of December 31, 2023.

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2023, annual actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: Inflation 2.5%.  
Salary increases: 3.00% average in the long-term. Investment rate of return: 7.00%, net of investment 
expense, including inflation.  

Mortality rates used were based on the 2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table of a 50% Male and a 50% 
Female blend for non-disabled plan members and 50% Male and a 50% Female blend of 2014 Disabled 
Retiree Mortality Table for disabled plan members.  The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were 
based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience study in 2015 that covers the period from 
January 1, 2009, through December 31, 2013.  

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model 
method in which the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
investment and administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for 
each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Expected Rate of Return
Global Equity 60.0% 5.25%
Global Fixed Income 20.0% 1.25%
Private investments 20.0% 7.25%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 7.25%.  The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumes the employer and employee contributions will be made at the 
rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers.  

Project Cash Flows
Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
pay all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.

Therefore, the long-term, expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods 
of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Calculating Net Pension Liability for the Mason County Road Commission.
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Changes in Net Pension Liability Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at 12/31/22 $10,856,129 7,481,938 3,374,191

Changes for the Year
Service cost 236,064 - 236,064
Interest on Total Pension Liability 769,800 - 769,800

      Difference between expected and actual experience         18,640 -     18,640
Changes is assumptions - -       -
Employer Contributions - 1,087,872 ( 1,087,872)
Net investment income - 855,463              (     855,463)
Benefit payments, including employee refunds ( 712,451 ) ( 712,451) -
Other Changes ( 6,920 ) - ( 6,920)
Administrative expense - ( 18,082 ) 18,082

Net changes   305,133    1,212,802 ( 907,669 )

Balances as of 12/31/23 $11,161,262 8,694,740 2,466,522

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the Net Pension Liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of 
7.25%, as well as what the employer’s Net Pension Liability would be using a discount rate that is 1 
percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1% higher (8.25%) than the current rate.

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
6.25% Rate (7.25%) 8.25%

Net Pension Liability at 12/31/23 $3,719,937 2,466,522    1,412,525

Pension plan fiduciary net position.  Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued MERS financial report.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the employer recognized pension expense of $(188,423) The 
employer reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences in expected and actual experience $ 363,583 -
Changes in assumption 363,238 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
  on pension plan investments                                  224,411 -

Total $ 951,232 -
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The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction in the Net Pension Liability for the year ending 
December 31, 2023. There were none reported in the current year.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows:

       
Year ended Net Amount

2024 $ 390,713
2025 389,499
2026 227,305
2027 (  56,285)

Total $ 951,232

24.  ROAD COMMISSION STATE EQUIPMENT PURCHASE ADVANCE/HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE 
ADVANCE:

State equipment purchase advance is determined by a formula applied to the book value of equipment of 
the previous fiscal year.  This amount is adjusted each fiscal year in accordance with the formula and
would be refunded to the State Department of Transportation upon termination of the State Highway 
Maintenance contract.  Equipment advance monies for fiscal year 2023 amounted to $301,973.00.  

25.  FUND BALANCE DEFICIT:

At December 31, 2023, the County did not have any funds with a deficit fund balance.

26.  DEFERRED INFLOWS:

The Deferred Inflows recorded by the County of Mason reflects property taxes that were levied in 
December, 2023, and recorded as property tax receivable and deferred inflows at December 31, 2023 in 
various Special Revenue Funds and Enterprise Funds.

27.  FUND BALANCES – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS:

In February 2009, the GASB issued Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund 
Type Definitions.  The objective of this Statement is to enhance the usefulness of fund balance 
information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that can be more consistently applied and by 
clarifying the existing governmental fund type definitions.  This Statement establishes fund balance 
classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a government is bound to 
observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported in governmental funds.  Under this 
standard, the fund balance classifications of reserved, designated, and unreserved have been replaced 
with five new classifications:  non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned.

Non-spendable – assets that are not available in a spendable form such as inventory, prepaid 
expenditures, and long-term receivables not expected to be converted to cash in the near term.  It also 
includes funds that are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact, such as the corpus of a 
permanent fund or foundation.

Restricted – amounts that are required by external parties to be used for a specific purpose.  Constraints 
are externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws, regulations or enabling legislation.
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Committed – amounts constrained on use imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of 
decision making authority (i.e., Board, Council, etc.)

Assigned – amounts intended to be used for specific purposes.  This is determined by the governing 
body, the budget or finance committee, or a delegated municipality official.

Unassigned – all other resources; the remaining fund balance after non-spendable, restrictions, 
commitments, and assignments.  This class only occurs in the General Fund except for cases of negative 
fund balances.  Negative fund balances are always reported as unassigned, no matter which fund the 
deficit occurs in.

Fund Balance Classifications and Procedures

For committed fund balance, Mason County’s highest level of decision-making authority is the Board of 
Commissioners.  The formal action that is required to be taken to establish, modify, or rescind a fund 
balance commitment is a resolution.

For assigned fund balance, the County Commissioners are authorized to assign amounts to a specific 
purpose.  The authorization has been delegated by the County Commissioners to the County 
Administrator.

General Road Public Jail Non-Major

Fund Patrol CDBG Improvement Operations Funds

Nonspendable
   Prepaids $   89,218.09 31,107.90 0.00            0.00 33,242.10     9,406.17
   Long-term advance to 
     enterprise fund 1,675,546.13            0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Restricted for
   Landfill perpetual care 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00   104,365.21
   Road Patrol 0.00 723,825.49 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
   Senior citizens 0.00            0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 574,619.31
   Jail operations 0.00            0.00 0.00 0.00 1,549,134.59 0.00
   Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,636,984.62

Committed for
   Loss of revenue sharing 2,899,757.68 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
   Budget stabilization 1,913,214.07 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
   Landfill perpetual care 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,488,327.61
   Housing improvement 0.00               5,314,761.33               0.00 0.00 0.00
   Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,658,502.17

Assigned for
   Animal control 5,882.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
   Employee benefits 727,932.55 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
   Public improvement 0.00            0.00 0.00 9,823,349.75 0.00 0.00
   Jail construction 0.00            0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 540,878.67
   Equipment replacement 0.00            0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,024,469.10

Unassigned 5,429,371.85
           0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
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29.  TAX ABATEMENTS:

The County received reduced property tax revenues during 2023 as a result of industrial facilities tax 
exemptions (IFT's) and brownfield redevelopment agreements entered by cities, villages, townships, and 
authorities within the County.

The IFT's were entered into based upon the Plan Rehabilitation and Industrial Development Districts Act, 
(known as the Industrial Facilities Exemption), PA 1974, as amended.  IFT's provide a tax incentive to 
manufacturers to enable renovation and expansion of aging facilities, assist in the building of new 
facilities, and to promote the establishment of high tech facilities.  Properties qualifying for IFT status are 
taxed at 50% of the millage rate applicable to other real and personal property in the County.  The 
abatements reduced 2023 County tax revenues as follows:

Fund Amount
GeneralFund $24,688.83
Soldiers and Sailors Fund 14.53
Jail Operations 2,809.57
Medical Care Facility 4,706.02
Senior Citizens 1,443.05
Road Patrol 1,453.22
911                    678.17

Total $35,793.39

Brownfield redevelopment agreements are intended to reimburse taxpayers that remediate 
environmental contamination on their properties.  These agreements were entered into based upon the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Act, PA 381 of 1996, and amended.  Under this act, a municipality may 
create a brownfield redevelopment authority to develop and implement brownfield projects.  Tax 
increment financing may be used as a tool for property redevelopment.  The abatements reduced 2023
County tax revenues as follows:

Fund Amount
GeneralFund $27,287.21
Soldiers and Sailors Fund 16.06
Jail Operations 3,105.26
Medical Care Facility 5,201.31
Senior Citizens 1,594.93
Road Patrol 1,606.17
911                    749.55

Total $39,560.49
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30.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT:

The County categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable 
inputs.  Investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) 
as a practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy below.

Instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value 
hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the valuation.  The County’s assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these fair 
value measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each asset or liability.

The County has the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2023:

 Certificates of Deposit of $28,198,846.43 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).
 Other investments of $19,751,212.62 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).
 Federal Home Loans of $14,025,943.45 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 2 inputs).
 Municipal bonds of $15,855,499.75 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 2 inputs).

The County has the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2023:

Assets And Liabilities Measured At Fair Value On A Recurring Basis

Fair Value Measurement Using

Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Balance December Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

31, 2023 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

$ 77,831,502.25 47,950,059.05 29,881,443.20 -
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VARIANCE
ORIGINAL FINAL FAVORABLE
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

General Fund

REVENUES
Taxes $ 12,205,450.00 13,038,525.00 13,044,994.41 6,469.41
Permits and regulatory licenses 86,050.00 84,675.00 85,585.00 910.00
Intergovernmental

Federal/State 2,054,575.00 2,264,425.00 2,308,824.52 44,399.52
Charges for services 668,850.00 732,300.00 747,384.46 15,084.46
Fines and forfeitures 3,700.00 2,050.00 2,275.00 225.00
Interest and rents 137,000.00 295,200.00 658,185.58 362,985.58
Unrealized loss on investments 0.00 0.00 344,545.20 344,545.20
Miscellaneous 317,075.00 404,775.00 426,933.63 22,158.63

TOTAL REVENUES 15,472,700.00 16,821,950.00 17,618,727.80 796,777.80

EXPENDITURES
Current

Legislative 532,675.00 492,675.00 475,789.04 16,885.96
Judicial 2,164,325.00 2,090,275.00 2,012,269.93 78,005.07
General government administration 4,028,550.00 3,913,125.00 3,713,351.57 199,773.43
Public safety 1,066,950.00 976,025.00 928,977.89 47,047.11
Public works 61,475.00 36,975.00 32,097.46 4,877.54
Health and social services 720,669.00 736,669.00 708,369.49 28,299.51
Parks, recreation, and cultural 11,000.00 10,100.00 9,493.62 606.38
Miscellaneous 130,950.00 45,950.00 45,546.80 403.20

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 8,716,594.00 8,301,794.00 7,925,895.80 375,898.20

EXCESS OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 6,756,106.00 8,520,156.00 9,692,832.00 1,172,676.00

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 143,525.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers out (6,540,256.00) (12,915,106.00) (12,915,106.00) 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) (6,396,731.00) (12,915,106.00) (12,915,106.00) 0.00

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 359,375.00 (4,394,950.00) (3,222,274.00) $ 1,172,676.00

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 15,965,197.09 15,965,197.09 15,965,197.09

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 0.00 0.00 (2,000.00)

FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 $ 16,324,572.09 11,570,247.09 12,740,923.09

Mason County, Michigan
Major Governmental Funds - General and Special Revenue

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
In Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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VARIANCE
ORIGINAL FINAL FAVORABLE
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

Jail Operations

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 1,305,700.00 1,317,875.00 1,317,814.66 (60.34)
Charges for services 111,125.00 137,100.00 145,973.88 8,873.88
Interest and rental 20,000.00 55,550.00 57,150.41 1,600.41
Other 4,900.00 5,300.00 5,315.37 15.37
Unrealized loss on investments 0.00 0.00 7,820.70 7,820.70

TOTAL REVENUES 1,441,725.00 1,515,825.00 1,534,075.02 18,250.02

EXPENDITURES
Public Safety 3,361,475.00 3,433,400.00 3,379,917.34 53,482.66

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF

REVENUES OVER

EXPENDITURES (1,919,750.00) (1,917,575.00) (1,845,842.32) 71,732.68

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in 2,019,000.00 2,019,000.00 2,019,000.00 0.00
Operating transfers out (99,250.00) (151,250.00) (151,250.00) 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING

SOURCES (USES) 1,919,750.00 1,867,750.00 1,867,750.00 0.00

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 0.00 (49,825.00) 21,907.68 $ 71,732.68

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 1,560,469.01 4,560,469.01 1,560,469.01

FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 $ 1,560,469.01 4,510,644.01 1,582,376.69

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
In Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

Mason County, Michigan
Major Governmental Funds - General and Special Revenue
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VARIANCE
ORIGINAL FINAL FAVORABLE
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

Road Patrol

REVENUES
    Taxes $ 675,275.00   681,525.00   681,612.46   87.46
    State Grants 57,900.00     102,625.00   108,390.95   5,765.95
    Charges for services 77,800.00     245,100.00   247,426.30   2,326.30
    Unrealized loss on investments -                -                12,598.10     12,598.10

Interest and rental 4,600.00       35,000.00     38,229.33     3,229.33
Other 0.00 22,225.00 23,503.78 1,278.78

TOTAL REVENUES 815,575.00 1,086,475.00 1,111,760.92 25,285.92

EXPENDITURES
Public Safety 2,982,750.00 3,168,150.00 3,140,135.82 28,014.18

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF

REVENUES OVER

EXPENDITURES (2,167,175.00) (2,081,675.00) (2,028,374.90) 53,300.10

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in 2,245,600.00 2,265,075.00 2,265,075.00 0.00

Operating transfers out (130,125.00) (337,600.00) (337,600.00) 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING

SOURCES (USES) 2,115,475.00 1,927,475.00 1,927,475.00 0.00

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (51,700.00) (154,200.00) (100,899.90) 53,300.10

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 855,833.29 855,833.29 855,833.29 $ 0.00

FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 $ 804,133.29 701,633.29 754,933.39

Mason County, Michigan
Major Governmental Funds - General and Special Revenue

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
In Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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VARIANCE
ORIGINAL FINAL FAVORABLE
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

Road Patrol
REVENUES
    Unrealized loss on investments $ -                   -                  (40,367.24)        (40,367.24)

Interest and rental -                   -                  6,542.77           6,542.77
Other -                   79,200.00 79,222.60 22.60

TOTAL REVENUES 0.00 79,200.00 45,398.13 (33,801.87)

EXPENDITURES
  Health & Welfare 0.00 68,300.00 68,023.69 276.31

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 0.00 68,300.00 68,023.69 276.31

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER
EXPENDITURES 0.00 10,900.00 (22,625.56) (33,525.56)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in 0.00 5,250,000.00 5,250,000.00 0.00
Operating transfers out 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) 0.00 5,250,000.00 5,250,000.00 0.00

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 0.00 5,260,900.00 5,227,374.44 (33,525.56)
FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 87,386.89 87,386.89 87,386.89 $ 0.00

FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 $ 87,386.89 5,348,286.89 5,314,761.33

Mason County, Michigan
Major Governmental Funds - General and Special Revenue

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
In Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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2023 2022 2021 2020

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY
Service cost 1,041,358$    884,906$       822,919        812,974        
Interest 5,384,870      5,076,135 4,889,681     4,626,655     
Benefit payments, including refunds (4,578,310)    (4,337,452) (4,156,391)   (3,848,919)    
Other Changes (23,847)         140,804 (2,478)          223,187        
Changes in experience 414,356         (187,217)       676,399        (90,891)         
Changes in assumptions -                2,723,446      3,507,149     1,886,631     

NET CHANGE IN TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 2,238,427 4,300,622 5,737,279     3,609,637     

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - BEGINNING OF YEAR 76,042,547 71,741,925 66,004,646   62,395,009   

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - END OF YEAR 78,280,974$  76,042,547$  71,741,925   66,004,646   

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Contributions - employer 4,566,818$    4,494,934$    4,087,917     3,394,345     
Net investment income 5,872,612 (6,076,751) 7,289,757     6,013,667     
Benefit payments, including refunds (4,578,310) (4,337,452) (4,156,391)   (3,848,919)    
Administrative expenses (124,466) (108,862) (83,605)        (93,513)         

NET CHANGE IN PLAN FIDUCIARY
 NET POSITION 5,736,654 (6,028,131) 7,137,678     5,465,580     

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
               - BEGINNING OF YEAR 52,715,200 58,743,331 51,605,653   46,140,073   

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 58,451,854$  52,715,200$  58,743,331   51,605,653   

COUNTY'S NET PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 19,829,120$  23,327,347$  12,998,594   14,398,993   

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION AS A % 

OF TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 74.67% 69.32% 81.88% 78%

COVERED PAYROLL 6,371,620$    6,056,588$    5,708,570     5,719,234     

NET PENSION LIABILITY AS A %
OF COVERED PAYROLL 311.21% 385.16% 227.70% 252%

Mason County, Michigan
Required Supplemental Information
Schedule of Changes in the County

Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
Last Nine Fiscal Years
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

799,372         802,461        811,431        758,736        744,392         
4,704,620      4,583,410     4,454,477     3,992,329     3,954,611      

(3,633,308)     (3,328,956)   (3,032,275)   (2,785,846)    (2,575,225)     
(71,967)          (46,420)        (154,030)      39,771          (56,203)          
371,574         (341,644)      (315,116)      818,706        -                     

-                     -                   -                   3,050,011     -                     

2,170,291      1,668,851     1,764,487     5,873,707     2,067,575      

60,224,718    58,555,867   56,791,380   50,917,673   48,850,098    

62,395,009    60,224,718   58,555,867   56,791,380   50,917,673    

2,961,219      2,774,978     2,300,547     2,367,247     1,646,746      
5,595,726      (1,706,528)   5,181,500     4,048,534     (556,076)        

(3,633,308)     (3,328,956)   (3,032,275)   (2,785,846)    (2,575,225)     
(96,416)          (84,509)        (82,017)        (79,910)         (81,291)          

4,827,221      (2,345,015)   4,367,755     3,550,025     (1,565,846)     

41,312,852    43,657,867   39,290,112   35,740,087   37,305,933    

46,140,073    41,312,852   43,657,867   39,290,112   35,740,087    

16,254,936    18,911,866   14,898,000   17,501,268   15,177,586    

74% 69% 75% 69% 70%

5,691,053      5,508,706     5,530,342     5,613,079     5,770,891      

286% 343% 269% 312% 263%

78



2023 2022 2021 2020

Actuarially determined contribution $ 3,528,921  3,549,933 3,140,322 2,687,473

Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 4,528,941 4,494,933 4,028,358 3,394,344

CONTRIBUTION EXCESS $ (1,000,020) (945,000)   (888,036)   (706,871)       

COVERED PAYROLL $ 6,371,620 6,056,588 5,708,570 5,719,234

CONTRIBUTIONS AS A PERCENTAGE

OF COVERED PAYROLL 71.08% 74.22% 70.57% 59.35%

Notes to Schedule of County Contributions

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are

calculated as of  December 31, two years prior

to the end of the fiscal year in which the

contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll

Remaining amortization period 19 years

Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 4.50%

Investment rate of return 8%

Retirement age 60

Mortality 50% Female/50% Male 

2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table

Other information None

Required Supplemental Information - Schedule of Contributions
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Mason County, Michigan
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

2,282,445 1,971,858 1,827,570 1,556,342 1,448,602 1,363,117

2,961,219 2,774,978 2,300,547 2,367,247 1,646,746 1,538,117

(678,774)   (803,120)   (472,977)   (810,905)   (198,144)   (175,000)   

5,691,053 5,508,706 5,530,342 5,613,079 5,770,891 5,730,313

52.03% 50.37% 41.60% 42.17% 28.54% 26.84%
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2023 2022 2021 2020

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY

Service cost $ 236,064        192,429     180,422    166,933    

Interest 769,800        681,204     655,950    661,366    

Benefit payments, including refunds (712,451)       (690,313)    (629,287)   (574,537)   

Other Changes (6,920)           7,290         39,212      1,521        

Differences between expected and actual experience 18,640          651,127     91,049      171,982    

Changes in assumptions -                    369,530     158,588    250,783    

NET CHANGE IN TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 305,133        1,211,267  495,934    678,048    

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - BEGINNING OF YEAR 10,856,129   9,644,862  9,148,928 8,470,880

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - END OF YEAR $ 11,161,262   10,856,129 9,644,862 9,148,928

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Contributions - employer $ 1,087,872     1,025,786  844,180    626,006    

Net investment income 855,463        (827,163)    973,008    786,463    

Benefit payments, including refunds (712,451)       (690,313)    (629,287)   (574,537)   

Other expense -                    -                 -                -                

Administrative expenses (18,082)         (15,087)      (11,149)     (12,156)     

NET CHANGE IN PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 1,212,802     (506,777)    1,176,752 825,776    

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR 7,481,938     7,988,715  6,811,963 5,986,187

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 8,694,740     7,481,938  7,988,715 6,811,963

COUNTY'S NET PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING $ 2,466,522     3,374,191  1,656,147 2,336,965

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION AS A % OF TOTAL 
  PENSION LIABILITY 77.90% 68.92% 82.83% 74.46%

COVERED EMPLOYEE PAYROLL $ 2,353,703     2,094,921  1,947,073 1,808,066

NET PENSION LIABILITY AS A PERCENTAGE OF 

  COVERED -EMPLOYEE PAYROLL 104.79% 161.07% 85.06% 129.25%

Mason County, Michigan

Road Commission

Schedule of Changes in the

Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

Last Nine Fiscal Years
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

162,474       152,624     143,552      134,411      145,384    

633,665       640,651     612,520      605,095      576,243    

(463,754)     (374,857)    (367,230)    (352,484)     (336,472)   

(6,264)         (24,686)      (48,544)      (39,185)       (21,937)     

73,305         -                10,624        (360,537)     -               

-                  (441,536)    -                 337,511      -               

399,426       (47,804)      350,922      324,811      363,218    

8,071,454    8,119,258  7,768,336   7,443,525   7,080,307

8,470,880    8,071,454  8,119,258   7,768,336   7,443,525

592,550       347,363     301,961      290,143      252,898    

710,324       (213,430)    639,846      501,752      (68,546)     

(463,754)     (374,857)    (367,230)    (352,484)     (336,472)   

-                  -                -                 1                 (1)             

(12,253)       (10,527)      (10,126)      (9,902)         (10,009)     

826,867       (251,451)    564,451      429,510      (162,130)   

5,159,320    5,410,771  4,846,320   4,416,810   4,578,940

5,986,187    5,159,320  5,410,771   4,846,320   4,416,810

2,484,693    2,912,134  2,708,487   2,922,016   3,026,715

70.67% 63.92% 66.64% 62.39% 59.34%

1,768,083    1,616,727  1,536,826   1,458,502   1,575,702

140.53% 180.13% 176.24% 200.34% 192.09%
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2023 2022 2021 2020

ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION 607,872$      545,786$   526,516    386,006    

CONTRIBUTIONS IN RELATION TO THE 

ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION 1,087,872     1,025,786  844,180    626,006    

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (EXCESS) (480,000)       (480,000)    (317,664)   (240,000)   

COVERED PAYROLL 2,353,703     2,094,921  1,947,073 1,808,066

CONTRIBUTIONS AS A PERCENTAGE 

OF COVERED PAYROLL 46.22% 48.97% 43.36% 34.62%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE:

ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION RATES ARE CALCULATED AS OF

  DECEMBER 31ST, TWO YEARS PRIOR TO THE END OF THE FISCAL YEAR IN

  WHICH CONTRIBUTIONS ARE REPORTED.

METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS USE TO DETERMINE CONTRIBUTION RATES:

ACTUARIAL COST METHOD ENTRY AGE NORMAL

AMORTIZATION METHOD LEVEL PERCENTAGE OF PAYROLL

CLOSED

REMAINING AMORTIZATION PERIOD 17 YEARS

ASSET VALUATION METHOD OPEN: 10-YEAR SMOOTHED MARKET

INFLATION

SALARY INCREASES 3.00% AVERAGE, INCLUDING INFLATION

INVESTMENT RATE OF RETURN

RETIREMENT AGE IN THE 2020 ACTUARIAL VALUATION,

EXPECTED RETIREMENT AGES OF

GENERAL EMPLOYEES WERE

ADJUSTED TO MORE CLOSELY

REFLECT ACTUAL EXPERIENCE

MORTALITY ASSUMPTIONS WERE BASED ON THE

MP-2019 GROUP ANNUITY MORTALITY

TABLE - BLENDED 50% MALE/

50% FEMALE

7.00%

Mason County, Michigan

Road Commission

Required Supplemental Information - Schedule of Contributions

Last Eight Fiscal Years

2.50%
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

352,550       347,363     301,961      290,143      252,898    

592,550       (347,363)    (301,961)    (290,143)     (252,898)   

(240,000)     -                -                 -                 -               

1,768,083    1,616,727  1,536,826   1,458,502   1,575,702

33.51% 21.49% 19.65% 19.89% 16.05%
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY
Service cost $ 9,709       9,842 5,571 9,168 12,199 12,765
Interest 5,629       5,222 5,211 3,488 7,644 9,446
Benefit payments, including refunds (5,500)      (26,442) (35,132) (19,500) (13,250) (8,000)
Changes is experience (12,681)    9,392        15,104     (8,041)      (49,842)    (44,576)    
Changes is assumptions (2,015)      1,002        782          (9,797)      (92,249)    (4,971)      
Other changes -           -           -           5,227       -           -           

NET CHANGE IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY (4,858) (984) (8,464) (19,455) (135,498) (35,336)

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY - BEGINNING OF YEAR 73,453 74,437 82,901 102,356 237,854 273,190

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY - END OF YEAR $ 68,595 73,453 74,437 82,901 102,356 237,854

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Contributions - employer $ 5,500 10,752 15,690 19,500 35,000 29,750
Net investment income 29,866 (31,114) 38,314 46,995 5,231 2,947
Benefit payments, including refunds (5,500) (26,442) (35,132) (19,500) (13,250) (8,000)
Other changes 0 0 (58) 0 0 0
Administrative expenses (537) (484) (529) (67) -           -           

NET CHANGE IN PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 29,329 (47,288) 18,285 46,928 26,981 24,697

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR 256,855 304,143 285,858 238,930 211,949 187,252

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 286,184 256,855 304,143 285,858 238,930 211,949

COUNTY'S NET OPEB (ASSET)/LIABILITY - ENDING $ (217,589) (183,402) (229,706) (202,957) (136,574) 25,905

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION AS A % OF TOTAL  

    OPEB LIABILITY 417.21% 349.69% 408.59% 344.82% 233.43% 89.11%

COVERED PAYROLL 2,744,010 2,638,435 2,358,982 2,124,727 1,598,062 1,616,727

NET OPEB LIABILITY AS A %
     OF COVERED PAYROLL -7.93% -6.95% -9.74% -9.55% -8.55% 1.60%

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Actuarially determined employer contribution $ -           -           -           -           17,889 19,130

Contributions in relation to  the actuarially

   determined contributions 5,500 10,752 15,690 19,500 35,000 29,750
Contribution deficiency/(excess) $ (5,500) (10,752) (15,690) (19,500) (17,111) (10,620)

Covered Payroll 2,744,010 2,638,435 2,358,982 2,124,727 1,598,062 1,616,727

Contribution as percentage of covered payroll 0.20% 0.41% 0.67% 0.92% 2.19% 1.60%

Last Six Fiscal Years

Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Schedules of Changes in the Road Commission

Required Supplemental Information - 

Mason County, Michigan
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2023 2022 2021

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY
Service cost $ 48,289 48,685 46,545
Interest 215,166 210,046 198,963
Benefit payments, including refunds (206,797) (170,293) (158,673)
Other Changes 12,205 21,082 (8,014)
Changes is experience (2,503)     (129,466)  62,077     
Changes is assumptions -          107,016   145,092   

NET CHANGE IN TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 66,360 87,070 285,990

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - BEGINNING OF YEAR 3,047,059 2,959,989 2,673,999

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - END OF YEAR $ 3,113,419 3,047,059 2,959,989

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Contributions - employer $ 100,813 115,775 178,117
Net investment income 222,983 (245,112) 287,959
Benefit payments, including refunds (206,797) (170,293) (158,673)
Administrative expenses (4,745) (4,329) (3,303)

NET CHANGE IN PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 112,254 (303,959) 304,100

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,052,533 2,356,492 2,052,392

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 2,164,787 2,052,533 2,356,492

COUNTY'S NET PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING $ 948,632 994,526 603,497

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION AS A % OF TOTAL 

     PENSION LIABILITY 69.53% 67.36% 79.61%

COVERED PAYROLL $ 420,454 354,363 390,958

NET PENSION LIABILITY AS A %

OF COVERED PAYROLL 225.62% 280.65% 154.36%

Mason County, Michigan
Required Supplemental Information -

Schedule of Changes in the District Library
Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

Last Nine Fiscal Years
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

35,892 37,926 37,025 37,210 36,147 38,799      
187,355 192,431 188,740 181,385 165,524 162,167

(160,039) (155,968) (149,571) (142,681) (128,858) (113,037)
1,718 (4,729) (7,079) (8,068) 6,132 4,697
8,584        (6,789)       (20,239)    27,635     769          -            

73,215      -            -           -           124,925   -            

146,725 62,871 48,876 95,481 204,639 92,626

2,527,274 2,464,403 2,415,527 2,320,046 2,115,407 2,022,781

2,673,999 2,527,274 2,464,403 2,415,527 2,320,046 2,115,407

108,975 66,545 63,212 68,000 51,319 43,584      
235,167 231,708 (71,974) 227,278 184,334 (25,676)

(160,039) (155,968) (149,571) (142,681) (128,858) (113,037)
(3,741) (3,990) (3,622) (3,604) (3,640) (3,775)

180,362 138,295 (161,955) 148,993 103,155 (98,904)

1,872,030 1,733,735 1,895,690 1,746,697 1,643,542 1,742,446

2,052,392 1,872,030 1,733,735 1,895,690 1,746,697 1,643,542

621,607 655,244 730,668 519,837 573,349 471,865    

76.75% 74.07% 70.35% 78.48% 75.29% 77.69%

379,740 288,046 302,109 296,648 296,404 291,721

163.69% 227.48% 241.86% 175.24% 193.43% 161.75%
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2023 2022 2021 2020

Actuarially determined contribution $ 100,813    115,775    128,117    108,975    
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution 100,813    115,775    178,117    108,975    

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (EXCESS) -            -            (50,000)     -            

COVERED PAYROLL $ 420,454    354,363    390,958    379,740    

CONTRIBUTIONS AS A PERCENTAGE OF 

COVERED PAYROLL 23.98% 32.67% 45.56% 28.70%

Notes to Schedule of District Library Contributions
Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:
Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated

as of December 31, two years prior to the end of the fiscal 
year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial cost method Entry age
Amortization method Level percentage of payroll
Remaining amortization period 17 years
Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 4.50%
Investment rate of return 7%
Retirement age 60
Mortality 50% Female/50% Male 2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table
Other information None

Mason County, Michigan
Required Supplemental Information - Schedule of Contributions

Last Ten Fiscal Years
District Library
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

66,545      63,212      68,000      51,319      43,584      42,231      

66,545      63,212      68,000      51,319      43,584      43,325      

-            -            -            -            -            (1,094)       

288,046    302,109    296,648    296,404    291,721    315,674    

23.10% 20.92% 22.92% 17.31% 14.94% 13.72%
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2023 2022 2021
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

Service cost 82,505$       103,931$    98,679      
Interest 210,769 249,302 253,892
Benefit payments, including refunds (258,729) (282,421) (289,834)
Changes of benefit terms -               (165,328)     -            
Changes is experience (65,299)        (469,807)     (145,571)   
Changes is assumptions -               (79,012)       -            

NET CHANGE IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY (30,754) (643,335) (82,834)

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY - BEGINNING OF YEAR 3,600,935 4,244,270 4,327,104

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY - END OF YEAR 3,570,181$  3,600,935$ 4,244,270

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Contributions - employer 258,729$     306,695$    321,844    
Net investment income 606,626 (606,890) 270,257
Benefit payments, including refunds (258,729) (282,421) (289,834)
Administrative expenses (10,899) (9,586) (10,099)

NET CHANGE IN PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 595,727 (592,202) 292,168

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR 5,217,047 5,809,249 5,517,081

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 5,812,774$  5,217,047$ 5,809,249

COUNTY'S NET OPEB (ASSET)/LIABILITY - ENDING (2,242,593)$ (1,616,112)$ (1,564,979)

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION AS A % OF TOTAL 
    OPEB  LIABILITY 162.81% 144.88% 136.87%

COVERED PAYROLL 3,142,634$  3,252,360$ 3,378,613

NET OPEB LIABILITY AS A % OF COVERED PAYROLL -71.36% -49.69% -46.32%

Includes amounts being paid outside of the trust.
Payroll provided separately by the employer.

Schedule of Changes in the County
Net OPEB (Asset)/Liability and Related Ratios

Last Seven Fiscal Years

Mason County, Michigan
Required Supplemental Information - 
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2020 2019 2018 2017

117,413    120,971    93,030      94,462         
254,287    251,759    330,227    329,873       

(278,585)   (368,388)   (349,258)   (340,813)      
-                -                -                -                   

36,446      (5,330)       (704,240)   (73,862)        
(121,165)   -                418,801    -                   

8,396        (988)          (211,440)   9,660           

4,318,708 4,319,696 4,531,136 4,521,476    

4,327,104 4,318,708 4,319,696 4,531,136    

392,144    492,038    559,475    567,946       
381,539    161,677    80,556      405,480       

(278,585)   (368,388)   (349,258)   (340,813)      
(9,615)       (8,728)       (11,051)     (9,837)          

485,483    276,599    279,722    622,776       

5,031,598 4,754,999 4,475,277 3,852,501    

5,517,081 5,031,598 4,754,999 4,475,277    

(1,189,977) (712,890)   (435,303)   55,859         

128% 117% 110% 99%

3,584,731 3,604,856 3,600,087 3,843,786    

-33% -20% -12% 1%

91



Health Benefits:

Actuarial
Accrued UAAL as a

Actuarial Liability Unfunded Percent of
Actuarial Value of (AAL) - AAL Funded Covered Covered
Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) ( c ) ((b-a)/c)
2017 4,475,277$     4,531,136     55,859          1            3,843,786       0.015     
2018 4,754,999$     4,319,696     (435,303)       1            3,600,087       (0.121)   
2019 5,031,598$     4,318,708     (712,890)       1            3,604,856       (0.198)   
2020 5,517,081$     4,327,104     (1,189,977)    1            3,584,731       (0.332)   
2021 5,809,249$     4,244,270     (1,564,979)    1            3,378,613       (0.463)   
2022 5,217,047$     3,600,935     (1,616,112)    1            3,252,360       (0.497)   
2023 5,812,774$     3,570,181     (2,242,593)    2            3,142,634       (0.714)   

Payroll provided separately by the employer.

Mason County, Michigan
 Required Supplemental Information

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
 Schedule of the Net OPEB Liability Multiyear
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Actuarially determined contribution -$               24,274$   32,010     113,559   123,650   210,217   202,133    

Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 258,729$    306,695$ 321,844   392,144   492,038   559,475   567,946    

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (EXCESS) (258,729)$  (282,421)$ (289,834)  (278,585)  (368,388)  (349,258)  (365,813)   

COVERED PAYROLL 3,142,634$ 3,252,360 3,378,613 3,584,731 3,604,856 3,600,087 3,843,786  

CONTRIBUTIONS AS A PERCENTAGE OF 

COVERED PAYROLL 8.23% 9.43% 9.53% 10.94% 13.65% 15.54% 14.78%

Notes to Schedule of Contributions

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll

Remaining amortization period 11 years closed

Asset valuation method Market Value of Assets

Inflation 2.50%

Wage inflation 3.00%

Salary increases 3.00% to 9.70% including wage inflation

Investment rate of return 6.00% net of OPEB plan investment expense

Retirement age Experience based table of rates that are specific to the type 

of eligibility condition

Mortality The RP-2014 Mortality Combined Healthy Tables

Projected 20 years with U.S. Projection Scale BB

Health Care Trend Rates Initial trend of 8.25% and gradually decreasing

to an ultimate trend of 3.50% in year 10

Excise Tax No load was applied in connection with the "Cadillac" tax

Aging factors Based on the  2013 SOA Study "Health Care Costs - From Birth to Death"

from National Health Care Consultant groups and

Other information There were no new benefit changes reported during this year.

Mason County, Michigan 

Required Supplemental Information - 

Schedule of Contributions

Last Seven Fiscal Years

OPEB
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GENERAL FUND

The General Fund is used to account for resources traditionally associated with local government, 

and any other activity for which a special fund has not been created.  



ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 399,408.15
Investments - net 10,930,298.40
Accounts receivable 11,504.81
Interest receivable 73,073.99
Prepaid items 89,218.09
Advances to other funds 1,675,546.13
Due from other units 38,938.97
Due from federal and

state governments 297,301.73

TOTAL ASSETS $ 13,515,290.27

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 516,756.57
Unearned revenue 24,090.00
Due to other funds 2,000.00
Due to individuals 18,794.26
Due to federal and state governments 136,446.35
Accrued liabilities 76,280.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 774,367.18

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable 1,764,764.22
Committed 4,812,971.75
Assigned 733,815.27
Unassigned 5,429,371.85

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 12,740,923.09

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE $ 13,515,290.27

Mason County, Michigan
Balance Sheet
General Fund

December 31, 2023
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REVENUES
General property taxes $ 13,044,994.41
Permits and regulatory licenses 85,585.00
Intergovernmental
  Federal 574,642.18
  State 1,734,182.34
Charges for services 747,384.46
Interest and rents 1,002,730.78
Unrealized loss on investments 0.00
Fines and forfeitures 2,275.00
Miscellaneous 426,933.63

TOTAL REVENUES 17,618,727.80

EXPENDITURES
Legislative 475,789.04
Judicial 2,012,269.93
General government administration 3,713,351.57
Public safety 928,977.89
Public works 32,097.46
Health and social services 708,369.49
Recreation and cultural 9,493.62
Other 45,546.80

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 7,925,895.80

EXCESS OF REVENUES

OVER EXPENDITURES 9,692,832.00

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out (12,915,106.00)

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (3,222,274.00)

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 15,965,197.09

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT (2,000.00)

FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 $ 12,740,923.09

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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VARIANCE
ORIGINAL AMENDED FAVORABLE
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

REVENUES
District Court                                            $$ 153,500.00 207,525.00 209,976.72 2,451.72
Friend of the Court 43,525.00 44,975.00 45,384.99 409.99
Probate Court 18,500.00 15,575.00 15,744.46 169.46
Juvenile Court 28,275.00 27,400.00 27,436.64 36.64
Family counseling service 2,700.00 2,650.00 2,700.00 50.00
Equalization Department 19,250.00 16,525.00 20,336.75 3,811.75
Prosecutor 11,525.00 5,325.00 5,217.22 (107.78)
County Clerk 74,550.00 89,225.00 90,948.36 1,723.36
Register of Deeds 330,525.00 343,675.00 353,485.45 9,810.45
Property tax collections 11,592,800.00 11,799,000.00 11,800,080.95 1,080.95
Personal Property Tax Reimburse. 411,000.00 998,475.00 998,495.91 20.91
Delinquent personal tax 2,300.00 1,975.00 1,974.78 (0.22)
Other taxes 71,725.00 103,550.00 108,905.77 5,355.77
Payment in lieu of tax 127,625.00 135,525.00 135,537.00 12.00
Other federal grants 0.00 153,150.00 153,165.45 15.45
Probate Judge supplement 121,225.00 135,150.00 135,761.97 611.97
Judicial salary standardization 137,150.00 137,150.00 137,172.00 22.00
Court financing reimbursements 119,675.00 130,100.00 130,112.00 12.00
Emergency management 22,500.00 22,350.00 22,358.00 8.00
Veterans' Affairs Grant 58,575.00 55,350.00 50,827.84 (4,522.16)
State Revenue Sharing 585,200.00 596,275.00 596,289.54 14.54
County Incentive Program 125,775.00 125,775.00 125,780.59 5.59
Medical Marijuana Oversight Grant 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
911 Center 158,625.00 158,725.00 164,904.00 6,179.00
Drunk driving case flow 4,475.00 4,225.00 4,230.77 5.77
C.R.P. reimbursement 384,300.00 357,800.00 365,022.73 7,222.73
Victims' rights 43,175.00 42,350.00 49,935.79 7,585.79
Convention facility tax 155,475.00 201,375.00 224,254.24 22,879.24
Township liquor license 17,325.00 18,375.00 18,377.15 2.15
State survey/remonumentation 36,300.00 36,300.00 40,342.00 4,042.00
Drug case information management 600.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Investment income 103,000.00 260,625.00 968,137.48 707,512.48
Rents and leases 34,000.00 34,575.00 34,593.30 18.30
Reimbursements - refunds 301,925.00 363,050.00 380,797.13 17,747.13
Friend of the Court -

incentive programs 30,300.00 34,100.00 34,096.00 (4.00)
Other Treasurer's fees 7,750.00 6,250.00 6,408.75 158.75
Sale of capital assets 9,600.00 32,925.00 32,935.00 10.00
Drain Commissioner 46,000.00 41,025.00 41,026.57 1.57
Animal control 64,000.00 63,875.00 65,907.00 2,032.00
Zoning department 17,950.00 19,675.00 20,067.50 392.50

TOTAL REVENUES $ 15,472,700.00 16,821,950.00 17,618,727.80 796,777.80

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Revenues - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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VARIANCE
ORIGINAL AMENDED FAVORABLE
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

EXPENDITURES
Animal control $ 230,125.00 231,300.00 222,359.07 8,940.93
Audit 28,300.00 28,300.00 27,509.65 790.35
Board of Commissioners 148,000.00 130,000.00 125,649.44 4,350.56
Circuit Court 572,175.00 538,175.00 521,304.36 16,870.64
Contingency 85,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
County Administrator 373,800.00 351,800.00 339,266.92 12,533.08
County maintenance 167,625.00 142,625.00 134,447.92 8,177.08
Copy machine 19,700.00 11,700.00 10,662.23 1,037.77
County Clerk's Office 696,250.00 639,250.00 622,656.71 16,593.29
County Plat Board 300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Courthouse maintenance 152,300.00 157,300.00 133,740.93 23,559.07
Courthouse security 271,600.00 248,600.00 235,311.23 13,288.77
Department of  Public Works 35,075.00 32,575.00 30,543.84 2,031.16
District Court 771,075.00 756,075.00 734,673.82 21,401.18
District Health Dept. #10 186,519.00 186,519.00 186,519.00 0.00
Department of Corrections 8,025.00 5,525.00 4,172.51 1,352.49
Drain Commissioner 376,175.00 366,175.00 353,855.38 12,319.62
Drains at large 26,400.00 4,400.00 1,553.62 2,846.38
Emergency planning 156,050.00 116,950.00 110,086.19 6,863.81
Employee benefits 122,950.00 183,850.00 120,300.77 63,549.23
Extension office 111,000.00 111,000.00 110,685.20 314.80
Election and Board of Canvassers 87,600.00 47,600.00 42,316.44 5,283.56
Equalization Department 478,775.00 481,775.00 461,634.84 20,140.16
Fairgrounds 7,000.00 9,175.00 9,133.08 41.92
Family counseling service 4,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00
Health Department 79,600.00 73,600.00 65,471.13 8,128.87
Household hazardous waste prog. 7,000.00 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00
Jail annex maintenance 31,425.00 24,425.00 21,771.77 2,653.23
Jury Commission 16,200.00 16,200.00 15,358.98 841.02
Juvenile Court 97,850.00 103,000.00 92,468.10 10,531.90
Mason - Lake soil conservation 19,000.00 19,000.00 19,000.00 0.00
Mason - Oceana 911 158,625.00 158,750.00 158,762.00 (12.00)
Medical Examiner 151,000.00 151,000.00 138,491.48 12,508.52
Mental Health Authority 139,750.00 139,250.00 139,250.00 0.00
Michigan Association of Counties 10,875.00 10,875.00 10,872.68 2.32
Lakeshore Regional Partners 81,200.00 114,200.00 112,127.12 2,072.88
Parks and recreation 4,000.00 925.00 360.54 564.46
Planning commission and zoning 242,600.00 212,575.00 194,615.40 17,959.60
Probate Court 695,000.00 669,300.00 644,292.16 25,007.84
Prosecutor's Office 914,100.00 884,100.00 861,361.01 22,738.99

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Expenditures - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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VARIANCE
ORIGINAL AMENDED FAVORABLE
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

EXPENDITURES - Concluded
Regional planning $ 7,650.00 7,850.00 7,844.00 6.00
Register of Deeds 335,825.00 332,925.00 324,280.46 8,644.54
Remonumentation 36,300.00 42,700.00 43,062.73 (362.73)
Scottville office maintenance 29,150.00 25,650.00 23,662.39 1,987.61
Tax allocation boards 1,400.00 1,175.00 1,136.77 38.23
Treasurer's Office 459,625.00 452,525.00 439,813.17 12,711.83
United Way 211 service 2,000.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00
Veterans' Affairs Grant 59,500.00 57,000.00 57,910.76 (910.76)
Veterans' burial 21,100.00 13,100.00 6,600.00 6,500.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $ 8,716,594.00 8,301,794.00 7,925,895.80 375,898.20

General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Mason County, Michigan
Statement of Expenditures - Budget and Actual
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SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

A Special Revenue Fund is used to finance particular activities and is created out of receipts of 

specific taxes or other earmarked revenues.  Such funds are authorized by statutory provisions to 

pay for certain activities with some special form of continuing revenues.

Special Revenue Funds in Mason County are the Road Patrol, Senior Citizens, Friend of the Court, 

Solid Waste Management Plan, Brownfield Redevelopment Authority/Economic Development, 

Building Department, Courthouse Preservation, Register of Deeds Automation, Indigent Defense, 

Community Corrections, DARE Program, Victims’ Assistance, Drug Law Enforcement, Jail 

Operations, County Law Library, Community Development Block Grant, Emergency Management 

Grant, Justice Training, Social Welfare, Child Care, Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Relief, Building 

Authority Operations, Junk Ordinance Administration, Landfill Perpetual Care, Principle 

Residence Exemption, Corrections Officers Training,  and Concealed Pistol Licensing.



JUNK
ROAD SENIOR FRIEND OF THE ORDINANCE

PATROL CITIZENS COURT ADMINISTRATION

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,488.65 48,567.69 326,057.76 71,099.71
Investments - net 720,881.82 533,756.48 0.00 0.00
Taxes receivable 695,624.60 690,755.30 0.00 0.00
Accounts receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest receivable 918.56 1,594.92 0.00 0.00
Due from other units 9,168.52 0.00 0.00 0.00
Prepaid items 31,107.90 1,090.50 3,415.69 1,022.00
Due from other funds 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from federal 800.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from state 68,764.36 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,536,754.41 1,275,764.89 329,473.45 72,121.71

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 43,929.06 9,070.28 2,210.19 0.00
Due to individuals 0.00 0.00 162.05 0.00
Accrued liabilities 42,267.36 229.50 5,270.31 0.00
Due to other units 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due to other funds 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due to state 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 86,196.42 9,299.78 7,642.55 0.00

DEFERRED INFLOWS 695,624.60 690,755.30 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable for prepaid items 31,107.90 1,090.50 3,415.69 1,022.00
Restricted 723,825.49 574,619.31 0.00 56,099.71
Committed 0.00 0.00 318,415.21 15,000.00

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 754,933.39 575,709.81 321,830.90 72,121.71

TOTAL LIABILITIES,

DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE $ 1,536,754.41 1,275,764.89 329,473.45 72,121.71

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Balance Sheet

Special Revenue Funds
December 31, 2023
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BROWNFIELD
REDEVELOPMENT

LANDFILL SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY/
PERPETUAL MANAGEMENT ECONOMIC BUILDING

CARE PLAN DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

173,366.96 26,561.56 124,487.60 677,299.61
2,424,134.66 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

12,040.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 2,135.75
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

2,609,541.62 26,561.56 124,487.60 679,435.36

16,848.80 0.00 8,083.14 136,117.25
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 1,105.27
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

16,848.80 0.00 8,083.14 137,222.52

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 2,135.75
104,365.21 0.00 116,404.46 540,077.09

2,488,327.61 26,561.56 0.00 0.00

2,592,692.82 26,561.56 116,404.46 542,212.84

2,609,541.62 26,561.56 124,487.60 679,435.36
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PRINCIPAL REGISTER
COURTHOUSE RESIDENCE OF DEEDS COMMUNITY

PRESERVATION EXEMPTION AUTOMATION CORRECTIONS

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 184,866.67 65,283.43 50,169.68 4,349.51
Investments - net 217,536.93 0.00 0.00 0.00
Taxes receivable 0.00 24,567.26 0.00 0.00
Accounts receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest receivable 1,694.08 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from other units 0.00 8,583.34 0.00 0.00
Prepaid items 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from other funds 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from federal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from state 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS $ 404,097.68 98,434.03 50,169.68 4,349.51

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 0.00 466.43 0.00 0.00
Due to individuals 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Accrued expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due to other units 0.00 74,350.65 0.00 0.00
Due to other funds 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due to state 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00 74,817.08 0.00 0.00

DEFERRED INFLOWS 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable for prepaid items 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Restricted 404,097.68 0.00 50,169.68 0.00
Committed 0.00 23,616.95 0.00 4,349.51

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 404,097.68 23,616.95 50,169.68 4,349.51

TOTAL LIABILITIES,

DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE $ 404,097.68 98,434.03 50,169.68 4,349.51

Combining Balance Sheet
Special Revenue Funds

December 31, 2023

Mason County, Michigan
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CONCEALED CORRECTIONS
INDIGENT PISTOL OFFICERS DRUG LAW
DEFENSE LICENSING TRAINING ENFORCEMENT

517,302.19 92,853.73 21,619.42 6,935.49
46,312.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 576.00 130.00 0.00

563,614.19 93,429.73 21,749.42 6,935.49

57,229.05 2,142.00 434.30 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 63.13 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

475,830.27 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

533,059.32 2,205.13 434.30 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30,554.87 91,224.60 21,315.12 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 6,935.49

30,554.87 91,224.60 21,315.12 6,935.49

$ 563,614.19 93,429.73 21,749.42 6,935.49
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JAIL COUNTY LAW DARE
OPERATIONS LIBRARY PROGRAM

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 74,361.51 93,421.98 1,395.93
Investments - net 1,621,094.33 0.00 0.00
Taxes receivable 1,344,874.40 0.00 0.00
Accounts receivable 6,377.41 0.00 0.00
Interest receivable 5,809.04 0.00 0.00
Due from other units 0.00 0.00 0.00
Prepaid items 33,242.10 0.00 0.00
Due from other funds 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from federal 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from state 1,214.50 0.00 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS $ 3,086,973.29 93,421.98 1,395.93

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 78,349.28 316.05 0.00
Due to individuals 50,535.65 0.00 0.00
Accrued expenses 30,837.27 0.00 0.00
Due to other units 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due to other funds 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due to state 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 159,722.20 316.05 0.00

DEFERRED INFLOWS 1,344,874.40 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable for prepaid items 33,242.10 0.00 0.00
Restricted 1,549,134.59 0.00 0.00
Committed 0.00 93,105.93 1,395.93

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 1,582,376.69 93,105.93 1,395.93

TOTAL LIABILITIES,

DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE $ 3,086,973.29 93,421.98 1,395.93

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Balance Sheet

Special Revenue Funds
December 31, 2023
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COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT EMERGENCY

BLOCK MANAGEMENT OPIOID JUSTICE
GRANT GRANT SETTLEMENT TRAINING

3,998,057.01 23,902.97 130,738.21 14,472.97
1,313,604.41 26,323.25 86,226.92 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 8,409.71 0.00 0.00

3,099.91 0.00 851.50 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

5,314,761.33 58,635.93 217,816.63 14,472.97

0.00 3,437.26 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 3,437.26 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 55,198.67 217,816.63 14,472.97

5,314,761.33 0.00 0.00 0.00

5,314,761.33 55,198.67 217,816.63 14,472.97

5,314,761.33 58,635.93 217,816.63 14,472.97
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SOCIAL CHILD
WELFARE CARE

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 54,849.94 819,202.05
Investments - net 0.00 0.00
Taxes receivable 0.00 0.00
Accounts receivable 0.00 0.00
Interest receivable 0.00 0.00
Due from other units 0.00 0.00
Prepaid items 0.00 1,577.22
Due from other funds 0.00 0.00
Due from federal 0.00 0.00
Due from state 0.00 189,276.09

TOTAL ASSETS $ 54,849.94 1,010,055.36

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 0.00 39,327.23
Due to individuals 0.00 0.00
Accrued expenses 0.00 4,324.09
Due to other units 0.00 0.00
Due to other funds 0.00 0.00
Deferred revenue 0.00 0.00
Due to the state 0.00 9,774.01

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00 53,425.33

DEFERRED INFLOWS 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable for prepaid items 0.00 1,577.22
Restricted 0.00 0.00
Committed 54,849.94 955,052.81

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 54,849.94 956,630.03

TOTAL LIABILITIES,

DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE $ 54,849.94 1,010,055.36

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Balance Sheet

Special Revenue Funds
December 31, 2023
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SOLDIERS' BUILDING 
AND SAILORS' AUTHORITY

RELIEF OPERATIONS TOTAL

18,593.35 149,938.15 7,779,243.73
20,959.79 0.00 7,010,830.59
6,956.20 0.00 2,762,777.76

0.00 0.00 14,787.12
0.00 0.00 26,008.01
0.00 0.00 17,751.86
0.00 165.01 73,756.17
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 800.00
0.00 10,332.80 270,293.75

46,509.34 160,435.96 17,956,248.99

0.00 1,217.12 399,177.44
0.00 0.00 50,697.70
0.00 0.00 84,096.93
0.00 0.00 74,350.65
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 475,830.27
0.00 0.00 9,774.01

0.00 1,217.12 1,093,927.00

6,956.20 0.00 2,738,210.50

0.00 165.01 73,756.17
39,553.14 0.00 4,588,929.22

0.00 159,053.83 9,461,426.10

39,553.14 159,218.84 14,124,111.49

46,509.34 160,435.96 17,956,248.99

106



ROAD SENIOR FRIEND OF THE
PATROL CITIZENS COURT

REVENUES
Taxes $ 681,612.46 717,658.13 0.00
Federal grants 0.00 0.00 0.00
State grants 108,390.95 0.00 0.00
Charges for services 247,426.30 0.00 8,955.46
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments 12,598.10 11,570.29 (773.95)
Interest and rents 38,229.33 23,483.65 0.00
Fines and forfeits 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other 23,503.78 0.00 0.00

TOTAL REVENUES 1,111,760.92 752,712.07 8,181.51

EXPENDITURES
General government 0.00 0.00 0.00
Public safety 3,140,135.82 0.00 0.00
Health and welfare 0.00 600,334.72 0.00
Judicial 0.00 0.00 523,873.90
Landfill perpetual care 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 3,140,135.82 600,334.72 523,873.90

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF 

REVENUES OVER

EXPENDITURES (2,028,374.90) 152,377.35 (515,692.39)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 2,265,075.00 0.00 587,000.00
Transfers out (337,600.00) 0.00 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) 1,927,475.00 0.00 587,000.00

CHANGE IN

FUND BALANCE (100,899.90) 152,377.35 71,307.61

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 855,833.29 423,332.46 250,523.29

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 0.00 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE,  DECEMBER 31 $ 754,933.39 575,709.81 321,830.90

Mason County, Michigan 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

And Changes in Fund Balance
Special Revenue Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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BROWNFIELD
REDEVELOPMENT

JUNK LANDFILL SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY/
ORDINANCE PERPETUAL MANAGEMENT ECONOMIC BUILDING

ADMINISTRATION CARE PLAN DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

0.00 0.00 0.00 129,412.50 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

6,712.89 0.00 0.00 548.71 567,020.15
0.00 44,224.57 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 68,345.32 0.00 0.00 83.99

75.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
667.00 14,097.77 0.00 0.00 0.00

7,454.89 126,667.66 0.00 129,961.21 567,104.14

0.00 0.00 0.00 428,894.96 492,708.12
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

14,806.99 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 91,610.67 0.00 0.00 0.00

14,806.99 91,610.67 0.00 428,894.96 492,708.12

(7,352.10) 35,056.99 0.00 (298,933.75) 74,396.02

15,200.00 40,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

15,200.00 40,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

7,847.90 75,056.99 0.00 (298,933.75) 74,396.02

64,273.81 2,517,635.83 26,561.56 415,338.21 467,816.82

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

72,121.71 2,592,692.82 26,561.56 116,404.46 542,212.84
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PRINCIPAL REGISTER
COURTHOUSE RESIDENCE OF DEEDS COMMUNITY

PRESERVATION EXEMPTION AUTOMATION CORRECTIONS

REVENUES
Taxes $ 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Federal grants 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
State grants 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Charges for services 0.00 0.00 30,980.00 0.00
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments 2,960.49 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest and rents 13,007.00 0.00 1,837.35 0.00
Fines and forfeits 14,467.15 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL REVENUES 30,434.64 0.00 32,817.35 0.00

EXPENDITURES
General government 0.00 839.76 22,574.00 0.00
Public safety 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Health and welfare 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Judicial 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Landfill perpetual care 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 0.00 839.76 22,574.00 0.00

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF 

REVENUES OVER

EXPENDITURES 30,434.64 (839.76) 10,243.35 0.00

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfers out 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CHANGE IN

FUND BALANCE 30,434.64 (839.76) 10,243.35 0.00

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 373,663.04 24,456.71 39,926.33 4,349.51

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE,  DECEMBER 31 $ 404,097.68 23,616.95 50,169.68 4,349.51

Mason County, Michigan 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

And Changes in Fund Balance
Special Revenue Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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CONCEALED CORRECTIONS
INDIGENT PISTOL OFFICERS DRUG LAW
DEFENSE LICENSING TRAINING ENFORCEMENT

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

432,026.06 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 20,698.00 6,173.00 0.00

1,476.50 0.00 0.00 0.00
15,555.15 4,485.91 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4,289.33 864.18 0.00 0.00

453,347.04 26,048.09 6,173.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 11,538.35 6,573.15 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

723,354.27 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

723,354.27 11,538.35 6,573.15 0.00

(270,007.23) 14,509.74 (400.15) 0.00

248,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

248,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

(21,507.23) 14,509.74 (400.15) 0.00

52,062.10 76,714.86 21,715.27 6,935.49

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

30,554.87 91,224.60 21,315.12 6,935.49
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JAIL COUNTY LAW DARE
OPERATIONS LIBRARY PROGRAM

REVENUES
Taxes $ 1,317,814.66 0.00 0.00
Federal grants 0.00 0.00 0.00
State grants 0.00 0.00 0.00
Charges for services 145,973.88 0.00 0.00
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments 7,820.70 0.00 0.00
Interest and rents 57,150.41 0.00 0.00
Fines and forfeits 0.00 3,500.00 0.00
Other 5,315.37 0.00 0.00

TOTAL REVENUES 1,534,075.02 3,500.00 0.00

EXPENDITURES
General government 0.00 0.00 0.00
Public safety 3,379,917.34 2,923.48 0.00
Health and welfare 0.00 0.00 0.00
Judicial 0.00 0.00 0.00
Landfill perpetual care 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 3,379,917.34 2,923.48 0.00

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF 

REVENUES OVER

EXPENDITURES (1,845,842.32) 576.52 0.00

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 2,019,000.00 10,000.00 0.00
Transfers out (151,250.00) 0.00 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) 1,867,750.00 10,000.00 0.00

CHANGE IN

FUND BALANCE 21,907.68 10,576.52 0.00

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 1,560,469.01 82,529.41 1,395.93

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 0.00 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE,  DECEMBER 31 $ 1,582,376.69 93,105.93 1,395.93

Mason County, Michigan 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

And Changes in Fund Balance
Special Revenue Funds
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COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT EMERGENCY

BLOCK MANAGEMENT OPIOID JUSTICE
GRANT GRANT SETTLEMENT TRAINING

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 8,867.20 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 8,448.48
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

(40,367.24) 0.00 796.21 0.00
6,542.77 2,333.01 8,132.03 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
79,222.60 0.00 208,888.39 0.00

45,398.13 11,200.21 217,816.63 8,448.48

68,023.69 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 9,010.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

68,023.69 9,010.00 0.00 0.00

(22,625.56) 2,190.21 217,816.63 8,448.48

5,250,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

5,250,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

5,227,374.44 2,190.21 217,816.63 8,448.48

87,386.89 53,008.46 0.00 6,024.49

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

5,314,761.33 55,198.67 217,816.63 14,472.97
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SOCIAL CHILD
WELFARE CARE

REVENUES
Taxes $ 0.00 0.00
Federal grants 0.00 0.00
State grants 0.00 381,534.78
Charges for services 0.00 67,575.02
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments 0.00 0.00
Interest and rents 0.00 0.00
Fines and forfeits 0.00 0.00
Other 1,125.23 0.00

TOTAL REVENUES 1,125.23 449,109.80

EXPENDITURES
General government 0.00 0.00
Public safety 0.00 0.00
Health and welfare 15,188.56 821,945.02
Judicial 0.00 0.00
Landfill perpetual care 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 15,188.56 821,945.02

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF 

REVENUES OVER

EXPENDITURES (14,063.33) (372,835.22)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 15,000.00 401,075.00
Transfers out 0.00 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) 15,000.00 401,075.00

CHANGE IN

FUND BALANCE 936.67 28,239.78

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 53,913.27 928,390.25

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 0.00 0.00

FUND BALANCE,  DECEMBER 31 $ 54,849.94 956,630.03

Mason County, Michigan 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

And Changes in Fund Balance
Special Revenue Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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SOLDIERS' BUILDING 
AND SAILORS' AUTHORITY

RELIEF OPERATIONS TOTAL

7,112.67 0.00 2,853,610.42
0.00 0.00 8,867.20
0.00 0.00 930,400.27
0.00 0.00 1,102,063.41
0.00 0.00 40,305.67

1,869.17 50,942.48 291,997.57
0.00 0.00 18,042.15
0.00 0.00 337,973.65

8,981.84 50,942.48 5,583,260.34

0.00 51,730.74 1,064,771.27
0.00 0.00 6,550,098.14

4,922.03 0.00 1,457,197.32
0.00 0.00 1,247,228.17
0.00 0.00 91,610.67

4,922.03 51,730.74 10,410,905.57

4,059.81 (788.26) (4,827,645.23)

0.00 0.00 10,850,850.00
0.00 0.00 (488,850.00)

0.00 0.00 10,362,000.00

4,059.81 (788.26) 5,534,354.77

35,493.33 160,007.10 8,589,756.72

0.00 0.00 0.00

39,553.14 159,218.84 14,124,111.49
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CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Capital Projects Funds are designed to account for the resources expended to acquire assets of a 

relatively permanent nature.  (Enterprise Fund resources are not included in this category).  These 

funds satisfy the special accounting requirements for bond proceeds and projects utilizing more 

than one funding source.

Capital Projects Funds provide a formal mechanism which enables administrators to ensure that 

revenues dedicated to certain purposes are used only for those purposes and further enables 

them to report to creditors, and other grantors of Capital Projects Fund revenue, that their 

requirements regarding the use of the revenue were fully satisfied.

In this category, Mason County administers the transactions of the Equipment Replacement Fund, 

Building Authority – Jail Construction Fund, and Public Improvement Fund.



BUILDING

AUTHORITY
EQUIPMENT JAIL PUBLIC

REPLACEMENT CONSTRUCTION IMPROVEMENT TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 595,791.34 176,721.13 1,185,361.14 1,957,873.61
Investments 3,438,796.83 363,186.33 8,579,667.48 12,381,650.64
Interest receivable 20,663.45 971.21 58,321.13 79,955.79

TOTAL ASSETS $ 4,055,251.62 540,878.67 9,823,349.75 14,419,480.04

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 7,025.00 0.00 0.00 7,025.00
Unearned revenue 23,757.52 0.00 0.00 23,757.52

TOTAL LIABILITIES 30,782.52 0.00 0.00 30,782.52

FUND BALANCE
Assigned 4,024,469.10 540,878.67 9,823,349.75 14,388,697.52

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCE $ 4,055,251.62 540,878.67 9,823,349.75 14,419,480.04

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Balance Sheet

Capital Projects Funds
December 31, 2023
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BUILDING

AUTHORITY
EQUIPMENT JAIL PUBLIC

REPLACEMENT CONSTRUCTION IMPROVEMENT TOTAL

REVENUES
    Federal Grant $ 3,838.00 0.00 0.00 3,838.00

Interest 102,058.29 11,526.15 213,866.15 327,450.59
Unrealized gain (loss) 80,147.60 11,173.42 191,391.57 282,712.59
Charges for services 360.00 0.00 0.00 360.00
Other 5,180.10 0.00 0.00 5,180.10

TOTAL REVENUES 191,583.99 22,699.57 405,257.72 619,541.28

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay 604,004.12 0.00 0.00 604,004.12

EXCESS/DEFICIENCY OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (412,420.13) 22,699.57 405,257.72 15,537.16

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Transfers in 759,625.00 59,125.00 902,956.00 1,721,706.00

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 347,204.87 81,824.57 1,308,213.72 1,737,243.16

FUND BALANCE, JANUARY 1 3,677,264.23 459,054.10 8,515,136.03 12,651,454.36

FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 $ 4,024,469.10 540,878.67 9,823,349.75 14,388,697.52

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Balance
Capital Projects Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Internal Service Funds are established to finance and account for services and/or commodities 

furnished by a designated program to other programs within the County.  Since the services and 

commodities are supplied exclusively to programs under the County’s jurisdiction, they are 

distinguishable from those services which are rendered to the public in general and which are 

accounted for in general, special revenue and enterprise funds.

The County’s Computer Network Fund, DPW Revolving Equipment Fund, Self-Insurance Liability 

Fund, Self-Insurance Workers’ Compensation, and Self-Insurance Health Fund are operated as 

Internal Service Funds.



DPW
COMPUTER REVOLVING
NETWORK EQUIPMENT

ASSETS
Cash $ 199,417.55 35,213.35
Investments 0.00 285,011.39
Prepaid items 2,184.56 0.00
Deposits 0.00 0.00
Interest receivable 0.00 2,422.60
Vehicles - net 0.00 8,750.00

TOTAL ASSETS $ 201,602.11 331,397.34

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

LIABILITIES
    Accounts payable $ 582.98 768.65

Accrued liabilities 0.00 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 582.98 768.65

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 0.00 8,750.00
Restricted for employee benefits 0.00 0.00
Unrestricted 201,019.13 321,878.69

TOTAL NET POSITION 201,019.13 330,628.69

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND NET POSITION $ 201,602.11 331,397.34

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Balance Sheet

Internal Service Funds
December 31, 2023
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SELF SELF
SELF INSURANCE INSURANCE

INSURANCE WORKERS HEALTH, LIFE,
LIABILITY COMP AND PENSION TOTAL

101,497.31 24,063.17 482,758.93 842,950.31
1,659,425.80 1,239,417.00 17,335,246.06 20,519,100.25

0.00 0.00 113,095.52 115,280.08
573,954.99 0.00 0.00 573,954.99
10,287.62 6,158.33 274,342.00 293,210.55

0.00 0.00 0.00 8,750.00

2,345,165.72 1,269,638.50 18,205,442.51 22,353,246.18

0.00 0.00 0.00 1,351.63
170,734.00 1,434.00 31,397.45 203,565.45

170,734.00 1,434.00 31,397.45 204,917.08

0.00 0.00 0.00 8,750.00
2,174,431.72 1,268,204.50 18,174,045.06 21,616,681.28

0.00 0.00 0.00 522,897.82

2,174,431.72 1,268,204.50 18,174,045.06 22,148,329.10

2,345,165.72 1,269,638.50 18,205,442.51 22,353,246.18
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DPW
COMPUTER REVOLVING
NETWORK EQUIPMENT

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 113,251.50 0.00
Equipment rental 0.00 12,612.69
Other   2,109.00 160.00

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 115,360.50 12,772.69

OPERATING EXPENSES
Claims and benefits 0.00 0.00
Salaries and benefits 22,343.37 0.00
Contracted services 82,260.59 0.00
Utilities 88.07 0.00
Operating expense 14,293.96 5,787.89
Depreciation 0.00 4,299.98
Repairs and maintenance 865.77 1,172.60

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 119,851.76 11,260.47

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (4,491.26) 1,512.22

NONOPERATING INCOME
Interest 0.00 12,919.68
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 0.00 0.00

     TOTAL NONOPERATING
         INCOME 0.00 12,919.68

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS (4,491.26) 14,431.90

TRANSFERS IN 0.00 0.00

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (4,491.26) 14,431.90

NET POSITION, JANUARY 1 205,510.39 316,196.79

NET POSITION, DECEMBER 31 $ 201,019.13 330,628.69

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
Internal Service Funds

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and

Changes in Net Position
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SELF SELF
SELF INSURANCE INSURANCE

INSURANCE WORKERS HEALTH, LIFE,
LIABILITY COMP AND PENSION TOTAL

0.00 0.00 1,315,506.36 1,428,757.86
0.00 0.00 0.00 12,612.69

55,149.00 0.00 0.00 57,418.00

55,149.00 0.00 1,315,506.36 1,498,788.55

(16,809.99) 6,282.76 1,106,581.37 1,096,054.14
0.00 0.00 0.00 22,343.37

6,753.40 3,766.54 18,550.00 111,330.53
0.00 0.00 0.00 88.07

6,115.40 9.65 0.00 26,206.90
0.00 0.00 0.00 4,299.98

29,542.65 0.00 0.00 31,581.02

25,601.46 10,058.95 1,125,131.37 1,291,904.01

29,547.54 (10,058.95) 190,374.99 206,884.54

83,863.81 27,756.53 807,577.73 932,117.75
0.00 22,617.67 163,747.58 186,365.25

83,863.81 50,374.20 971,325.31 1,118,483.00

113,411.35 40,315.25 1,161,700.30 1,325,367.54

45,000.00 15,400.00 322,000.00 382,400.00

158,411.35 55,715.25 1,483,700.30 1,707,767.54

2,016,020.37 1,212,489.25 16,690,344.76 20,440,561.56

2,174,431.72 1,268,204.50 18,174,045.06 22,148,329.10
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DPW
COMPUTER REVOLVING
NETWORK EQUIPMENT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss) $ (4,491.26) 1,512.22
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation 0.00 4,299.98

(Increase) decrease in current assets
   Interest receivable 0.00 (2,422.60)
   Due from other funds 0.00 0.00
   Prepaid items 7,633.70 0.00
   Deposits 0.00 0.00
Increase (decrease) in current liabilities

Accounts payable (5,609.76) 230.17
Due to other funds 0.00 0.00
Due to individuals 0.00 0.00
Accrued expenses 0.00 0.00

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2,467.32) 3,619.77

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers in 0.00 0.00

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 0.00 0.00

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Increase) decrease in investments 0.00 (61,548.19)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 0.00 0.00
Interest received 0.00 12,919.68

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 0.00 (48,628.51)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,467.32) (45,008.74)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, JANUARY 1 201,884.87 80,222.09

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, DECEMBER 31 $ 199,417.55 35,213.35

Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
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SELF SELF
SELF INSURANCE INSURANCE

INSURANCE WORKERS HEALTH, LIFE,
LIABILITY COMP AND PENSION TOTAL

29,547.54 (10,058.95) 190,374.99 206,884.54

0.00 0.00 0.00 4,299.98

(10,287.62) (2,193.92) (247,172.50) (262,076.64)
725.56 0.00 16,773.97 17,499.53

0.00 0.00 (110,864.60) (103,230.90)
1,537,665.63 0.00 0.00 1,537,665.63

(935.00) (1,339.28) (15,750.00) (23,403.87)
(16,773.97) 0.00 0.00 (16,773.97)

0.00 0.00 (743.64) (743.64)
(12,290.12) (28,317.00) 504.89 (40,102.23)

1,527,652.02 (41,909.15) (166,876.89) 1,320,018.43

45,000.00 15,400.00 322,000.00 382,400.00

45,000.00 15,400.00 322,000.00 382,400.00

(1,659,425.80) (14,161.08) (1,621,498.69) (3,356,633.76)
0.00 22,617.67 163,747.58 186,365.25

83,863.81 27,756.53 807,577.73 932,117.75

(1,575,561.99) 36,213.12 (650,173.38) (2,238,150.76)

(2,909.97) 9,703.97 (495,050.27) (535,732.33)

104,407.28 14,359.20 977,809.20 1,378,682.64

101,497.31 24,063.17 482,758.93 842,950.31
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ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Enterprise Funds are used to account for the acquisition, operation and maintenance of 

governmental facilities and services which are entirely or predominately self-supporting by user 

charges. The significant characteristic of Enterprise Funds is that the accounting system must 

make it possible to show whether the activity is operated at a profit or loss, similar to comparable 

private enterprises.  Thus, the financial statements of Enterprise Funds are self-contained and 

creditors, legislators, or the general public can evaluate the performance of the municipal 

enterprise on the same basis as they can the performance of investor-owned enterprises in the 

same industry.

The County’s Park Operations Fund, Public Works Operations and Maintenance Fund, Airport 

Fund, Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund, Medical Care Facility Fund, and Delinquent Tax 

Foreclosure Fund are operated as Enterprise Funds.



PARK
OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS AIRPORT

ASSETS
Cash $ 318,471.15 468,091.15 514,902.23
Investments 305,599.22 1,162,812.01 1,166,684.85
Taxes receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00
Delinquent taxes receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00
Accounts receivable 0.00 35,929.63 456.63
Lease receivable - current portion 0.00 99,760.00 0.00
Interest receivable 5,517.16 4,589.03 2,462.32
Due from federal 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from state 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due from other units 0.00 39,450.20 0.00
Inventory 0.00 0.00 23,053.23
Prepaid items 0.00 985.95 10,812.84

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 629,587.53 1,811,617.97 1,718,372.10

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Lease receivable 0.00 1,575,786.13 0.00
Capital assets - net 294,354.07 557,709.91 1,743,182.52

TOTAL NONCURRENT ASSETS 294,354.07 2,133,496.04 1,743,182.52

TOTAL ASSETS 923,941.60 3,945,114.01 3,461,554.62

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Outflows (Pension and OPEB) 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED 
OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 923,941.60        3,945,114.01          3,461,554.62       

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND NET POSITION

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 1,519.14 1,531.05 8,962.21
Accrued expenses 210.00 0.00 1,187.40
Due to individuals 910.00 0.00 200.00
Compensated absences 0.00 0.00 2,106.36
Advances from other funds 0.00 1,675,546.13 0.00
Net pension liability 0.00 0.00 0.00
Due to other units 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,639.14 1,677,077.18 12,455.97

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES
    Deferred inflows (Pension and OPEB) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Unearned revenue 9,284.00 0.00 0.00

     TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS 9,284.00 0.00 0.00

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 294,354.07 557,709.91 1,743,182.52
Unrestricted 617,664.39 1,710,326.92 1,705,916.13

     TOTAL NET POSITION 912,018.46 2,268,036.83 3,449,098.65

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
 AND NET POSITION $ 923,941.60 3,945,114.01 3,461,554.62

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Balance Sheet

Enterprise Funds
December 31, 2023
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DELINQUENT MEDICAL MASON DELINQUENT
TAX CARE COUNTY TAX

REVOLVING FACILITY LAND BANK FORECLOSURE TOTAL

1,293,123.00 3,366,510.12 100,000.00 1,248,772.37 7,309,870.02
4,176,039.41 8,815,010.86 0.00 0.00 15,626,146.35

0.00 2,252,664.60 0.00 0.00 2,252,664.60
965,974.17 0.00 0.00 0.00 965,974.17

3,630.00 101,553.99 0.00 0.00 141,570.25
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 99,760.00

27,778.25 42,357.78 0.00 0.00 82,704.54
0.00 107,570.55 0.00 0.00 107,570.55
0.00 862,473.22 0.00 0.00 862,473.22

17,066.49 0.00 0.00 0.00 56,516.69
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,053.23

2,956.92 0.00 0.00 0.00 14,755.71

6,486,568.24 15,548,141.12 100,000.00 1,248,772.37 27,543,059.33

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,575,786.13
0.00 4,142,709.70 0.00 0.00 6,737,956.20

0.00 4,142,709.70 0.00 0.00 8,313,742.33

6,486,568.24 19,690,850.82 100,000.00 1,248,772.37 35,856,801.66

0.00 2,407,521.00 0.00 0.00 2,407,521.00

6,486,568.24 22,098,371.82  100,000.00       1,248,772.37     38,264,322.66

0.00 336,326.88 0.00 2,882.60 351,221.88
0.00 588,825.57 0.00 0.00 590,222.97

4,429.66 36,841.50 0.00 113,651.93 156,033.09
0.00 307,791.22 0.00 0.00 309,897.58
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,675,546.13
0.00 5,092,384.00 0.00 0.00 5,092,384.00

2,634.92 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,634.92

7,064.58 6,362,169.17 0.00 116,534.53 8,177,940.57

0.00 1,227,943.00 0.00 0.00 1,227,943.00
0.00 2,252,664.60 0.00 0.00 2,261,948.60

0.00 3,480,607.60 0.00 0.00 3,489,891.60

0.00 4,142,709.70 0.00 0.00 6,737,956.20
6,479,503.66 8,112,885.35 100,000.00 1,132,237.84 19,858,534.29

6,479,503.66 12,255,595.05 100,000.00 1,132,237.84 26,596,490.49

6,486,568.24 22,098,371.82 100,000.00 1,248,772.37 38,264,322.66
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PUBLIC WORKS
OPERATION

PARK AND
OPERATIONS MAINTENANCE AIRPORT

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 159,936.00 215,233.12 289,643.41
Rentals 0.00 0.00 41,249.51
Reimbursements 0.00 222,983.08 909.11
Administration fees and penalties 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other 50,602.59 0.00 2,779.56

TOTAL REVENUES 210,538.59 438,216.20 334,581.59

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salary and benefits 75,423.88 0.00 149,282.50
Contracted services 9,560.86 92,949.26 33,093.42
Repairs and maintenance 32,682.65 1,023.75 36,904.18
Utilities and telephone 18,093.68 14,497.44 32,064.46
Depreciation 24,032.54 40,616.51 89,082.96
Other operating expenses 3,193.21 179,613.81 241,990.98

TOTAL EXPENSES 162,986.82 328,700.77 582,418.50

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 47,551.77 109,515.43 (247,836.91)

NONOPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)
Investment interest 23,431.75 52,844.82 25,911.14
Interest and fees 0.00 (58,225.08) 0.00
State and federal Grants 0.00 0.00 4,500.00
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 104.20 14,549.30 30,207.94
Property taxes 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL NONOPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE) 23,535.95 9,169.04 60,619.08

INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS 71,087.72 118,684.47 (187,217.83)

TRANSFERS IN (OUT)
Transfers in 0.00 0.00 349,000.00      

CHANGES IN NET POSITION 71,087.72 118,684.47 161,782.17

NET POSITION, JANUARY 1 840,930.74 2,149,352.36 3,287,316.48

NET POSITION, DECEMBER 31 $ 912,018.46 2,268,036.83 3,449,098.65

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and

Changes in Net Position
Enterprise Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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DELINQUENT MEDICAL MASON DELINQUENT
TAX CARE COUNTY TAX

REVOLVING FACILITY LAND BANK FORECLOSURE TOTAL

245,859.01 12,469,001.10 0.00 340,436.59 13,720,109.23
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 41,249.51

516.76 0.00 0.00 0.00 224,408.95
112,498.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 112,498.98

0.00 59,566.13 0.00 0.00 112,948.28

358,874.75 12,528,567.23 0.00 340,436.59 14,211,214.95

0.00 10,321,551.81 0.00 0.00 10,546,258.19
5,798.50 797,030.71 0.00 51,046.85 989,479.60

0.00 97,139.09 0.00 0.00 167,749.67
0.00 346,327.44 0.00 0.00 410,983.02
0.00 262,622.36 0.00 0.00 416,354.37

4,125.84 2,869,900.72 0.00 42,962.29 3,341,786.85

9,924.34 14,694,572.13 0.00 94,009.14 15,872,611.70

348,950.41 (2,166,004.90) 0.00 246,427.45 (1,661,396.75)

144,958.07 278,301.81 0.00 48,994.65 574,442.24
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (58,225.08)
0.00 291,441.82 0.00 0.00 295,941.82

97,696.46 168,634.40 0.00 0.00 311,192.30
0.00 2,339,782.38 0.00 0.00 2,339,782.38

242,654.53 3,078,160.41 0.00 48,994.65 3,463,133.66

591,604.94 912,155.51 0.00 295,422.10 1,801,736.91

0.00 0.00 100,000.00 0.00 449,000.00

591,604.94 912,155.51 100,000.00 295,422.10 2,250,736.91

5,887,898.72 11,343,439.54 0.00 836,815.74 24,345,753.58

6,479,503.66 12,255,595.05 100,000.00 1,132,237.84 26,596,490.49
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PUBLIC WORKS
PARK OPERATION AND

OPERATIONS MAINTENANCE AIRPORT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss) $ 47,551.77 109,515.43 (247,836.91)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income

(loss) to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

Depreciation 24,032.54 40,616.51 89,082.96
(Increase) decrease in current assets

Accounts receivable 0.00 4,518.62 6.72
Inventory 0.00 0.00 839.99
Taxes receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest receivable (2,356.35) (2,819.13) (2,462.32)
Prepaid items 0.00 733.95 (31.67)
Due from other units 0.00 4,883.46 16,349.58
Deferred outflows 0.00 0.00 0.00

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities
    Deferred inflows 0.00 0.00 0.00
    Due to individuals 50.00 0.00 619.51
    Due to other units 0.00 0.00 0.00
    Due to other funds 0.00 0.00 0.00

Accrued expenses 50.00 0.00 (92.83)
Accounts payable (1,339.23) (59,223.08) 2,288.68
Pension liability 0.00 0.00 0.00
Unearned revenue 88.00 0.00 0.00

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED
IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 68,076.73 98,225.76 (141,236.29)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   Lease receivable 0.00 96,260.00 0.00
   Interest paid 0.00 (58,225.08) 0.00
   Capital purchases (14,500.00) 0.00 0.00

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (14,500.00) 38,034.92 0.00

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers from (to) other funds 0.00 0.00 349,000.00
Advances from other funds 0.00 (96,260.00) 0.00
Operating grants 0.00 0.00 4,500.00
Property taxes 0.00 0.00 0.00

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) 
NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 0.00 (96,260.00) 353,500.00

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Increase) decrease in investments (8,825.07) (340,415.22) (248,875.47)
Unrealized gain on investments 104.20 14,549.30 30,207.94
Interest received 23,431.75 52,844.82 25,911.14

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 14,710.88 (273,021.10) (192,756.39)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 68,287.61 (233,020.42) 19,507.32

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
JANUARY 1 250,183.54 701,111.57 495,394.91

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
DECEMBER 31 $ 318,471.15 468,091.15 514,902.23

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Statement of Cash Flows

Enterprise Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
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DELINQUENT MEDICAL MASON DELINQUENT
TAX CARE COUNTY TAX

REVOLVING FACILITY LAND BANK FORECLOSURE TOTAL

348,950.41 (2,166,004.90) 0.00 246,427.45 (1,661,396.75)

0.00 262,622.36 0.00 0.00 416,354.37

(3,630.00) (9,873.43) 0.00 0.00 (8,978.09)
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 839.99

28,774.12 (154,453.26) 0.00 0.00 (125,679.14)
(14,287.50) (24,313.97) 0.00 0.00 (46,239.27)

177.91 0.00 0.00 0.00 880.19
1,354.00 (244,553.51) 0.00 50.00 (221,916.47)

0.00 1,571,686.00 0.00 0.00 1,571,686.00

0.00 19,964.00 0.00 0.00 19,964.00
3,240.73 (25,163.49) 0.00 56,588.19 35,334.94
1,914.92 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,914.92

0.00 0.00 0.00 (725.56) (725.56)
0.00 48,090.61 0.00 0.00 48,047.78
0.00 199,114.26 0.00 (4,843.80) 135,996.83
0.00 (1,504,429.00) 0.00 0.00 (1,504,429.00)
0.00 (713,441.03) 0.00 0.00 (713,353.03)

366,494.59 (2,740,755.36) 0.00 297,496.28 (2,051,698.29)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 96,260.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (58,225.08)
0.00 (353,203.33) 0.00 0.00 (367,703.33)

0.00 (353,203.33) 0.00 0.00 (329,668.41)

0.00 0.00 100,000.00 0.00 449,000.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (96,260.00)
0.00 291,441.82 0.00 0.00 295,941.82
0.00 2,339,782.38 0.00 0.00 2,339,782.38

0.00 2,631,224.20 100,000.00 0.00 2,988,464.20

294,642.25 (680,799.52) 0.00 0.00 (984,273.03)
97,696.46 168,634.40 0.00 0.00 311,192.30

144,958.07 278,301.81 0.00 48,994.65 574,442.24

537,296.78 (233,863.31) 0.00 48,994.65 (98,638.49)

903,791.37 (696,597.80) 100,000.00 346,490.93 508,459.01

389,331.63 4,063,107.92 0.00 902,281.44 6,801,411.01

1,293,123.00 3,366,510.12 100,000.00 1,248,772.37 7,309,870.02
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Fiduciary Funds are established to administer resources received and held by a governmental 

unit as the trustee or as the agent for others.  Use of these funds facilitates the discharge of 

responsibilities placed upon the governmental unit by virtue of law or other similar authority.

In this category, Mason County administers the transactions of the Trust and Agency Fund, 

Current Tax Collection Fund, Library Penal Fund, Probate Court Trust, and Promise Zone 

Authority Fund.



TRUST CURRENT DISTRICT #10 PROMISE
AND TAX LIBRARY HEALTH ZONE

AGENCY COLLECTIONS PENAL DEPARTMENT AUTHORITY TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash & Cash 
  Equivalents $ 1,032,226.33 422,212.64 45.15 215,619.93 30,390.58 1,700,494.63
Investments 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,095,395.07 1,743,378.43 10,838,773.50
Accounts Receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 421,058.58 421,058.58
Interest Receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00 32,912.91 19,855.08 52,767.99
Due from other funds 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00

    Prepaid Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,492.08 2,492.08

TOTAL ASSETS 1,034,226.33 422,212.64 45.15 9,343,927.91 2,217,174.75 13,017,586.78

LIABILITIES AND

FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Due to State

of Michigan 125,785.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 125,785.01
Accounts payable 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,817.44 6,817.44
Bonds payable 35,399.21 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 35,399.21
Restitution payable 20,796.16 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,796.16
Undistributed taxes 829,693.42 422,212.64 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,251,906.06
Due to other units 1,540.80 0.00 45.15 0.00 0.00 1,585.95
Other current

liabilities 21,011.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 21,011.73

TOTAL

LIABILITIES 1,034,226.33 422,212.64 45.15 0.00 6,817.44 1,463,301.56

NET POSITION
Restricted $ 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,343,927.91 2,210,357.31 11,554,285.22

Mason County, Michigan
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Custodial
December 31, 2023
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SINGLE AUDIT



3505 Coolidge Road, East Lansing, MI 48823
P. 517.351.5508  |  F. 517.351.5468

cshco.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM 
AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM 
GUIDANCE

Board of Commissioners
County of Mason, Michigan
Ludington, Michigan

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
We have audited the County of Mason, Michigan’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the 
County of Mason, Michigan’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2023.  The County 
of Mason, Michigan’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the County of Mason, Michigan complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in the Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements on 
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards 
and the Uniform Guidance are further descried in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the County of Mason, Michigan and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the County 
of Mason, Michigan’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the County 
of Mason, Michigan’s federal programs.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the County of Mason Michigan’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, 
and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if 
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made 
by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the County of Mason, Michigan’s compliance with 
the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

t 1 CLARK SCHAEFER HACKETT 
• • BUSINESS ADVISORS 



131

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the County of Mason, Michigan’s compliance with 
the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances.

 Obtain an understanding of the County of Mason, Michigan’s internal control over compliance 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County of 
Mason, Michigan’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

  Clark, Schaefer, Hackett & Co.
East Lansing, Michigan
June 28, 2024
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FEDERAL/GRANTOR/ ASSISTANCE PASS THROUGH
PASS THROUGH GRANTOR LISTING ENTITY FEDERAL
PROGRAM TITLE NUMBER NUMBER NUMBER EXPENDITURE

U.S. Department of Agriculture
Passed through the Michigan Department of State Natural Resource and Environment
National Forest Royalties 10.665 Public Act 182

of 1990 $           102.80
Forest Service Schools and Roads Cluster:
  Schools and Road - State 10.665 Public Act 182

of 1990   25,008.61

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture    25,111.41

U.S. Department of Justice
Passed through the Michigan Department of State Police

COVID-19: Coronavirus Emergency
Supplemental Funding (CESF) Grant 16.034 CESF-2022-026 8,320.26

Direct
Bulletproof Vest Partnership 16.607 N/A    3,838.00

Total U.S. Department of Justice   12,158.26

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through the Michigan Department of Transportation

Federal Aviation Administration – Airport Improvement
       Program 20.106 NA                                      4,500.00

Passed through the Michigan Department of State Police
Hazardous Materials Emergency Preparedness

Planning Grant Program 20.703 693JK31940022HMEP      1,500.00

Total U.S. Department of Transportation   6,000.00



Mason County, Michigan
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

133

FEDERAL/GRANTOR/ ASSISTANCE PASS THROUGH

PASS THROUGH GRANTOR LISTING ENTITY FEDERAL
PROGRAM TITLE NUMBER NUMBER NUMBER EXPENDITURE

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Passed through the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services

Child Support Enforcement 93.563 CSPA-17-53002 $     30,858.99
CSFOC-17-53001    334,163.74

   365,022.73

Title IV-D Incentive Program 93.563 INCENTIVE      34,096.00

Total      399,118.73

Direct
Health Resources & Services Administrator
    Grant 93.498 NA      58,580.28

American Rescue Plan Rural Payment Grant 93.498 NA 215,108.17

MDHHS Infection Control Grant 93.498 NA      17,753.37

Total      291,441.82

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services    690,560.55

U.S. Department of Treasury
Direct
COVID-19 Local Assistance and
   Tribal Consistency Fund (LATCF) 21.032 LATF-1145 2023        144,845.19

Total U.S. Department of Treasury    144,845.19

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Passed through the Michigan Department of State Police
   Emergency Management Performance
      Grants 97.042 EMC-2023-EP-00003 20,858.00

Homeland Security Grant Program 97.067 N/A      8,867.20

Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security      29,725.20

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 908,400.61
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1.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) includes the federal grant 
activity of Mason County and is presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The information 
in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards, Uniform Guidance. The County has elected not to use the de minimis 10% allocation.
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Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results

Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness identified?      Yes   X  No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
   not considered to be material weakness(es)?      Yes X  None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?      Yes   X  No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness identified?      Yes   X  No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
   not considered to be material weakness(es)?     Yes   X  None reported

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported with
   Title 2 CFR Section 200.516(a)?       Yes   X  No

Identification of major programs:

    ASSISTANCE LISTING NUMBER NAME OF FEDERAL PROGRAM OR CLUSTER

          93.498 COVID 19 Health Resources & Services Administrator Provider Relief Funds

Dollar threshold for distinguish between Type A and Type B Programs? $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?    X  Yes     No

Section II – Findings and Questioned Costs

Findings – Financial Statement Audit: NONE

Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

MAJOR FEDERAL AWARDS PROGRAM AUDIT

NONE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Commissioners

County of Mason, Michigan

Ludington, Michigan

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 

activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major 

fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the County of Mason, Michigan, as of and for the 

year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 

comprise the County of Mason, Michigan’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon 

dated June 28, 2024. Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial 

statements of the Mason County Road Commission as described in our report on the County of Mason, 

Michigan’s financial statements. This report does not include the results of the other auditors’ testing of 

internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on separately 

by those auditors.

Report Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the County of Mason, 

Michigan’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 

financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County of 

Mason, Michigan’s internal control.  Accordingly we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

County of Mason, Michigan’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 

or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 

misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 

internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 

financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant 

deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 

material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not identify any 

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses 

or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

t 1 CLARK SCHAEFER HACKETT 
• • BUSINESS ADVISORS 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County of Mason, Michigan’s financial 

statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 

laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 

material effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 

provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 

results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 

reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 

and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal 

control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards in considering the County’s internal control and compliance.  

Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

  Clark, Schaefer, Hackett & Co.
East Lansing, Michigan
June 28, 2024
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